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 7 

   ALBERTA DYER-TUCKER:  Please stand. 8 

   CHAIRMAN:  This is day two of the Commission 9 

of Inquiry Hearing.  We are sitting for the purpose of 10 

hearing any other applications.  Mr. Hargun is there 11 

anything you want to say? 12 

   MR. HARGUN:  There is only one point, Mr. 13 

Chairman, I want to clarify.  I see in the Royal Gazette 14 

this morning there is a reference to what I had said in 15 

relation to the Magistrate’s Courts Building, and the issue 16 

of the Minister not following the recommendation of the 17 

technical officers.  I said it took the Tribunal in 18 

relation to those matters.  I just want to make it clear, I 19 

actually did not mention the name of the Minister.  In the 20 

Royal Gazette it is said that the relevant Minister was Mr. 21 

Burgess.  In fact, that is not correct.  At the relevant 22 

time the Minister was Mr. Lister. 23 

   CHAIRMAN:  Lister? 24 

   MR. HARGUN:   Lister.  I think that simply 25 
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is an inaccuracy.  Other than that, I don’t have anything 1 

at this stage. 2 

   CHAIRMAN:  Any other applications?   3 

   MR JEROME LYNCH:   Yes.  I think you’re 4 

aware that I represent Dr. Ewart Brown and there is an 5 

extant application that the Subpoena that’s been issued by 6 

the Commission. 7 

   CHAIRMAN:  Before you go on you also told us 8 

I think the night before last that you were also instructed 9 

by Burgess…  10 

   MR LYNCH: I am. 11 

   CHAIRMAN:  Do you make this application 12 

on his behalf as well as Dr Brown? 13 

   MR. LYNCH:  No.  I make this application 14 

entirely on behalf of Dr. Brown. 15 

   CHAIRMAN:   Whilst the duty of the matter in 16 

the case of Dr [sic] Burgess I see that you’re saying that 17 

he was a person who is entitled to be left (indiscernible)  18 

      MR. LYNCH:   I do.  He is entitled to be 19 

here.  We would submit he is, but as I think I made it 20 

plain with the communications I had with the Commission 21 

were if you thought that it was something I ought to make 22 

by way of formal application under the Section then I’m 23 

happy to do so. 24 

   CHAIRMAN:  I’d rather we cover this.  I 25 
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think I was able to indicate to you that we would accept 1 

that Mr. Burgess is a person who is entitled to be 2 

represented as of right.  No application of leave is 3 

necessary and, therefore, we can take it that you are 4 

representing him.  5 

   MR. LYNCH:  I am, not today.   6 

   CHAIRMAN:  You are here today on behalf of 7 

Dr. Brown. 8 

    MR. LYNCH:   Thank you very much, indeed.  I 9 

am grateful for that.   10 

   The application today, as previously 11 

foreshadowed is to set aside the Subpoena and the position 12 

is this.  There are two reasons why we submit it should be 13 

set aside.  One is it loosely characterizes the timing; and 14 

secondly, again, relatively loosely characterized as 15 

prejudiced.   16 

    In order to make good those submissions, 17 

it’s going to be necessary, if you’ll forgive me and 18 

indulge me to this extent to take you sir, and the 19 

Commission a little through the history so that I can 20 

illustrate why it is that we submit both timing and 21 

prejudice are good reasons why it should be set aside.  In 22 

doing that, I don’t know whether you saw the events 23 

schedule that I have prepared that came together with the 24 

original submissions I provided – putting submissions 25 
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rather loosely - in response to the Commission’s letter on 1 

Sunday last.    2 

   What I’ve done is to simply add those 3 

submissions together with the last two letters that were 4 

received and sent. Would it be helpful…  5 

   CHAIRMAN:  We received your submissions and 6 

we’ve received what you call your event schedule. 7 

   MR. LYNCH:   Yes.   8 

   CHAIRMAN:   Certainly, we can regard that as 9 

part of your argument, part of your submission. 10 

   MR LYNCH:  I’d be grateful. 11 

   CHAIRMAN: I make it plain, we don’t begin to  12 

 accept it or necessarily approve of completely.   13 

   MR. LYNCH:  I had tried to include only 14 

matters which I thought was relevant, and I tried to be as 15 

neutral as I can but, of course, that’s a matter for you to 16 

regard it as such.  But it is certainly part of my 17 

submissions and I’d be grateful if you would accept those. 18 

   CHAIRMAN:  I want to make plain at the 19 

outset is that your client, Dr. Brown, has been treated in 20 

the same way as every other witness.  I can say that 21 

without any qualification at all.  And that is, if you 22 

like, a matter which we were careful to ensure sure.   23 

   MR. LYNCH:   I’m gratified to hear that.  Of 24 

course, I have no idea how you’ve treated every other 25 
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witness, but I, of course, take it in stride when you 1 

speak. 2 

   CHAIRMAN:  I’m telling you, we treated Dr. 3 

Brown as a matter of decision exactly the same way as the 4 

other witnesses, notwithstanding the obvious fact that you 5 

(can assume this position 10:04:49) and so on.  We thought 6 

it was right to treat him the same way.  And I would like 7 

to take this opportunity in view of what has appeared in 8 

press reports today that senior civil servants were 9 

represented by Ms. Memari and Liberty Law firm.  Contrary 10 

to what may have been suggested in the press, their 11 

response has been exemplary.  We’ve had enormous assistance 12 

from them.  They’ve worked very hard.  In many cases the 13 

amount of work required from them was as great, if not 14 

greater than Dr. Brown. Combined at this stage saying, 15 

first of all, we are grateful for their assistance and 16 

secondly, we emphasize the point that Dr. Brown has not 17 

been treated in any way differently from them. 18 

   MR. LYNCH:   Well, I take that as an early 19 

salvo from you, sir, as to the submissions that we are 20 

going to be making in the way in which they are to be made 21 

about the timing in particular and sufficient time for him 22 

to prepare.  May I seek to make those submissions now.  23 

          CHAIRMAN:  Of course, you can make your 24 

submissions and I’m not firing a salvo.  I’m just trying to 25 
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get the record straight at the beginning. 1 

    MR LYNCH:  The starting point we would 2 

submit if one cast one’s eye to the events schedule as 3 

prepared.  It is course that you, as the Commission, were 4 

engaged to carry out your Inquiry within 20 weeks of the 5 

24th of February.  Yesterday, you told the public at large 6 

that the Commission began its work in April, and, of 7 

course, I have no idea why that is.  I’m sure there was 8 

pretty good reason but it’s hardly the case that you hit 9 

the ground running, bearing in mind you had only 20 weeks 10 

in which to report.  11 

   In any event, it was not until the 25th of 12 

May and 13th of June that any indication was given to Dr. 13 

Brown that he was a person of any interest at all.  As you 14 

will appreciate from correspondence, it was made clear to 15 

him that he was not being asked at that stage to do 16 

anything other than to simply be on alert, if I could put 17 

it like that.  He wasn’t being required to provide any 18 

evidence or, indeed, to give any at that stage and, indeed, 19 

you then sent on the 27th of June for the first time and 20 

then three days later on the 30th of June you sent a letter 21 

to him which set out that you may be required to give 22 

evidence voluntarily and that he may be contacted by 23 

counsel for the Inquiry and he was asked to respond to that 24 

by a certain date.  He chose not to do that, but neither 25 
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did anyone contact him at all in the ensuing weeks. 1 

   CHAIRMAN:   But, let me just ask you this 2 

question on the basis I’ve already mentioned.  Your client 3 

has been treated in exactly the same way as any other 4 

potential witness.  Therefore, at that stage a letter was 5 

written to all those people saying you may be required.  6 

Are you submitting your client should have been treated 7 

differently at that stage? 8 

   MR. LYNCH:   No.  9 

   CHAIRMAN:   Well, what is your complaint? 10 

   MR. LYNCH:   Sir, you misunderstand.  I’m 11 

not complaining.  I’m making the observation that up until 12 

that point he had no knowledge that he would be required to 13 

give evidence, and that’s the only point I seek to make.  14 

It’s no complaint.   15 

   It is the background to which we say the 16 

timing is an important factor for you, the Commission, to 17 

consider when we make our final submission which is the 18 

Subpoena should be withdrawn.  It is an important factor. 19 

   CHAIRMAN:   I think we must be realistic 20 

about this and since, by definition, since the letter went 21 

to all potential witnesses there are bound to be some who 22 

were likely to be involved than others.  Is it your 23 

submission that up to the end of June your client thought 24 

it possible but no more that his evidence would be 25 
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required? 1 

   MR. LYNCH:  Of course.  The Inquiry has… 2 

   CHAIRMAN:  If that’s your submission --  3 

   MR. LYNCH:  Let me make the position clear.  4 

The position is this, if the Inquiry is mandated to inquire 5 

two things - between 2010 -- I mean, 2009 and 2012.  Most 6 

of that time he was not in Government. The vast majority of 7 

that time he had nothing whatever to do with Government.  8 

Of course, subsequently after that mandate, it wasn’t until 9 

the 27th of June did you, the Commission, make it clear 10 

that you were going to look at a much wider area.    11 

   CHAIRMAN:   Mr. Lynch, I’m sure I heard you 12 

correctly.  Your client was Premier and Minister for half 13 

of that three-year period. 14 

   MR. LYNCH:  No.  He ceased to be the Prime 15 

Minister in 2010.    16 

   CHAIRMAN:   And the period began on the 17 

first of April, 2009. 18 

   MR. LYNCH:   Yes. 19 

   CHAIRMAN:   So, from then until whatever 20 

date it was in 2010 is about eighteen months.    21 

   MR. LYNCH:  Approximately.  Yes. I think you 22 

are right.    23 

   CHAIRMAN:   I will make this comment, if I 24 

may, on the submission you’ve made.  Your client is asking 25 
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us to accept that although he was Premier and Minister for 1 

eighteen months of the three-year period he thought it no 2 

more likely than a possibility that his evidence would be 3 

required. 4 

   MR. LYNCH:   Well, no.  He thought it, of 5 

course, a possibility that his evidence would be required.  6 

Of course, he did.  Let’s not misunderstand each other.  Of 7 

course, he understood there was a real possibility that he 8 

would be required to make a statement.  What he did not 9 

contemplate is that he would be compelled to do so.   10 

   CHAIRMAN:  I gather he thought he had some 11 

exception from the Act which says that witnesses may be 12 

subpoenaed, and that’s a matter for you 13 

   MR. LYNCH:   It’s not just a matter for me.  14 

It’s a matter for the Commission to decide whether it is 15 

appropriate to do so, and that’s why we’re standing here 16 

making a submission now.  Making someone ‘compelled’ as 17 

opposed to asking them is a completely different matter.  18 

You will appreciate that.  Our submission is that, of 19 

course, he was someone who was involved in Government for a 20 

period of the time for which we are concerned, and, of 21 

course, he must have appreciated, and did appreciate, that 22 

he may be required, as indeed you said, in your own 23 

letters.  What he did not contemplate was compellability.  24 

Of course, it exists as a power invested in you but whether 25 
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you choose to exercise it is an entirely different matter.  1 

That’s, as I say, where I stand on his behalf today. 2 

   The position is simple really. 3 

   CHAIRMAN:  Would the situation have been 4 

different at the end of June if your client had realized 5 

that he was compellable?  6 

    MR. LYNCH:  If he had realized that he was 7 

compellable?  But he was always understood he was 8 

compellable.  Whether or not he chose to do is another 9 

matter. 10 

   CHAIRMAN:  I see.  So I just want to be 11 

clear what your submission is.  Your submission is that at 12 

the end of June your client realized that, I think you 13 

said, was likely to be required. 14 

   MR. LYNCH:  No.  I use your word, sir.  May. 15 

   CHAIRMAN:   You say it’s no more than may. 16 

   MR. LYNCH:  Those were the words you used. 17 

   CHAIRMAN:   He failed to realize that we 18 

used it to all witnesses.  That’s the point I’m making.  19 

   MR. LYNCH:  I know but I don’t know that do 20 

I?  He doesn’t know that.   21 

   CHAIRMAN:  Let’s come back to the 22 

compellability.  You’re submitting, saying, that at that 23 

stage he did not realize that he was compellable? 24 

   MR. LYNCH:   No, I didn’t say that.   25 
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   CHAIRMAN:   What did you say? 1 

   MR. LYNCH:   I said, and I’ll make it clear; 2 

of course, he understands the law.  He understood that he 3 

may be compellable, that the power vested with you might be 4 

used.  Of course, it might be used.  But you would expect 5 

to use it traditionally, and you would use it taking into 6 

account all of the factors that are involved to take into 7 

account before exercising that power - a very considerable 8 

power. 9 

   CHAIRMAN:  He realized he was compellable 10 

but – and I’m still unclear – thought that he might be 11 

exempt from that process or thought we would have done it 12 

already if we were going to do it.  I’m not sure what 13 

you’re saying. 14 

   MR. LYNCH:  I don’t know how I can make it 15 

any clearer.  The reality here is, is that you had written 16 

to him saying he may be required to give evidence.  No more 17 

than that.  As a result, he waited to find out on what, in 18 

what circumstances, covering which areas that you were 19 

interested in, all of those things.  It depended -- it was 20 

obviously ultimately (dependent) of what it is you required 21 

of him.  Of course, the power of compellability is there, 22 

one which you have available to you whether you choose to 23 

use it.  Whether you choose to use it, of course, is a 24 

different matter.    25 
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   CHAIRMAN:   I am sorry I am being so slow 1 

and have to take three times but we’re getting there 2 

slowly.  The note I’ve made is that Dr Brown realized that 3 

in June that he was compellable; that he waited at that 4 

stage to hear evidence we would require. 5 

   MR. LYNCH:   Well, what evidence he had.  He 6 

had no real notion of what it is that you wanted from him.  7 

How could he?   8 

   CHAIRMAN:  He had no real notion what 9 

evidence we could require? 10 

   MR. LYNCH:   Correct.  On October 20 -- 11 

October 30 -- on 30th of June.  Forgive me, not on the 30th 12 

of June, until the 25th of July.  So up until the 25th of 13 

July all that he had received –public knowledge of the 14 

existence of the Inquiry, all that he had received were two 15 

letters saying we’re interested, and we are putting you on 16 

notice that we’re interested, and specifically saying 17 

you’re not required at this stage to give any evidence at 18 

all.   19 

            Then on the 30th of June a letter making it 20 

clear that he may be required - no more than may be 21 

required - and that he may be got in touch with by your 22 

counsel on behalf of the Commission.  No more than that.  23 

That is the position as it stood up until the 25th of July. 24 

   So you will appreciate by the 25th of July 25 
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your mandate for dealing with this matter in 20 weeks had 1 

expired.  It had expired. 2 

   CHAIRMAN:   Assuming that it runs from the 3 

24
th
 February, I agree that.  4 

   MR. LYNCH:   Assume it from then. 5 

   CHAIRMAN:    … from the first of April.  6 

   MR. LYNCH:   I don’t want to spend time 7 

interpreting whether or not… 8 

   CHAIRMAN:   I agree.  Let’s record those as 9 

a factor. 10 

   MR. LYNCH:  I’d be perfectly happy to do 11 

that. 12 

   CHAIRMAN:   Are you saying that was a factor 13 

in your client’s thinking at that time? 14 

   MR. LYNCH:   Well, he was entitled to wait 15 

and see; no more than that.  That’s all he was doing and, 16 

in fact, you had not asked him beyond replying to the 17 

letter acknowledging its (existence) to do any more.  He 18 

was entitled, and did wait and see.  The 25th of July you 19 

send a letter asking him to deal with a number of matters.  20 

That letter, as you are aware, he did not receive until the 21 

19th of August. 22 

   CHAIRMAN:   He’s never said that. 23 

   MR. LYNCH:   Well, he said it through me.   24 

   CHAIRMAN:   With respect, what you’ve said, 25 
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the letter… I wasn’t a letter, it was a box of documents 1 

and a large file which were hand delivered to his residence 2 

in Bermuda on the 25th of July.  All that’s just been said 3 

so far is that they were received by a house guest.  4 

   MR. LYNCH:   Well, that’s not -- with the 5 

greatest respect, sir -- entirely correct.  It just so 6 

happens --  7 

   CHAIRMAN:  Please correct me. 8 

   MR. LYNCH:   I have to do so.   9 

   CHAIRMAN:  What else have we been told? 10 

   MR. LYNCH:  You’ve been told that he was 11 

received in the week immediately prior to the 19th of 12 

August.  I think I said in the letter the week of the 15th 13 

of August.  You were told that he was out of the country, 14 

living or staying in a house he owns in the United States,  15 

as was his custom, and has been for many years.  You were 16 

told that the house guest that he had was someone who had 17 

received a letter together with a box of documents at his 18 

address.  That is what we relayed to the Commission as to 19 

the position as it was in August.  We -- I have asked him -20 

- I can tell you now that I have asked him to check his 21 

passport and the like, and if he can demonstrate that he 22 

was not back in this country until the 19th of August, and 23 

I invite you, sir, to accept that he did not see that 24 

material until the 19th of August.   25 
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   CHAIRMAN:   Was he aware that it had 1 

arrived? 2 

   MR. LYNCH:   He was aware that a letter had 3 

arrived and a box of materials. From whom, he was not 4 

aware.   5 

   CHAIRMAN:   I see.  So, Dr. Brown was 6 

informed, you say, that a letter and box had been received 7 

at his Bermuda house? 8 

   MR. LYNCH:  At his Bermuda home; yes. What I 9 

can’t tell you is when he was informed of that.  I don’t 10 

know when.  All I can tell you is that on the instructions 11 

that I have is that when he returned to Bermuda he then 12 

opened that material and upon immediately opening it I 13 

think sent you an email asking for it to be transmitted to 14 

me electronically, which you did.   15 

   CHAIRMAN:   I think I ought to make it plain 16 

that speaking for myself - not for my fellow Commissioners 17 

-  you say you had no instructions from him as to when he 18 

heard the box had arrived but if you’re asking us to infer 19 

that the house guest, whoever that was, told him but did 20 

not tell him straight away.  That is something I find very 21 

difficult to accept. 22 

   MR. LYNCH:   Difficult that may be, I do 23 

like to accept that at this stage there is no evidence to 24 

suggest that he knew precisely what the contents were or 25 
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even if it had come from the Commission. 1 

   CHAIRMAN:   I’m not suggesting that.  A 2 

letter and a box of documents with the name of the 3 

Commission on the outside was acknowledged on his behalf by 4 

someone.  That someone apparently did tell Dr. Brown in 5 

America that that had arrived. 6 

   MR. LYNCH:  When, I don’t know. 7 

   CHAIRMAN:   And if you’re asking us to 8 

accept with (absolutely no grounds for referring it) that 9 

the house guest didn’t treat it as a matter of some 10 

importance and inform him more or less straight away.  You 11 

have no instructions? 12 

   MR. LYNCH:  No, I don’t. 13 

   CHAIRMAN:   We must draw what inference we 14 

think right.  15 

   MR. LYNCH:    Of course you must.  What I am 16 

asking you to do is to be fair to him in not drawing an 17 

adverse inference from that fact, in the absence of having 18 

any evidence to the contrary.  The reality here is this.  I 19 

do invite you to accept he did not see the contents of that 20 

box or indeed, the letter, until the 19th of August.  And 21 

upon seeing so, as you know, contacted you immediately to 22 

advise you that he would want me to see that material.  So 23 

it was sent to me electronically and, as you will 24 

appreciate, as soon as I received the material I contacted, 25 
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having perused it, contacted the Commission on the 25th of 1 

August.  So within days of being sent to me, I think he 2 

sent it to me on the 22nd of August, I contacted you to put 3 

the Commission in the picture, if I put it like that, as to 4 

where we were. 5 

   Where we were, was this.  I made the 6 

position clear, having received this box of material -- 7 

Let’s not be under any illusion, this box of material 8 

contained documents which I have put into both sides of the 9 

paper.  It amounts to about 750 pages of detailed material 10 

which you were asking him to deal with.  It covered in the 11 

letter six separate topics of interest to the Commission.  12 

I have asked a number of, as you would appreciate, pointed 13 

questions about that material.  In a relatively short 14 

discussion I was able to have with Dr. Brown it became 15 

apparent that it was going to take some considerable time 16 

to work through that material.   17 

    Fitting it in, if I can put it like this, 18 

fitting it in with his ordinary business life.  We would 19 

submit that that is something which also needs to be taken 20 

into account.  He is not a civil servant who could, as it 21 

were, be taken out of the equation for a little while, 22 

whilst being remunerated, in order to be able to prepare a 23 

response to the questions that you may have asked. 24 

        You will no doubt treat it as you told us 25 
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in exactly the same way as he was being asked to deal with 1 

a number of individuals being asked to deal with a number 2 

of important issues in the letters that they must have 3 

received.  So his position was, here I am.  I’ve now gotten 4 

the material.  He sent it to me.  I have looked at it.  We 5 

have had a conference over the telephone.  It was clear to 6 

us that it was going to take some considerable time to be 7 

able to respond, and for me, to be frank, to properly 8 

advise him; because until I was reading the material and 9 

what his instructions were, on the material, I wasn’t in a 10 

position to properly advise him.  In any event, you 11 

wouldn’t expect me to do so. 12 

   So I wrote on the 25th of August on his 13 

behalf making a request to be allowed time to consider it.  14 

I put it to you this way.  He was someone who, having been 15 

charged to consider six separate topics; and bear in mind 16 

that he already punched out his particular position as 17 

Premier, he was someone who against that background would 18 

have necessarily needed to look beyond the material that 19 

you sent him.  It’s not simply a question of going through 20 

each document saying I agree with this, or make a comment 21 

on that, he would have had to, and necessarily would have 22 

to, check his own emails, check his own advices that he 23 

might have received, perhaps have discussions with people 24 

that he was either in the office with or had dealings with 25 
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at the time on each of these six separate topics.  It’s not 1 

something, we submit, that could be done in short order.  2 

So we ask -- 3 

   CHAIRMAN:   We can accept that it’s a major 4 

job.  The problem was it was the only beginning at the end 5 

of August, not at the end of July, not at the end of June, 6 

not at the end of May.  That was the real problem. 7 

   MR. LYNCH:  I agree.   The question is, 8 

whose fault it that?  You’re seeking, if I may respectfully 9 

say so, you’re seeking to lay that blame in inferring the 10 

(indiscernible 10:26:01) that you’re likely to do, that he 11 

should have after he got back from America, having been 12 

told the material is here, to look at the material so that 13 

he could respond posthaste.  The reality is that he has a 14 

professional life beyond these shores, and he returned to 15 

the country when he did.  As soon as he saw what the 16 

material was he did what we would submit was the right 17 

thing to do.  It’s against that background that he says, 18 

even by your own account, he was not aware of anything at 19 

the very earliest until the 25th of July, outside the 20 

twenty week remit that you have.   21 

    So before one, as it were, to cast a stone 22 

in his direction about delay, let’s be clear.  And I don’t 23 

(desire) from this, that you the Commission have not 24 

exactly been speedy.  I readily accept that there is a vast 25 
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amount of material.  You, yourself, told the public 1 

yesterday that there was a huge amount of material, a huge 2 

amount of material, with a team of lawyers working for 3 

Conyers on your behalf, as well as your becoming familiar 4 

with the materials yourselves.  He doesn’t have a team of 5 

lawyers; he’s got me.  It takes time.   6 

    We would submit that the request for eight 7 

weeks to deal with six separate topics, the 750 pages of 8 

material that you sent him, let alone the material he needs 9 

to look at himself, was not an unreasonable request.  It 10 

wasn’t an unreasonable request.  The problem, if I may say 11 

so, that we can see from the Commission’s point of view is 12 

that you recognize that you are already out of time, and to 13 

allow him eight weeks until the end of October to prepare 14 

would have put you way beyond this hearing; and so, that 15 

was rejected out of hand.  16 

         CHAIRMAN:  Rejected what? 17 

       MR LYNCH:  His application for an eight-week 18 

period in order to prepare because within a day or two he 19 

immediately received a Subpoena to appear here yesterday.   20 

   CHAIRMAN:   Well, let’s deal with that.  21 

When you say it was rejected out of hand, what was pointed 22 

out was that when your application for adjournment was 23 

written asking for an extension until the 21st of October, 24 

your client was fully aware that the hearing was fixed for 25 
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the 28th of September.  Yet you made no reference to that. 1 

You did not ask for adjournment, you simply asked for an 2 

extension of time as in a situation where you 3 

(indiscernible 10:28:38) wholly inconsistent with the 4 

published timeframe. 5 

   MR. LYNCH:  First of all -- first of all, 6 

when you received my letter on the 25th of August saying 7 

that we needed the eight weeks, we made clear that your 8 

initial letter of the 25th of July required him to respond 9 

by the 25th of August.  So, when you sent me the material 10 

on the 22nd of August, it cannot be supposed that you, the 11 

Commission, really expected him to respond by the 25th of 12 

August, three days.  Whether you accepted his account or 13 

not, it simply was not realistic to expect a response by 14 

the 25th of August.  We asked for that eight-week period 15 

taking into account and viewing it in this way.  If he had 16 

been required to respond to one topic and we had asked for 17 

one week, I venture to suggest that you would have had the 18 

(right intention and allowed it)- for one week to prepare 19 

that one topic.   20 

   We have six topics that we have asked for 21 

because of his position, eight weeks.  That we do not 22 

regard, as I said, as unreasonable.  What happened was, 23 

having made that request on the 25th of August, as you will 24 

see from the schedule, on the 31st he received from you a 25 
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letter refusing an extension of time and issuing a Subpoena 1 

for him to appear.  Now, of course, he respects the law.  2 

Can I say this, that he did not seek, we did not seek, to 3 

adjourn these hearings at all.   4 

    I don’t seek, and never have, that this 5 

process should not continue.  You have published and made 6 

clear that you were prepared to hear the witnesses between 7 

the 28th of September and the 11th of October. 8 

   CHAIRMAN:  We may be reaching common ground 9 

here, as you’ll be surprised to hear.  Your application is 10 

that your client’s interview should be postponed until a 11 

date beyond the present hearing?   12 

   MR. LYNCH:   Yes. 13 

   CHAIRMAN:   But by definition, before the 14 

31st of December. 15 

   MR. LYNCH:   Yes.  16 

   CHAIRMAN:   Is that the application you’re 17 

making? 18 

   MR. LYNCH:   The application is the one I 19 

started with, which was the setting aside of the Subpoena.  20 

But if you are saying that you are minded to consider 21 

granting an extension of the time available to him to be 22 

able to respond in due course, then, of course, that would 23 

be welcome.   24 

   CHAIRMAN:   How long are you suggesting? 25 
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   MR. LYNCH:   Can I make two things clear, 1 

first of all.  Firstly, as I have already set out, there 2 

can be no guarantee that at the end of that process there 3 

will be a statement that will meet your requirements.  I 4 

cannot, and do not, feel able to properly advise him in 5 

respect to each of the separate matters upon which you are 6 

examining.  I cannot do that until I have taken 7 

instructions, at the end of which he may get certain advice 8 

from me about whether he should or should not give evidence 9 

in relation to that matter. 10 

   CHAIRMAN:  Well, I think we have to spell 11 

that out.  If there is a Subpoena and he adheres to it, 12 

then, he is required to answer whatever questions he’s 13 

asked within the scope of the Inquiry.  On what ground do 14 

you say he could refuse to answer those questions?   15 

   MR. LYNCH:   You are aware of his rights as 16 

to privilege and it may be that I would seek to invoke 17 

those rights.   18 

   CHAIRMAN:   I would very much have that in 19 

mind.  I only have one and I won’t specify what it is but I 20 

know of one privilege and I think that’s the one that you 21 

already mentioned. Is there any other privilege which you 22 

would be entitled to claim? 23 

   MR. LYNCH:   As I see the position at the 24 

moment, no.  Of course, (I) might look at other privileges 25 
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that might exist (indiscernible 10:33:00) the Premier and 1 

the Cabinet Ministers, and matters of that kind.  I don’t 2 

see at this stage, because I’m not sufficiently au fait 3 

with what it is that we need to examine as to whether there 4 

will be any claim of privilege in respect to specific 5 

(indiscernible 10:33:15) 6 

   CHAIRMAN:  It is getting a bit technical.  7 

If it is a question of privilege, then the witness ought to 8 

appear in order to claim that privilege.  That’s right, 9 

isn’t it.   10 

   MR. LYNCH:   I entirely agree.  That was why 11 

(he) was here yesterday. 12 

   CHAIRMAN:   Therefore, we’re looking at a 13 

situation… As I say, we may have reached common ground.  If 14 

your client is saying that, with the caveat, that even he 15 

appears as a witness, he may feel entitled on advice, to 16 

claim certain privileges, he, nevertheless, would appear. 17 

When do you say that date should be? 18 

   MR. LYNCH:  I can’t change the submission 19 

that I made back/on the 25th of August which was that we 20 

needed eight weeks.  I would submit that we would need 21 

eight weeks from the end of next week because I am here, as 22 

you appreciate, in respect to a number of other matters 23 

during the course of this Inquiry. 24 

   CHAIRMAN:  I’m not sure I follow that but it 25 
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doesn’t matter. So, you’re asking on the basis he’s now 1 

(had ?) all these documents for one month… 2 

        MR. LYNCH:   Yes.  3 

   CHAIRMAN:  And he asks for eight weeks to go 4 

through them.  What you’re saying is, he can’t do anything, 5 

he can’t be sufficiently prepared to go over until eight 6 

weeks from today? 7 

   MR. LYNCH:  Eight weeks from the end of next 8 

week.   9 

   CHAIRMAN:   Because of your convenience. 10 

   MR. LYNCH:  Well, I can be -- I’m 11 

instructed, --  12 

   CHAIRMAN:   I’m so sorry.  You will be here 13 

on the Inquiry business?  14 

   MR. LYNCH:   Yes.  15 

   CHAIRMAN:   Well, let’s not quibble about 16 

that.  You’re asking for nine weeks from today which takes 17 

us where – to the end of November? 18 

          MR LYNCH:  Yes.  19 

          CHAIRMAN:  Well, the position might be this.  20 

The tribunal is going to go ahead with this Inquiry, come 21 

what may.  We are not going to modify it for your client’s 22 

convenience.  23 

   MR. LYNCH:   If I may respectfully say so, 24 

sir, it’s a very unkind way of putting it…  25 
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   CHAIRMAN:   Perhaps I am being unkind but 1 

you’ll have to live with that, I’m sorry.  Here’s somebody 2 

saying that he cannot appear as a witness until nine weeks 3 

from today. That makes it the end of November. I can’t 4 

remember the exact dates.  Now, I’d like your help on this.  5 

We will have heard all the other witnesses.  We are bound 6 

to report by the 31
st
 December.  Are you suggesting that, 7 

therefore, we should hear the other witnesses then do 8 

nothing and then wait for your client’s evidence at the end 9 

of November?  10 

   MR. LYNCH:  I don’t know that you might do 11 

nothing.  I might have thought that you would have been 12 

able to at least assimilated material. 13 

   CHAIRMAN:  That’s exactly what I had in 14 

mind.  If we hear the evidence in the next ten days from 15 

all the other witnesses, we will inevitably proceed to 16 

draft our report, consider our conclusions on the basis of 17 

the evidence we have heard.   18 

           If your client’s evidence comes after that 19 

then we will be in a situation where - for better or worse 20 

-  we have to do that work without his evidence.  That’s an 21 

inevitable result of the application you’re making.   22 

   MR. LYNCH:   Not necessarily; no.   23 

   CHAIRMAN:  Well, what are you suggesting? 24 

   MR. LYNCH:   I’m afraid had you taken the 25 
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same approach you’re taking now, when I made my request of 1 

it back in August, we wouldn’t be in the position we are in 2 

now.  Be that as it may…   3 

       CHAIRMAN:  (indiscernible) 4 

   MR. LYNCH:   But the position is this.  5 

Realistically, it is open to you to recognize that the 6 

Commission might have granted these applications.  As a 7 

result of which, you could have returned to the Premier and 8 

asked him for an extension, a further extension beyond the 9 

31st of December.  It is open to you to do that.  He may 10 

accept it.  He may agree or not agree.  I don’t know, but 11 

the reality is, is that we rather suspect the decision to 12 

reject our application was made against the background.  In 13 

fact, you didn’t know at that stage whether you were even 14 

going to be given an extension because you clearly had not 15 

made an application for one.   So the point is, is --  16 

   CHAIRMAN:   Let’s be clear on these matters.  17 

Just a moment.  We are prepared to – when I say we’re 18 

prepared – if we do this, say that we will hear your 19 

client’s evidence at the end of November which is what it 20 

comes to. 21 

   MR. LYNCH:   Yes.   22 

   CHAIRMAN:   Then we would have been bending 23 

over backwards to allow him sufficient time to give 24 

evidence?     25 
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   MR. LYNCH:  Yes. 1 

   CHAIRMAN:   What I’m pointing out is what 2 

might be a very serious objection to your client’s point of 3 

view which is that we would have heard all the other 4 

evidence, inevitably formed some conclusion – even if that 5 

provisional – before we get his evidence.  6 

             That is a situation one would want to avoid 7 

but it’s inevitable if we grant your application today 8 

   MR. LYNCH:   Well, with respect, it is not a 9 

inevitable.  There are (indiscernible 10:38:34), one which 10 

I just mentioned.  11 

   CHAIRMAN:   Well, no.  But suppose… we can’t 12 

assume we’ll get an extension.  13 

   MR. LYNCH:   No. 14 

   CHAIRMAN:   There might be said to be a 15 

considerable public interest and we’re not having an 16 

extension.   17 

       MR LYNCH:  Indeed.  18 

        CHAIRMAN:  And, therefore, we would weigh 19 

that against your client’s rights to have quite a long 20 

period more within which to prepare his evidence.  That’s 21 

the situation we’re in.   22 

   MR. LYNCH:  That would, of course, be a 23 

factor, sir, for him to take into account whether actually 24 

if that is position you would have reached for your 25 
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provisional conclusions.  1 

   CHAIRMAN:  He would be causing it, whether 2 

he likes it or not – The subpoena is the issue. 3 

   MR. LYNCH:  The subpoena is an issue.  What 4 

he chooses to do once he gets here is a matter entirely for 5 

him.  6 

   CHAIRMAN:   Well, I’m surprised to hear 7 

counsel saying that.  A subpoena is issued.   8 

     MR LYNCH:  He will be here. 9 

       CHAIRMAN:  Unless you’re saying, if he will 10 

appear, well, he would appear as a witness and   11 

   MR. LYNCH:  The Subpoena only relates to him 12 

as a witness.  It only relates to him being a witness.  The 13 

position, sir, is this.  He may choose to, as he will, 14 

respond to that Subpoena because he believes that that is 15 

the right thing to do.  There’s no question about that; is 16 

there?  We made that clear. 17 

   CHAIRMAN:   I’m assuming, in his favour, he 18 

will… Well, you’ve accepted service on his behalf. 19 

   MR. LYNCH:  Of course.   20 

   CHAIRMAN:  Let’s not get sidetracked.  What 21 

I’m pointing out is that in the situation you’re asking us 22 

to adopt, you’re not asking for us to adjourn our Inquiry 23 

but you’re for an adjournment of your client’s evidence to 24 

an extent which will mean that the Tribunal is in a 25 
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difficult position, having heard all other evidence and 1 

inevitably having to consider that evidence will not hear 2 

your client’s evidence until that period is over.  Now, 3 

that is an innate…  4 

   MR. LYNCH:   Prejudice to him.   5 

   CHAIRMAN:   Possibly prejudice. 6 

   MR. LYNCH:   Yes. 7 

   CHAIRMAN:   I would not like it to be said 8 

afterwards that he was prejudiced by it when you have 9 

actually asked for that course to be adopted.  10 

   MR. LYNCH:  I don’t ask for that course to 11 

be adopted.  What I maintain is that our application to is 12 

to set aside the Subpoena.  If it is the view of the 13 

Commission that some of the difficulties posed by the 14 

Subpoena as it currently stands may be obviated by giving 15 

him time, then I am not going to seek to persuade you that 16 

you should not do that.  To the contrary, we would welcome 17 

that opportunity. 18 

   Ultimately, I will have to, as his lawyer, 19 

advise him as to the best course of conduct to take.  20 

Bearing in mind what I’ve heard from you, sir, about his 21 

position and what I heard from you yesterday was with 22 

respect to the current police inquiry --  23 

   CHAIRMAN:   That introduces a new factor. 24 

   MR. LYNCH:   It does.  25 
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   CHAIRMAN:   Well, can you expand on it?  1 

   MR. LYNCH:   It relates to the second aspect 2 

of the submissions that I sought to make this morning for 3 

the purpose of supporting our application to set aside the 4 

Subpoena, which is before you and which I loosely 5 

characterize as prejudiced.  You’ll remember, sir, that 6 

yesterday -- forgive me if I quote your words to remind 7 

Iveryone what was said -- forgive me if it’s not verbatim.  8 

it’s as close as I can get.  We have not had access to any 9 

police files which were, or are, either active 10 

investigation although we have been made aware that some of 11 

the contracts into which we are inquiring are, or have 12 

been, the subject of those investigations. 13 

    CHAIRMAN:   It makes no difference.   14 

        MR. LYNCH:   So, you will recall that 15 

during the course of correspondence between us and the 16 

Commission, we pointed out that we were concerned about 17 

that as an issue, and whether or not the Commission had 18 

sought material from the police.   I take it from the way 19 

in which you addressed that matter yesterday, that you have 20 

not got any material from the police at all.  One can 21 

understand why that might have been the case, although it 22 

might probably be regarded as entirely bad luck… Fine… But 23 

from his point of view, but I can understand why the police 24 

might take that action with the Commission.   25 
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    The position as it stands at the moment 1 

though is this; is that having made the inquiry, which your 2 

point yesterday indicated that the Inquiry had, as it 3 

were,(had made a request ?), but the net result of that is 4 

to say, well, if you were not going to get any of the 5 

materials you spent the last five years garnering but 6 

actually we are investigating some of the very matters that 7 

the Inquiry is concerned with.   8 

    Of course, you appreciate that that concerns 9 

our client very considerably.  It places him in a 10 

completely different category from every other witness in 11 

this Inquiry -- must place him in a completely different 12 

category from everyone else.  He has spent five years being 13 

investigated on the back of a witness in a case he was a 14 

convicted liar, having made assertions about corruption in 15 

relation to (claim) and ever since then has been under 16 

investigation.  He has never been arrested.  He has never 17 

been questioned.  He has never been asked to provide a 18 

single document by the police, and yet here we are five 19 

years on and in exactly the same position it was.  They’ve 20 

made it clear that they are continuing their investigation 21 

of the very matters with which this Commission are 22 

concerned. 23 

   What am I supposed to tell him as a lawyer? 24 

   CHAIRMAN:   That’s very much the point I was 25 
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making yesterday in that situation.  We would very much 1 

like your assistance.  We have approached the police, as I 2 

said, and asked them to tell us what matters – or rather, 3 

we’ve asked them certain matters around the investigation 4 

and the answer is yes.    We have not gone further taken 5 

steps… They have not volunteered to give us whatever 6 

information they have.  We have not, rightly or wrongly, 7 

taken any steps to compel them to hand over but, are you 8 

saying that we should do? 9 

   MR. LYNCH:   Yes. 10 

   CHAIRMAN:   And, would your client give his 11 

consent to let the Inquiry have them? 12 

   MR. LYNCH:   I don’t know what to say to 13 

that.  But the position is this. It is not a question of my 14 

client giving consent to the Commission…   15 

   CHAIRMAN:   Let me say it again.  Are you, 16 

on behalf of your client, asking us to ask the police if 17 

they will release the information to us from their 18 

investigation?   19 

    MR. LYNCH:   Certainly.  Can I make it clear 20 

because, obviously, the public are not aware of the 21 

correspondence between us.  But the reality is I’ve asked 22 

for this some, at least a month ago, inviting you to 23 

inquire of the police exactly what it is they’ve got.  24 

They’ve spent five years doing it, spending it on their own 25 
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account two and a half million in making the investigation.  1 

Why not?   2 

    If witnesses are compellable - and 3 

compellable means not just to turn up as witnesses but to 4 

hand over documentation, what is wrong with doing that?  5 

Here is an investigative tool as it were, the police having 6 

spent all this time and money investigating these 7 

allegations, the very same, self-same allegations you’re 8 

concerned with, why not get their material?  Of course, 9 

you’ll appreciate that not everything that they have is 10 

admissible necessarily as evidence even in an Inquiry.  It 11 

depends on the nature of what it is.  This information 12 

could be a variety of things.  The problem at the moment is 13 

this, that neither you nor I know what it is that they 14 

actually do have.  What they’ve done is to spend five years 15 

getting it and have got nowhere. 16 

   CHAIRMAN:   We can do without it because our 17 

job is to inquire from all the sources of direct 18 

information, and that’s what we’re doing.  19 

   MR. LYNCH:   Then I follow that entirely, 20 

but  with the greatest respect to you, sir, I mean, you 21 

had, as you pointed out yesterday, you don’t have the 22 

budget to have investigators being able to look at material 23 

for you and to go out there doing it.  24 

   CHAIRMAN:   The fact is that we are doing 25 
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our best to go to all the direct sources for information, 1 

and to establish the facts. 2 

   Now, at least by definition they may or not 3 

have a collection of second-hand information, of hearsay 4 

information, to what they’ve been told by the people, but 5 

as I understand it, your client -- you are asking on behalf 6 

of your client –- you are saying on behalf of your client -7 

he should consent to the police releasing that information 8 

to us. 9 

   MR. LYNCH:  I don’t think it’s a question of 10 

his consent - with respect to you, sir.  It’s not a 11 

question of his consent.  It’s a question of what your 12 

powers are and whether if you’re conducting an Inquiry 13 

fairly, whether or not you require the police to hand over 14 

the material that they have been garnering for the last 15 

five years.   16 

   CHAIRMAN:   Mr. Lynch, on that basis I am 17 

not sure we need go down that road any further.  There is 18 

nothing else to be said.   19 

   MR. LYNCH:  It is a matter for you.  It is 20 

not a question, with respect, for our client to agree or 21 

disagree.  The simple point I make about it is that, of 22 

course, that would have to be a factor in any advice that 23 

he receives from me on what he should do by way of giving 24 

evidence in respect of this Inquiry.  The sad fact is, we 25 
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don’t even know which topics they are investigating and 1 

neither do you.  That being so -- 2 

   MR BARRITT:   Or who. 3 

   MR. LYNCH:   I’m sorry. 4 

   MR BARRITT:   Or who. 5 

   MR. LYNCH:   Or who.   6 

   MR BARRITT:  More importantly, we…  7 

   MR. LYNCH:   Well, we know it’s him.  We 8 

know because they’ve admitted that much.  9 

   CHAIRMAN:   Strictly, we know which the 10 

contracts are, and if they were contracts that involved 11 

him, clearly that would involve him.   12 

   MR. LYNCH:  Well, I ask, not rhetorically, I 13 

do ask if you know which those contracts are, will you tell 14 

us?  If you have information --  15 

   CHAIRMAN:   I’m not here to… We are here to 16 

hear your application, not to bargain about police 17 

information. 18 

   MR. LYNCH:  Sir, you misunderstand me.  I’m 19 

not asking for bargaining.  I’m saying if the Commission 20 

are privy to information as to which contracts are being 21 

investigated, unless you’re in some way bound by secrecy in 22 

a respect of that, is there any reason why Mr. -- why our 23 

client, Dr. Brown, should not know that. 24 

   CHAIRMAN:   If it’s relevant to our Inquiry 25 
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to know which contracts are --   1 

   MR. LYNCH:   Yes.  2 

   CHAIRMAN:   -- under investigation. 3 

   MR. LYNCH:   It is, yes.  4 

   CHAIRMAN:   Why? 5 

   MR. LYNCH:   Because if they are the self-6 

same ones that you are asking him about out of the six that 7 

you asked him to consider, that is a major factor in 8 

deciding whether or not he should be required to give 9 

evidence.  And may I say, we would regard it as your 10 

responsibility to safeguard his interests. 11 

   CHAIRMAN:   Yes, but, bearing in mind the 12 

one privilege that you have identified…   13 

   MR. LYNCH:   Yes. 14 

   CHAIRMAN:   I could accept that.   15 

   MR. LYNCH:   Good.   I have no doubt that 16 

you would, sir, because the reality here is this -- the 17 

reality here is this.  If you, the Commission, are privy to 18 

specifically which contracts the police are investigating, 19 

and have been, and they are the same as the ones you’re 20 

investigating, against that background you should not be 21 

required then, under compulsion, to give evidence.  22 

   CHAIRMAN:   Yes.  You and he can rest 23 

assured that his privilege, lawful privilege, will be 24 

respected by us as, no doubt, it’s going back (in).  He’s 25 
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not bound to claim the privilege.  1 

   MR. LYNCH:   No.  But the way I would put 2 

it, if I may, is that you’re bound to tell him that he has 3 

and enjoys that privilege; and you should be considering 4 

that before deciding whether or not to compel him to give 5 

evidence.  6 

   CHAIRMAN:   Are you saying that any evidence 7 

he might give is potentially subject to privilege? 8 

   MR. LYNCH:   Yes.  I am.  Absolutely, I am.  9 

I mean, let’s be clear.   10 

   CHAIRMAN:   Then I come back to the basic 11 

problem, the point I mentioned earlier that privilege is a 12 

matter to be claimed by the witness and, therefore, the 13 

fact that he may or may not be entitled to claim privilege, 14 

may or may not want to claim privilege, that’s a matter 15 

which doesn’t arise until he is a witness and does claim 16 

privilege. That’s where we are. 17 

   MR. LYNCH:  That is where we are.  He is a 18 

witness because you compelled him to be one.  So there’s no 19 

question about that.  And I’m making it clear on his behalf 20 

that privilege is a live issue so far as he is concerned,  21 

and must a live issue.  The fact that he is best informed 22 

by the material that you may be in possession of and we are 23 

not as to which investigation, which contracts, the police 24 

are investigating.   25 
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   CHAIRMAN:   Shall we come back to what seems 1 

to be, at one stage fertile ground, to seeing where there 2 

is what I call common ground, if the Commission was to 3 

indicate that it could hear your witness - client’s - 4 

evidence in the last week of November... 5 

   MR. LYNCH:   Yes.  6 

   CHAIRMAN:  On that basis, where do you 7 

stand? 8 

   MR. LYNCH:   I’m not sure what you’re asking 9 

me.  If you’re asking me will my client definitely give 10 

evidence at the end of November, I can’t answer that 11 

question.  If you’re asking me whether I will welcome the 12 

opportunity for him to consider the material and then, as 13 

it were, revert to you, the Commission, as to his position, 14 

I welcome that. 15 

   CHAIRMAN:   As to the first point, he is 16 

subpoenaed to attend on the 20th of September or such date 17 

as the Commission, the hearing, might be adjourned. 18 

   MR. LYNCH:   Yes.  19 

   CHAIRMAN:   And we could adjourn if we were 20 

going to take this course, we could adjourn the hearing of 21 

his evidence until the – whatever date it is in November – 22 

therefore, there would be an extant subpoena for him to 23 

appear then.   24 

   MR. LYNCH:   Well, a Subpoena is a Subpoena.  25 
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I’ve made my application and you will determine whether or 1 

not to remove the Subpoena or not.  If the Subpoena is 2 

extant and it is referred to a particular date, then he 3 

will be here. 4 

   CHAIRMAN:   Why should we remove the 5 

Subpoena when, I think you have said, any question of 6 

privilege or arising out of the police investigation and so 7 

on, is something which arises after he is being called, and 8 

maybe when he is called, but not in advance?   9 

   MR. LYNCH:   With the greatest respect, we 10 

disagree about that.  Our submission is, I thought, clear, 11 

that it is a factor to be taken into account before the 12 

issuance of a Subpoena.  If you were privy to information 13 

which we are not as to which investigation -- which 14 

particular matters are being investigated by the police, 15 

and they are the same as the ones you are investigating, if 16 

that be so and it appears it may be so from what you said 17 

yesterday, then that must inform you as to whether it is 18 

right to require him, to compel him, to give evidence about 19 

matters which he may well be prejudiced by.  20 

   CHAIRMAN:   No. He won’t be prejudiced 21 

because he is entitled to claim privilege when he appears.  22 

   MR. LYNCH:   With respect, we are going 23 

around in circles.  I take a different view, as you will 24 

appreciate from the way in which I made the submission on, 25 



COMMISSION OF INQUIRY, SEPTEMBER 29, 2016                                                                                            FINAL UNEDITED TRANSCRIPT 

 41 

on his behalf, that it should be a factor taken into 1 

account by you before deciding whether to issue the 2 

Subpoena. 3 

   CHAIRMAN:   And the factor is? 4 

   MR. LYNCH:   The factor is you are privy to 5 

information that we are not.  6 

   CHAIRMAN:   No, no, that’s incidental.  The 7 

factor is, as I understand it, that we should take account 8 

of the fact that he will or may, may or will, be entitled 9 

to claim privilege in relation to certain of the evidence 10 

he gives. 11 

   MR. LYNCH:  No.  Is it right for us, is it 12 

fair for us as an Inquiry to compel someone to give 13 

evidence in respect to matters which we know he is being 14 

investigated in, about, by the police?  Is it right to do 15 

that?  That’s the question we submit and you should be 16 

asking yourselves. 17 

   CHAIRMAN:   But the privilege is his, not 18 

ours. If you tell us now that he would wish to claim 19 

privilege in response to any questions he was asked, that I 20 

can see, you might say, well, it’s wrong to issue a 21 

Subpoena but until we have that from you and we can’t take 22 

that point. 23 

   MR. LYNCH:   As you’d appreciate, without 24 

going around in circles, you will appreciate our starting 25 
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position was, and has been up until certainly yesterday, 1 

that he should have sufficient time to properly prepare on 2 

matters which are obviously very serious given the way in 3 

which it was opened yesterday and suggested by you   4 

(Indiscernible 10:56:18) involved,  these are important 5 

considerations for him to consider with his lawyers before  6 

making any decision about whether it is right or proper for 7 

him to give evidence.  I can’t advise him about that 8 

because he does not seek to rely on that particular 9 

privilege.  At the outset he has never sought to do that.  10 

I have made it clear to the Commission that all we ever 11 

sought was sufficient time to be properly prepared.  That 12 

was denied.  Here we are having, as it were, lost a whole 13 

month in that process.  That’s where we are. 14 

   MR BARRITT:   So, five of the eight weeks 15 

you were asking have been thrown away? 16 

   MR. LYNCH:   They’ve been completely lost.  17 

Let me make the position absolutely clear.  This is not -- 18 

there is a financial implication for him and, obviously, 19 

(instructing) the worst would take a significant amount of 20 

time in going through materials and taking instructions 21 

from me.  Now, we had arranged the minute I had received 22 

the materials from you on the 22nd, I can tell you that I 23 

have arranged to see him that very week he was to fly into 24 

this country, as was I.  We were about to engage on the 25 
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very process of going through the materials.   1 

    As soon as I got your letter I cancelled it.  2 

I cancelled it.  There was no point.  It could not be ready 3 

in time for the 28th, the return date of the Subpoena.  And 4 

that I made clear.  And I made clear (with) subsequent 5 

letter, right from the outset, so that there could be no 6 

misunderstanding between our position and that of the 7 

Inquiry.  If that is the approach you’re taking, our 8 

approach will be he won’t give evidence on my advice. 9 

   If we can avoid that process by saying, give 10 

him the sufficient time in order to be able to take 11 

instruction and for me to take instructions to be able to 12 

give him proper advice against the background of those 13 

instructions, then, of course, I welcome that.  That is 14 

what we asked for in the first place.   15 

   What I’m not prepared to do, as you will 16 

understand, is to allow anybody to subject himself to the 17 

dangers that inevitably exist where there is an extant 18 

police inquiry without being thoroughly prepared.  That’s 19 

where we are. 20 

   CHAIRMAN:  I think I just have to ask you 21 

this because it’s the central point which we’ve circled 22 

around many times but, as you’ve just said, you would 23 

advise your client not to give evidence and at the moment I 24 

don’t see on what basis you could advise him that he should 25 
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disregard a Subpoena. 1 

   MR. LYNCH:  I won’t do that.  On the 2 

contrary.   3 

   CHAIRMAN:   Right.  Therefore, he would 4 

appear as a witness? 5 

   MR. LYNCH:   If you mean bodily and 6 

physically; yes. 7 

   CHAIRMAN:   And he would take the oath, and 8 

then at the appropriate time he would declare any 9 

privilege? 10 

   MR. LYNCH:   Well, is it necessary at an 11 

Inquiry rather than a court to go through the charade that 12 

is somebody standing in what looks like a courtroom other 13 

than an Inquiry, but is it designed to, as it were, 14 

embarrassing him to having to…  15 

   CHAIRMAN:   Thank you.  That clarifies that 16 

position.  Just to complete going around in a circle, 17 

you’re asking for an adjournment until the end of November 18 

and, as I’ve indicated, the Commission may well be able to 19 

accept that.  There will be a penalty for your client in 20 

the way I’ve described in the sense we would have heard all 21 

other evidence and inevitably considered it.  But, that’s 22 

the best that can be done in the circumstances if he needs 23 

another nine weeks to prepare.  The alternative, if it’s 24 

going to be a charade, as you call it, is to get over with 25 
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it and to call him next week so that he can take your 1 

advice and not appear.  Which of those two would you… When 2 

I say not appear - not give evidence 3 

   MR. LYNCH:   You make two possible 4 

scenarios.  The position is simply this.  I have always 5 

sought to the time.  We are where we are at the moment.  An 6 

additional nine weeks is to put it, and I know you don’t 7 

mind me to put it this way, unfairly upon him.  He has not 8 

had any time up until now, he has not considered the 9 

papers.  He has not considered the Witness Statements at 10 

all.  Subject, of course, to the fact that he was not 11 

prepared in those circumstance to give evidence as he had 12 

thought yesterday, when he was here ready to answer his 13 

Subpoena, the position…  14 

   CHAIRMAN:   That’s because, in your words, 15 

his policy was wait and see until the end of August.   16 

   MR. LYNCH:   My words with respect to wait 17 

and see were at the early stages of this Inquiry.  When you 18 

had, as it were, indicated you only may require.  There was 19 

no issue at that stage as to what it was that he was 20 

intended to…  21 

   CHAIRMAN:   That was the end of June and 22 

things didn’t change from what you’ve told us, until he was 23 

belatedly told by his house-guest that the papers had 24 

arrived and he didn’t know that, as you say, until the end 25 
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of August.   1 

   MR. LYNCH:   That’s all the information I 2 

had.  I can’t tell you anything… 3 

   CHAIRMAN:   The policy of what you’ve told 4 

us was wait and see until the end of August and it’s 5 

inevitable that (indiscernible 11:01:50). 6 

   MR. LYNCH:   When he returned to this 7 

country on the 19th of August in order to attend a charity 8 

do, he saw the material and immediately contacted me, and I 9 

immediately contacted you. 10 

   CHAIRMAN:   And I make it plain, we have 11 

regarded him from the outset as, obviously, an important, 12 

if not essential witness. 13 

   MR. LYNCH:   Pity you didn’t say that. 14 

   CHAIRMAN:   We took the policy that we 15 

should treat all witnesses the same.  Your complaint 16 

essentially at the moment, as I understand it is that we 17 

didn’t single out your client in the early stages and say, 18 

Look, you’re going to be a very important witness, we want 19 

your (confirmation/consultation) now.  That’s your 20 

complaint and that’s water under the bridge. 21 

   So, you are asking for an adjournment.  You 22 

are asking for the Subpoena to be set aside. 23 

   MR LYNCH: Yes. 24 

         CHAIRMAN:  Ultimately on the basis that if 25 
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he’s advised not to give evidence it will be a charade… 1 

     MR LYNCH:  That’s not the basis I’m asking 2 

for it to be set aside.  I’m asking for the Subpoena to be 3 

set aside for the two reasons I have already provided to 4 

you – one, insufficient time; and one is the potential 5 

prejudice. You have sought, if I may say so, barely, to try 6 

and find a way around that timing issue and if that can be 7 

done by giving him more time, it’s not my submission that 8 

it should be until the end of November but I can’t see how 9 

we can do it before that. 10 

   CHAIRMAN:   I’m sorry.  I thought it was.  11 

You said nine weeks from today.   12 

   MR. LYNCH:   I said I can’t see how we can 13 

do it before that.   If you’re prepared to commit to that 14 

period, then that’s what we would welcome.  It’s not part 15 

of my submission.  16 

    It is, if I may put it this way, an attempt 17 

by the Commission to find accommodation for him as a 18 

witness, and I respect that and we will do our very best 19 

and if it becomes clear that – Let me make the position 20 

clear -- if it becomes clear during that period of time 21 

that it is obvious I cannot possibly allow him to give 22 

evidence in respect to certain matters, I’m happy to inform 23 

the Commission that that is the position we’ve adopted and 24 

then you would obviously have to consider what is the next 25 
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course to take.   1 

   The fact that I regarded it as a charade is 2 

just a way that I seek to put it.  In the way in which it 3 

might then be actually dealt with in this environment.  In 4 

other words, I would submit; and I’ll be advising him to 5 

submit, if we get to that position where he is not going to 6 

give evidence to the Inquiry… 7 

   CHAIRMAN:   No.  Again, where he is going to 8 

claim privilege in response to any questions he may be 9 

asked. 10 

   MR. LYNCH:   Yes.  Which means he would not 11 

be giving evidence to the Inquiry.  If that was the 12 

position, then we would wish, obviously, to make 13 

submissions about that, and the reasons why that should be 14 

allowed and in particular we would wish to submit as to 15 

what the process should be. 16 

   CHAIRMAN: Can you make any submissions now?  17 

   MR. LYNCH:   Well, I can’t.  But if that is 18 

strictly necessary, if there is a real prospect that he 19 

might give evidence if you are minded to grant him the time 20 

then he may give evidence.   21 

   CHAIRMAN:  It’s all a bit uncertain.  22 

   MR. LYNCH:  It is uncertain.  23 

   CHAIRMAN:   You’re asking for an adjournment 24 

so that he can decide whether or not he will -- He’s got to 25 



COMMISSION OF INQUIRY, SEPTEMBER 29, 2016                                                                                            FINAL UNEDITED TRANSCRIPT 

 49 

appear. 1 

   MR. LYNCH:   No, sir.  I’m not asking for an 2 

adjournment.  I’m asking you to set aside the Subpoena.  3 

You’re offering an adjournment as a way of dealing with the 4 

difficulties that I have raised as part of my solution that 5 

the Subpoena should be set aside.  If you are offering 6 

that, I make it clear again, I welcome that offer and will, 7 

of course, do as instructed on behalf of the Inquiry.   8 

           I will take his instructions.  I will take 9 

the time in going through the materials with him.  And once 10 

we have done that, we will then consider whether it is 11 

right or wrong for him to give evidence.  He will always 12 

answer to the Subpoena because he respects that and will, 13 

whether it is right for him to claim then his privilege 14 

will be another matter.  The process by which that is 15 

claimed is simply an issue that we will deal with at the 16 

time.  All I’m offering is that if it becomes clear between 17 

now (indiscernible 11:06:33) and to the end of November 18 

there’s little point in us waiting until that date if it 19 

becomes clear to me during the course of my taking 20 

instructions from him that we’ve reached a position where 21 

he will be claiming privilege.  I simply wanted to convey 22 

to you that I will make that clear to you so that there’s 23 

no time wasted in that respect. 24 

   CHAIRMAN:   How soon can you do that? 25 
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   MR. LYNCH:   I will start work at the end of 1 

next week after I’ve dealt with the other matters that this 2 

Commission is concerned with.  And once we start that work 3 

it may be I can deal with it fairly quickly.  Maybe it will 4 

take some considerable time.  All I’m saying to you, sir, 5 

is that I will not wait until the date that you set to tell 6 

you then if the decision has been already made.  That’s not 7 

the way in which I work.  I hope that you’ve seen by the 8 

way in which I have corresponded with the Commission I’m 9 

trying to deal with it promptly.   10 

   CHAIRMAN:   And the decision you have in 11 

mind is the decision whether or not to advise him to claim 12 

of privilege in respect to the whole of his evidence?  13 

   MR. LYNCH:   Yes.  Or part of it.  It’s 14 

difficult to see how you would give part of it.  It’s 15 

impossible. 16 

   CHAIRMAN:   I quite agree.  That’s why I 17 

don’t understand… Therefore, we’re talking about…   18 

       MR LYNCH:  It’s all wrong.   19 

   CHAIRMAN:  No. Well, you’re saying that but 20 

I don’t begin to understand you at the moment unless it’s 21 

on the basis that any questions he is asked will be 22 

answered by a claim of privilege.   23 

           Now that’s the situation I can understand.   24 

I find difficulty in seeing that that’s going to arise.  25 
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You tell me it may or it will.  1 

   Yes, well that’s it.  I want to make a note 2 

of that.   3 

            The note I’ve made is this: your application 4 

is on the basis that the witness may be advised to claim 5 

privilege against giving any relevant evidence. 6 

   MR. LYNCH:   Yes. 7 

   CHAIRMAN:   Thank you.  And you say that 8 

advice may be given to him in less than nine weeks.  Can 9 

you say roughly when? 10 

   MR. LYNCH:   I can’t, I’m afraid.  Until I 11 

start taking his instructions, I will follow the order of 12 

the contracts that you set out in your letter that you sent 13 

to him in August, end of July.  I’ll follow that order. 14 

I’ll start to take his instructions and we’ll see where we 15 

get to.  But what you can be assured of is that once we’ve 16 

arrived at a position that is different you will be 17 

informed as soon as I am in that position.  I’m not going 18 

to -- It’s not my style to wait until some future date. I 19 

will make it plain. 20 

     CHAIRMAN:  With respect, it has been until 21 

now because what you’re saying is that you don’t know 22 

(indiscernible 11:10:26) since the documents received at 23 

the end of August. 24 

   MR. LYNCH:  That’s right; yes.  For what 25 



COMMISSION OF INQUIRY, SEPTEMBER 29, 2016                                                                                            FINAL UNEDITED TRANSCRIPT 

 52 

purpose?  For what purpose when he was refused any time at 1 

all to be able to properly prepare? 2 

   CHAIRMAN:   I only made that comment because 3 

you said it wasn’t your style.  Not only is it your style 4 

it has been your actual practice in this case to do nothing 5 

until you make your application for an adjournment today.   6 

   MR. LYNCH:   Not only that, it is completely 7 

wrong.  It’s completely wrong. 8 

   CHAIRMAN:   Tell me --  9 

   MR. LYNCH:   To do nothing, is completely 10 

wrong.   11 

   CHAIRMAN:   I’m sorry. Well, I thought you 12 

said --  13 

   MR. LYNCH:   I have spent no end of time 14 

dealing with this matter in correspondence with the 15 

Commission, endlessly pointing out where the Commission had 16 

a number of… 17 

   CHAIRMAN:   I’m sorry. I thought you were 18 

saying you’d made no progress on the task of considering 19 

whether or not your client would be entitled to claim 20 

privilege. If I misunderstood that... 21 

   MR. LYNCH:   You have misunderstood that. 22 

   CHAIRMAN:   So you have made some progress? 23 

   MR. LYNCH:   As to the question of 24 

privilege, we have certainly -- Of course, we have.  If 25 
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you’re saying I’ve done nothing in respect to prepare him 1 

for giving evidence --  2 

   CHAIRMAN:   No, I didn’t say that.  As 3 

regards privilege you need another period which you put at 4 

what, another two or three weeks before you can give 5 

advice. 6 

   MR. LYNCH:   I didn’t put it at any time at 7 

all.  I made it plain that the position is this.  I will 8 

start to take his instructions.  Once I have those 9 

instructions I will be able to put them into a Witness 10 

Statement that we can supply to you.  Maybe, as you pointed 11 

out in your own letters, hitherto, but what is provided 12 

(with the statement) you don’t him at all. That’s what your 13 

position has always been.  Provide a Witness Statement and 14 

you may not be required to give evidence.  15 

   CHAIRMAN:   Well, we’ll retire to consider 16 

where we are now and may or may not give you a decision 17 

straight away.    18 

   MR. LYNCH:   Thank you. 19 

   CHAIRMAN:  We may or may not give you the 20 

decision straight away. 21 

   MR. LYNCH:   Yes, of course. 22 

(Recess Taken.) 23 

(Recess Ended. 24 

   CHAIRMAN:  The Commission having heard Mr. 25 
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Lynch’s counsel submission on behalf of Dr. Brown, one, 1 

rejects his application to set aside the Subpoena directing 2 

Dr. Brown to appear as a witness before the Commission, and 3 

two, adjourns the date for Dr. Brown to appear as a witness 4 

until Monday, the 28th of November, 2016 at 10:00 a.m.  5 

Within the terms of the Subpoena, the hearing is adjourned 6 

to that date for the purpose of hearing his evidence.  Mr. 7 

Hargun, is there anything? 8 

   MR. BARGUN:   Not from me in relation to 9 

that matter.   10 

   CHAIRMAN:   Mr. Lynch, is there anything you 11 

want to say? 12 

   MR. LYNCH:   No, I’m grateful.  Thank you 13 

very much.  14 

   May I be excused to withdraw?  15 

   CHAIRMAN:  (indiscernible.11:34:06) Well, 16 

you don’t have to appear.   17 

   MR. LYNCH:   I may come this afternoon   18 

   CHAIRMAN:   In which case, you don’t need my 19 

leave. You are most welcome, whatever you want to appear.  20 

            MR LYNCH:  Thank you  21 

 22 

   MS. MEMARI:  Mr. Chairman and members of the 23 

panel, I do not intend to deviate from the Commission’s 24 

direction, however, in his submissions Mr. Lynch made 25 
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gratuitous comments about my clients that must be 1 

addressed.  Mr. Lynch suggested that the civil servants by 2 

virtue of being in public office and on payroll were able 3 

to progress their witness statements in a timely manner 4 

that they did. That is, in fact, not the case, Mr. 5 

Chairman. 6 

   We have had to ask for extension of time, as 7 

you are aware, for precisely the reason that they weren’t 8 

able to prepare those witness statements during the course 9 

of their working days.  We have worked with them during 10 

their lunch breaks, late afternoons into late evenings, and 11 

on weekends.  This may be a minor point but in 12 

circumstances where the conduct of public servants, their 13 

integrity, their reputation, and their overall 14 

professionalism is the subject of this Inquiry, the point 15 

must be made on their behalf.  I’m grateful. 16 

   MR. LYNCH:   I am happy to withdraw the 17 

suggestion.  18 

   CHAIRMAN:   I’m glad to hear that.  It does 19 

give me the opportunity to repeat what I said earlier this 20 

morning.  I said this to Ms. Memari, we found the reaction 21 

of her firm and the, I think, the whole of the civil 22 

servants who they represent, we found their reaction 23 

exemplary.  They have been really helpful.  They’ve 24 

obviously worked very hard and we are most grateful for it.   25 
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      MS MEMARI:  I’m obliged.  Thank you. 1 

 2 

           CHAIRMAN:  Now, Mr. Narinda.  3 

      MR HARGUN:  Mr. Chairman, in that case I can 4 

resume with final four contracts and if I can ask you to go 5 

to Tab 5 and that relates to… 6 

     CHAIRMAN:  Just give us a moment. 7 

   MR. HARGUN:   Certainly.  Mr. Chairman, this 8 

was a contract which, again, was the subject of review by 9 

the Auditor General and she expressed a concern that no 10 

Cabinet approval had been obtained in relation to it, and 11 

the contract was never tendered.  The Auditor General’s 12 

concerns are set out at page 99, in tab 5.  You will see at 13 

page 99 the Auditor General says “What did we find?  The 14 

original sum for the Central Laboratory Building project 15 

was approximately $46,000.00.  In 2010 the contract did not 16 

receive prior Cabinet approval.  Additionally, Works and 17 

Engineering noted that the services were not tendered, but 18 

were negotiated with the knowledge of the Permanent 19 

Secretary.  Additional services of $856,000.00 resulted in 20 

a final contract amount of $902,000.00 to C. S. & P. 21 

Architects.” 22 

   If you look at the original contract, and 23 

that you will find at page 1, you see the letter from C. S. 24 

& P. Architects.  It is fair to say that the original 25 
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contract does contemplate that this will be just the 1 

initial phase of this assignment, and that is for the sum 2 

of $46,000.00.  At the same time, it was clear from the 3 

very beginning that the project wasn’t going to be 4 

$46,000.00, the project for professional services from C. 5 

S. & B.  In fact, it was going to be considerably more. 6 

   If you look at page 3 that is a letter of 7 

the 3rd of June, 2008 written a few days after the initial 8 

quotation of $46,000.00, and you will see that that is a 9 

letter from C. S. & P. Architects.  There it is referred to 10 

the next phase for the new Forensic Lab and what they 11 

propose to do in the near future.  You will see that the 12 

estimate for professional services to be rendered by C. S. 13 

& P. Architects is, in fact, a million dollar ninety-five 14 

thousand.  Despite that, this wasn’t a case where there is 15 

any suggestion of trying to obtain a tender, and secondly 16 

no question of obtaining Cabinet approval in relation to a 17 

reasonably substantial expenditure.  You will see that this 18 

was subject to the approval and the consent of the 19 

Permanent Secretary.   20 

   CHAIRMAN:  The original sum was $46,000.00? 21 

   MR. HARGUN:  The original sum was 22 

$46,000.00. 23 

   CHAIRMAN:  Which is below the limit for 24 

Cabinet approval. 25 
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   MR. HARGUN:   That would be below the 1 

Cabinet limit.   2 

   CHAIRMAN:   There wasn’t a failure at that 3 

time? 4 

   MR. HARGUN:   Certainly not. 5 

   CHAIRMAN:   When did the failure occur? 6 

   MR. HARGUN:   Well, the original quotation 7 

is dated the 26th of May, 2008.  Then it’s quite clear by 8 

the 3rd of June -- that is within about a week -- that the 9 

project, in fact, is not going to cost $46,000.00 but the 10 

project is going to cost in excess of a million dollars.  11 

Ordinarily, one would expect expenditure of that magnitude 12 

to be approved by --  13 

   CHAIRMAN:   Do the regulations provide for 14 

that -- a situation where you have a -- It must be unusual 15 

to go up by a million dollars. 16 

   MR. HARGUN:   Yes.  The Financial 17 

Instructions contemplate that $50,000.00 or sums which 18 

amount to $50,000.00 over a period of time.  If from the 19 

very beginning it is realized that the project is going to 20 

cost over $50,000.00 then Cabinet approval is required.   21 

   It’s perfectly clear from the documentation 22 

that the initial $46,000.00 was really for pre-design work 23 

and not the substantive work.  You can see that if you look 24 

at page 87.  That is that you’ll see there’s an email from 25 
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Gerald Forbes to Andrew Morille and Gavin Simmons, and is 1 

answering the questions.  He said, the first question is, 2 

“Why is there such a huge discrepancy between the original 3 

contract sum and the additional services.”  The answer is, 4 

“The original contract sum of $46,000.00 was for the pre-5 

design work.  At that stage it was not known whether the 6 

project would move forward so it was unwise to commit to 7 

the full contract sum.”   8 

   Certificate 2 added another $154,000.00.  9 

Certificate 3 added another $583,000.00.  Certificate 8 10 

added an amended fee.  The answer under 2, why was it not 11 

tendered - basically the services were not tendered.  They 12 

were negotiated with C. S. & P. with the knowledge of 13 

Permanent Secretary Horton.  If you look at question 4, can 14 

you provide the Cabinet conclusion, the contract did not go 15 

to Cabinet for approval.   16 

   Now it’s perfectly true that this was with 17 

the approval of the Permanent Secretary, and that you can 18 

see if you look at page 33.  It is interesting to see how 19 

within the Ministry of Works and Engineering the amount is 20 

accounted for.   If you look under Statement of Account, 21 

Contract Sum is set to be $46,000.00.  Authorized 22 

Additional Services, $737,000.00, and then the Revised 23 

Contract Sum.  For present purposes, if you look at the 24 

certification at the bottom, it’s signed by the project 25 
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manager, and then it’s signed by the Permanent Secretary. 1 

   The reason why the signature of the 2 

Permanent Secretary is important is it being said by the 3 

Chief Architect at the time, Mr. Brady, that this method 4 

was allowed under the P.F.A., which we’ll have a look at, 5 

specifically at paragraph 6.11.3.   6 

    Just to frame the issue, the issue is 7 

twofold.  One is, there is a suggestion that in relation to 8 

services as opposed to goods, the issue of consent might be 9 

different.  That is one issue.  The second one is that in 10 

relation to certain emergencies one doesn’t have to tender 11 

or obtain the necessary permission.   12 

    Can I just show you the relevant provisions?  13 

The P.F.A. 6.1 you’ll see at (a), tab 11.  Tab 9.  It’s 14 

actually tab 9.   15 

   CHAIRMAN:  I’m sorry, number (a), tab 9? 16 

   MR. HARGUN:  Tab 9.  If you look at 6.3, 17 

which is at internal page 11, you’ll see Contract Services 18 

with an estimated value of over $50,000.00.  The means of 19 

procurement for contract services with an estimated value 20 

of over $50,000.00 shall be a form of contract.  21 

(Indiscernible 11:45:46 that partied)  contracts, i.e., 22 

those that require contract administrator to mediate 23 

between contractor and the owner/employer, for example, 24 

A.I.A. or (indiscernible 11:45:57) form of contracts shall 25 
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be signed by the Permanent Secretary or Department head on 1 

behalf of the owner/employer.   2 

   At 6.3.2, the method of procurement shall 3 

generally be by open tender.  When circumstances dictate, 4 

such as the nature, size or complexity of a project, the 5 

method of procurement may be pre-qualified tender.  So 6 

ordinarily you see that even under the relevant P.F.A. 2002 7 

rule, even in relation to services over $50,000.00 the 8 

default rule is that there should be an open tender, but 9 

there are exceptions.   10 

    In relation to this case, the relevant 11 

exception relied upon by the Chief Architect is that at 12 

6.11 this is exceptional circumstances which you will see 13 

at page 15.  It says at 6.11.1, exceptional circumstances 14 

covered in this section comprise, a) when separate reports 15 

are necessary then negotiations may be used when special 16 

circumstances exist.  He relies upon 6.11.3, the method of 17 

procurement may be negotiation with a single entity subject 18 

to the approval of Permanent Secretary under circumstances 19 

such as continuation contracts where there is a single 20 

capable contractor, supplier and the vendor where there is 21 

an operational emergency or national emergency the 22 

procedure may vary depending on the circumstances and the 23 

time allowed.  Usually a lump sum price or schedule of 24 

rates will be received from a contractor, supplier and 25 
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vendor based on tendered documents which possibly may be 1 

incomplete.  Depending on the information available, the 2 

fair price for the work would be negotiated based on 3 

measurements and allowances. 4 

   It’s that provision which is sometimes 5 

relied upon for the proposition that in relation to 6 

services where, for example, legal services or 7 

architectural services that you may not necessarily have to 8 

have an open tender.  That is an issue which should be 9 

explored with the relevant civil servants as to why it is, 10 

and what the rationale is, and what limits there should be. 11 

   As you can see, in relation to architectural 12 

services, for example, the expense can be substantial.  13 

Architectural services in relation to civil engineering 14 

projects can be anything from five to ten percent of the 15 

entire project.  So, we will explore that further in 16 

evidence. 17 

   The next contract we want to have a look at 18 

is the Global Hue.  But before Global Hue, can I just say 19 

that we did say in the very beginning that there were ten 20 

contracts.  One of the contracts was in relation to the 21 

Ministry of Education Security contract for schools, and 22 

that related to the G.E.T. Security.  We are pleased to say 23 

that at this stage as far as this very large contract was 24 

concerned we found that the contract was properly tendered 25 
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and Cabinet approval was in place.  So there is no 1 

criticism as far as we are concerned in relation to this 2 

contract. 3 

    The next contract we want to have a look at 4 

is Global Hue, and we do that because payments were being 5 

made during the relevant time of this particular audit.  6 

Now this contract was listed by the O.A.G. as among those 7 

which were not tendered.  The contract had originally been 8 

tendered but the decision was taken when the contract 9 

expired to renew the contract without further tender.  The 10 

contract was approved by Cabinet.   11 

   One of the issues in relation to this 12 

contract is that it was, in fact, renewed.  As to whether 13 

it ought to have been renewed in the circumstances which 14 

prevailed at the time.  There is no criticism that 15 

appropriate approval was obtained from Cabinet, but it is 16 

the context in which it was obtained.  I say that because 17 

the original contract was the subject of a very critical 18 

report by the Auditor General.  Two months after that 19 

report was issued, the Cabinet saw fit to renew the same 20 

contract.   21 

   CHAIRMAN:  What were the dates? 22 

   MR. HARGUN:  I’ll show the dates.  The 23 

Auditor’s Report was, I believe, in March 2009.  If I can 24 

ask you to have a look at tab 7, and the Report is -- The 25 
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relevant part of the Report I want to show you is at page 1 

14.  The date was February 2009, I believe, for this 2 

Report, and you see that, Mr. Chairman, if you look at the 3 

beginning of the page, the Report at pages 2005. 4 

   CHAIRMAN:   2005? 5 

   MR. HARGUN:   Yes.  This is the Special 6 

Report of the Auditor.  You’ll see that in two pages, page 7 

199 and page 205.  I’m sorry, it’s page 4 and page 8.  The 8 

relevant part, as I say, I want you to refer to is at page 9 

14.  This is the Special Report in February 2009.  You’ll 10 

see there the background given to this issue.  In 2004 the 11 

Department contracted with Global Hue, an American 12 

advertising agency, to arrange for the performance of 13 

services in connection with the preparation and placement 14 

of advertising for leisure travel, group and incentive 15 

travel, and travel trade.   16 

             Global Hue contracts with media buying 17 

agencies to place advertising with media vendors such as 18 

print, radio, and television companies.  Pursuant to the 19 

contract, Global Hue receives annually a fixed fee and is 20 

prohibited from adding any further markups to invoices 21 

submitted for advertising purchased.  The media buying 22 

agency most used by Global Hue under the contract is 23 

Cornerstone Media, another American company.   24 

   So you have Global Hue, and then Global Hue 25 
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itself uses, in effect, a sub-agent, and that is 1 

Cornerstone Media.  For 2006 the Department of Tourism 2 

provided Global Hue with a budget of ten million dollars to 3 

be spent for the above-mentioned purposes, plus a fee of 4 

1.4 million for doing so.  So you can see that it is a 5 

reasonably substantial contract costing the Government in 6 

the region of 11.4 million dollars a year, and it is per 7 

annum.   8 

   The Department’s contract with Global Hue 9 

allows Global Hue to pre-bill the Department in time for 10 

Global Hue to meet the payment dates of media, and earn any 11 

cash discounts offered.  So if an expenditure is going to 12 

be incurred, Global Hue decides how much expenditure is 13 

likely to be incurred, it pre-bills the Government, the 14 

Government pays.  Then, or after the advertising occurs, 15 

the media vendors bill Cornerstone.  Cornerstone bills 16 

Global Hue for the media vendors’ charges plus its own 17 

markup, and Global Hue in turn bills the Department for 18 

charges submitted to it by Cornerstone.   19 

   At that time, any difference between the 20 

amounts that Global Hue pre-billed the Department and the 21 

actual amounts charged by Cornerstone should be reconciled.  22 

So just to explain, Global Hue doesn’t actually contract 23 

with the advertising people that actually provide the 24 

advertising or with the television stations if that’s what 25 
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is used.  That is done by Cornerstone.   1 

    Even though the amount is collected 2 

following a pre-billing by Global Hue, Global Hue doesn’t 3 

actually pass that on to Cornerstone, it waits for 4 

Cornerstone to contract with the vendors, and the vendors 5 

in due course bill Cornerstone.  Cornerstone then passes on 6 

those bills, plus its own commission, and then Global Hue 7 

pays Cornerstone.  If there is any difference, then they 8 

charge the Government again. 9 

   It’s a rather cumbersome procedure, but 10 

that’s how it works.  Then in the final paragraph, as 11 

Auditor General, I have no legal or -- Sorry, the previous 12 

paragraph… When or after the advertising occurs, the media 13 

vendors -- Yes, I’ve done that.  As Auditor General I have 14 

no legal or other authority to require Global Hue or 15 

Cornerstone to provide me with records or information.  16 

However, the contract requires Global Hue to maintain 17 

accurate and detailed records of expenditure and 18 

liabilities incurred in connection with advertising (in 19 

place ?) for the Department and to give the Department 20 

access to those records subject to certain conditions and 21 

limitations.  I would expect the Department to obtain from 22 

Global Hue the documentation needed to demonstrate that the 23 

expenditure it incurs under the contract are valid and 24 

reasonable. 25 
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   Then these are the Audit Findings and 1 

Conclusions.   I have misgivings about the appropriateness 2 

of some payments to Global Hue for the following reasons.  3 

Pre-billing for goods and services except where unavoidable 4 

is prohibited by Government policy as set out in the 5 

Accounting General’s Financial Instructions.  Global Hue 6 

pays Cornerstone after the advert has run, so I see no 7 

reason why Global Hue needs to be paid in advance. 8 

   Advance payments remain with Global Hue and 9 

do not percolate down to media buyer where discounts can be 10 

obtained.  No instances were observed where the Department 11 

was the beneficiary of discounts earned by paying early.   12 

   Then this critical finding: Cornerstone does 13 

not provide Global Hue, and Global Hue does not provide the 14 

Department with copy of media vendors’ invoices.  The 15 

Department is, therefore, unable to verify that amounts it 16 

is billed are correct.  It also makes a mockery of the 17 

contractual right of the Government of Bermuda or its 18 

authorized representative to inspect and audit the books, 19 

accounts, and records of Global Hue. 20 

   Global Hue has consistently refused to 21 

provide media vendors’ invoices to support their billings.  22 

In a written response to earlier Department requests it 23 

stated that we do not require Cornerstone to provide us 24 

with copies of invoices for media outlets; that’s their 25 
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business.  1 

   So you understand, we have this 2 

extraordinary position where substantial amounts of money 3 

are being spent to the tune of about ten million dollars.  4 

Global Hue receives 1.4 million dollars for its services to 5 

actually arrange that.  The ten million dollars is actually 6 

for actual advertising.  The advertising is not actually 7 

done through Global Hue but is done through a sub-agent 8 

appointed by Global Hue, and that’s Cornerstone.   9 

   It was the position for a long time taken by 10 

Cornerstone and Global Hue that the Cornerstone actually 11 

would not provide the invoices.  These are invoices 12 

incurred on behalf of the Government of Bermuda where a 13 

substantial expenditure is being incurred on behalf of the 14 

Government of Bermuda, but their position was that they 15 

will not actually give the invoices to Global Hue, which in 16 

turn could pass it on to the Auditor General in Bermuda or 17 

to the Ministry of Tourism.   18 

   So one asks, on what basis could the 19 

Minister of Tourism be satisfied that the amounts claimed 20 

by Cornerstone and then passed on to Global Hue could be 21 

verified.  The short point was that they could not be 22 

verified, but it was an extraordinary situation taken by, 23 

certainly as a matter of legal analysis, Global Hue would 24 

be the agent, sub-agent of Global Hue who are a contracting 25 
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party.  There is no reason as a matter of legal analysis 1 

why that material should not have been provided to the 2 

Ministry. 3 

   Then to carry on with the Auditor General’s 4 

Report, following a repeated request from the Department at 5 

the prompting of the Auditors, Global Hue informed the 6 

Department that Cornerstone was refusing to provide the 7 

requested media vendors’ invoices.  Without seeing media 8 

vendors’ invoices, I have to wonder how Global Hue could 9 

ensure its client, the Department, was not being 10 

overcharged.  One would assume that was one of the services 11 

for which the Department was paying 1.4 million dollars.  12 

   After some further delays, I informed the 13 

Ministry of Finance that the Department’s inability to 14 

obtain copies of the vendors’ invoices created an 15 

unacceptable limitation of my audit scope, one that could 16 

result in a qualification in the Audit Opinion on the 17 

Consolidated Funds Financial Statements.  Shortly 18 

thereafter, copies of the invoices were provided. 19 

   And then this; one can see that why 20 

initially there was some hesitation in providing those 21 

invoices.  The media vendors’ invoices show that 22 

Cornerstone’s markup during 2008 varied considerably.  On 23 

some it was minimal, and for others it was as high as 171 24 

to 186 percent.  So, it you have a situation where in 25 



COMMISSION OF INQUIRY, SEPTEMBER 29, 2016                                                                                            FINAL UNEDITED TRANSCRIPT 

 70 

relation to a disbursement incurred on behalf of the 1 

Government of Bermuda by Cornerstone, say $100.00, their 2 

commission was an additional $186.00, so that Cornerstone 3 

was invoicing Global Hue $286.00 for a disbursement of 4 

$1.00 which was being paid for by the Government of 5 

Bermuda.   6 

   It’s in those circumstances that they were 7 

initially taking the position that we were not going to 8 

disclose any of the invoices which we have paid to the 9 

vendors on behalf of the Government of Bermuda. 10 

   CHAIRMAN:  Was that the attitude taken by 11 

Global Hue? 12 

   MR. HARGUN:   Global Hue’s position was that 13 

under the contract we are not entitled to it.   14 

   CHAIRMAN:  They knew… They had the invoices 15 

themselves.  16 

   MR. HARGUN:   Well, it’s not clear that they 17 

did.  Their position was that we don’t have the invoices.  18 

Under the contract, Global Hue was being charged -- was 19 

charging 1.4 million dollars for its service, and the 20 

service was a campaign of advertising.  They carried out 21 

that campaign of advertising through Cornerstone.   22 

   Then the Auditor General goes on, a 23 

Cornerstone representative informed my auditor that 171 24 

percent and 186 percent markup represented Cornerstone’s 25 
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profit margin, but should not be viewed in isolation.  She 1 

said that the average markup for the year was more like 30 2 

percent.   3 

   To test this assertion, at my request the 4 

Department prepared a schedule of all Cornerstone invoices 5 

for the year, and the markup charged.  Overall, the markup 6 

of all services billed for Cornerstone averaged 51 percent.  7 

I understand that the more normal industry agency 8 

commission is 15 percent.  In my view, a 30 percent markup 9 

would be high.  A 51 percent markup is excessive and raises 10 

suspicions.   11 

   After this, the annual fee of 1.4 million 12 

dollars, 1.62 million dollars in 2009 for the work that 13 

Global Hue does and the total amounts that the Department 14 

pays for arranging and placing advertising appears to be 15 

extraordinarily generous.  If the agency commissions on the 16 

advertising placed and the bills by Cornerstone had been 15 17 

percent, the Department would have paid approximately 1.8 18 

million less for a broadcast media buy during 2008. 19 

   So these are substantial amounts.  In order 20 

to reveal that the Department does not always receive 21 

credit when prepaid advertising is cancelled or otherwise 22 

does not occur.  For example, on the Minister’s 23 

instructions the Department sponsored a televised 24 

basketball in New York involving Howard University.  Part 25 
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of the $80,000.00 paid to Global Hue was for two 30 second 1 

advertising slots during the game.  I was informed that a 2 

subsequent check by the Department revealed that the 3 

adverts were not shown.  Whether Global Hue received a 4 

refund is unknown, but I can find no record that the 5 

Department did. 6 

   I was informed that the previous director of 7 

sales and marketing resigned in 2007, shortly after he 8 

began pressing Global Hue to obtain copies of the media 9 

vendors’ invoices.  Global Hue considered that the 10 

director’s action constituted micromanaging the contract.  11 

Under the terms of the confidentiality agreement, the 12 

director of sales and marketing received a severance 13 

settlement which included unused vacation entitlement and 14 

vested pension contributions totaled more than $400,000.00.  15 

           The Civil Service and normal expectations 16 

of employment have rules and regulations governing the 17 

dismissal of public employees who are non-performing, 18 

underperforming or improperly performing.  Applying those 19 

rules to the director of sales and marketing would suggest 20 

that a payment of $132,000.00.  Any additional payments 21 

would be as arranged with the head of the Civil Service. 22 

   A payment of more than $40,000.00 therefore 23 

raises questions.  And the conclusion you see is that in my 24 

view the above findings and conclusions combine to cast 25 
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considerable doubt on the relationship between the 1 

Department of Tourism and Global Hue, and the value for 2 

money obtained by the Department of Tourism for its 3 

advertising dollar.  We also cast doubt on the ability or 4 

the willingness of some Department officials to ensure that 5 

the key internal controls operate effectively or critically 6 

at times.  7 

   So, that’s the Auditor’s Report, a critical 8 

Auditor’s Report as I say, in February 2009.  Then if you 9 

look at the next document at page 18, in less than two 10 

months, on March 18, 2009, the Government Minister of 11 

Tourism entered into, in fact, as they put it, they renewed 12 

that contract.  You will see that the contract is renewed 13 

in paragraph 1, if look at the last line, for the period of 14 

1st of April 2009 to the 31st of March 2011 for a period of 15 

two years.  You will see that the substantial amounts which 16 

are involved in this contract, if you look at the 17 

compensation schedule at paragraph 7 at page 21, the 18 

Department of Tourism agrees to provide Global Hue with a 19 

budget not to exceed 13.7 million dollars.   For the period 20 

of the first year of the agreement, this budget is 21 

inclusive of fees, production, media out of pocket expenses 22 

associated to servicing of advertising. 23 

   The Department of Tourism agrees to provide 24 

Global Hue with a budget not to exceed $550,000.00 for a 25 
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period of the first year for direct marketing.  Then, as 1 

full consideration for the performance of services rendered 2 

pursuant to this agreement, the Department of Tourism 3 

agrees to the following terms and conditions of the annual 4 

fee.  One, Tourism shall pay Global Hue for the performance 5 

of services by annual fee.  And if you look at the 6 

paragraph 2, the fee -- annual fee -- would be 1.619 7 

million dollars by payment of monthly installments of 8 

$134,990.00 each.  Then an additional sum of 12.3 million 9 

dollars for advertising media services. 10 

   So these are very substantial sums.  But as 11 

I said, you will see that despite the criticism in the 12 

Auditor’s Report it was renewed in less than two months.  13 

We will explore that in evidence when we see the witnesses. 14 

   The final contract I want to refer to is a 15 

contract with -- a consultancy contract with a U.S. firm 16 

called Ambling Services -- Consultancy.  That you will find 17 

at tab 8.  The document I want to refer to is the Cabinet 18 

Conclusions, so you would have it in your small Binder.  19 

This is Cabinet Conclusion 070817 dated 4th of March, 2008. 20 

This was -- the page number should be 81.  Do you have it, 21 

Mr. Barritt?   22 

    Well, if you look at this Cabinet 23 

Conclusion, Ambling Development Partners Consultancy 24 

Agreement.  Introducing this Memorandum, the Premier -- the 25 
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Premier at the time was also Minister of Tourism -- 1 

informed Cabinet that its purpose was to invite their 2 

approval of the engagement of Ambling Development Partners 3 

as consultants to the Government of Bermuda on terms set 4 

out in the Draft Agreement which was attached to the 5 

Memorandum as Annex 1.  The Premier also informed Cabinet 6 

that with the ground of special development orders and the 7 

provision of Government’s assistance preparatory to actual 8 

development, the demolition and construction phases on 9 

various developments was set to begin in earnest and that 10 

the provisional expert advice at the pre-development stage 11 

had been critical to the success of the hotel development 12 

and similar oversight, and advised them that the 13 

construction and site management phase was most desirable.   14 

   In just pausing there, most of the expertise 15 

consultation which you sought is in the nature of project 16 

development, capital project development, in the nature of 17 

buildings, civil engineering projects, not necessarily in 18 

Tourism.  He referred Cabinet attention to consideration of 19 

the award of contract for construction of Dame Lois Browne 20 

Evans Building and emphasis placed on the need to shore up 21 

the project management ability within the Ministry of Works 22 

and Engineering and noted that in particular the Ministry 23 

of Works and Engineering require the variety of 24 

consultative services and project management style 25 
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oversight on the following projects:  Dame Lois Browne 1 

Building, the asbestos abatement and demolition of the 2 

former Club Med site, the remediation and pre-development 3 

phases of Morgans’s Point.  Again, all Works and 4 

Engineering projects.   5 

   He also noted that the Ministry of 6 

Environment and Sports required a complete strategic review 7 

of the Department of Planning, and in conjunction with the 8 

Minister of Tourism and Transport must devise a formula to 9 

assess the impact fees payable to the Government as a 10 

result of development of new hotels.  The Premier informed 11 

Cabinet that he had proposed that the Ambling Development 12 

Partners, whose principal is Mr. Eddy Benoit, was known to 13 

Cabinet, would be engaged to provide these various services 14 

pursuant to the Consultancy Agreement with the Government 15 

of Bermuda.   16 

   He referred Cabinet’s attention to Annex 2 17 

which was a profile of the company, the experience in the 18 

areas concerned, and a useful extract from a recent 19 

development undertaking at Ambling Development Partners.  20 

He also informed the Cabinet that the cost associated with 21 

the agreement would be borne equally by the Ministry of 22 

Tourism and Transport, Works and Engineering, and the 23 

Environment and Sports for existing allocations in fiscal 24 

2008/2009, and as such, no money was required. 25 



COMMISSION OF INQUIRY, SEPTEMBER 29, 2016                                                                                            FINAL UNEDITED TRANSCRIPT 

 77 

   The Premier informed Cabinet that the 1 

Minister of Finance had been consulted and did not support 2 

the Memorandum.  So, this is one of the rare situations 3 

where the Minister of Finance was actually not in favor of 4 

this engagement.  The Minister of Finance informed Cabinet 5 

that she had difficulties ordering the Memorandum because 6 

the contract had not been put to tender.  So, her objection 7 

was, among other things, that there was no tender. 8 

   She also noted that as tender documents had 9 

not been issued with respect to the Department of Planning 10 

project, to ensure the credibility of process, her 11 

selection of a consultant from amongst those who had 12 

applied for the consultancy should be completed.  So she is 13 

basically saying that in the past it is said that if the 14 

Planning Department requires a consultant that should be 15 

through a different mode.   16 

   The Premier noted that the request for 17 

quotation, not a request for proposal, had been circulated 18 

for/by the Department of Planning project.   The Minister 19 

of Labor and Home Affairs and Housing expressed his belief 20 

that because of the nature of the issues within the 21 

Department of Planning, the Department should be viewed as 22 

a separate project.  So, then the Minister of Finance also 23 

noted that she had been informed by her technical officers 24 

that a project manager had already been engaged for the 25 
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construction of the Dame Lois Browne Evans Building.   1 

   So as far as the Dame Lois Browne Building 2 

was concerned, the so called consultancy required for that 3 

had already been taken (because a consultant had been hired 4 

?).  As far as planning was concerned, there were other 5 

issues.  But you will see that the focus to the extent that 6 

self-consultancy is required, the focus is the Department 7 

of Works and Engineering.  That’s really the focus of it.  8 

It’s difficult to see what role the Minister of Tourism has 9 

to do with it.  If it does, it’s very marginal.   10 

   CHAIRMAN:  Does it record a decision? 11 

   MR. HARGUN:  Yes, it does, if you look at 12 

the next page. 13 

   CHAIRMAN:   Oh, I see. 14 

   MR. HARGUN:  On the next page, the Minister 15 

of Environment and Sports informed the Cabinet that it had 16 

been his intention to bring the Memorandum. 17 

   CHAIRMAN:   Can we have just one copy?  18 

Maybe you could arrange.   19 

   MS LUCK:   It’s in the main body.  We have 20 

got it. 21 

   MR. HARGUN:   That would be at tab 8, page 22 

3.  The Minister of the Environment and Sports informed 23 

Cabinet that it had been the intention to bring a 24 

Memorandum to Cabinet recommending the engagement of 25 
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another company to conduct the review of the Department of 1 

Planning.  So the Minister of Environment is looking at 2 

another engagement. 3 

   The Minister of Works and Engineering noted 4 

that the engagement of one company to carry out the 5 

remediation and redevelopment phases at Morgan’s Point 6 

would result in cost savings.  So, despite the opposition 7 

of the Minister of Finance and reservations by the others, 8 

the Cabinet approved the engagement of Ambling Development 9 

Partners as consultants to the Government of Bermuda on 10 

terms set out in the Draft Agreement attached as Annex 1 to 11 

the Memorandum.   12 

   Then look at the agreement which was with 13 

the Cabinet approved.  That you will find at page 4.  Now 14 

the first thing to look at is the engagement one would 15 

expect would be with the Ministry most connected, most in 16 

need of this consultancy, namely Works and Engineering.  17 

But the consultancy is with the Ministry of Tourism.   18 

   The letter is addressed to Mr. Benoit 19 

saying, this constitutes a letter of agreement between the 20 

Department of Tourism acting on behalf of the Government of 21 

Bermuda whose principal place of business is Global House, 22 

and Ambling International Consulting situated in Atlanta as 23 

consultant to the Ministry of Tourism.  So they are 24 

consulting to the Ministry of Tourism and Transport in the 25 
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provision of tourism lodging, development consultancy 1 

services as outlined below from the date of signing on the 2 

31st of March 2011.    3 

     One thing you should note is the 4 

generalization of the services performed.  To put it 5 

another way, one is trying to see what exactly are the 6 

consultancy services they are performing.  It’s not easy to 7 

pin it down.   8 

        Services to be performed:  Ambling shall 9 

carry out for the Department of Tourism subject to the 10 

following terms and conditions that task assignments and 11 

duties set out in Schedule B of the agreement.  The 12 

compensation is set out in Schedule A.  Duration of the 13 

contract is until the 31st of March 2011.   14 

    If you then please go to page 7, you will 15 

see that this contract is signed by Mr. William Griffith, 16 

Director of Tourism, on behalf of the Government.  At the 17 

next page, page 8, you will see that for the services 18 

Ambling International Consulting will be paid a sum of 19 

$400,000.00 per annum, and expenses, including travel 20 

costs.  For performance of services under Schedule B of the 21 

agreement, Ambling will submit 12 monthly invoices of 22 

$33,333.00.   23 

    So if one looks at what are the -- this is -24 

- they will receive this whether any consultancy services 25 
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are performed or not.  This is the retainer, the 1 

$400,000.00 a year.   2 

   CHAIRMAN:   Before you turn from that page, 3 

the fee was to be paid monthly by the Dept. of Tourism but 4 

any expenses were to be sent to the Ministry of Works and 5 

Engineering? 6 

   MR. HARGUN:   Yes.  Yes.   7 

   CHAIRMAN:   Would there be any valid reason 8 

for that? 9 

   MR. HARGUN:   No.  It’s not clear to me as 10 

to why it is.  I should have also -- if you -- I should 11 

have shown you paragraph 10 of the contract, which is at 9 12 

and 10.  Records and Inspections, you will see -- Forgive 13 

me, it’s at page 5, paragraph 9, 9.1.  Ambling shall 14 

maintain full and accurate records with respect to all 15 

matters covered under the agreement.  2. Ambling shall have 16 

free access at all times to such records and the right to 17 

examine and inspect, and audit same and to make transcript 18 

therefrom.   19 

   Then paragraph 10, Ambling shall furnish 20 

periodic written reports concerning the status of and such 21 

other information relating to assignments in such form as 22 

the Secretary to the Cabinet, Permanent Secretary of the 23 

Ministry of Tourism and Transport and Director of Tourism 24 

may from time to time require.  We have not seen any 25 
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reports prepared by Ambling in relation to any of the 1 

assignments which they were asked to undertake. 2 

   CHAIRMAN:   The Cabinet memorandum quotes 3 

the Premier as saying that Cabinet members were familiar 4 

with the individual to whose company this contract is being 5 

awarded.   6 

   MR. HARGUN:   Yes.    7 

   CHAIRMAN:   Do you know anything to explain 8 

that?  9 

   MR. HARGUN:   I -- we do not.  We do not.  10 

Mr. Sidley, his C.V. can be accessed on the internet.   11 

   CHAIRMAN:  Yes.  The inference made would 12 

appear to be from what was recorded in the Minutest that 13 

the person was known to the Premier, and the Premier was 14 

saying to the Cabinet, do you know who this is because it’s 15 

somebody I’ve introduced to you but it may mean, 16 

conversely, you know about this person because he’s had 17 

previous contracts with the Government.   18 

   MR. HARGUN:   I can’t assist you on that.  19 

And there will be -- to clarify.   20 

   CHAIRMAN:  There are possible explanations 21 

but it’s an interesting observation. 22 

   MR. HARGUN:   Yes, and the services which 23 

they’ve undertaken to provide are set out at Schedule (D/B 24 

?), at page 9.  These are the services they were going to 25 
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perform.   1 

       Primary duties of the consultant:  oversee 2 

the implementation of Ambling’s recommended operational and 3 

internal policy changes to Planning Department.  Assist the 4 

Minister with the presentation of new financial fee model 5 

for increased revenue generation within the Department for 6 

Cabinet’s approval.  Oversee the Department of new building 7 

control fee billing process, and assess the need for fee 8 

increases in the Department of Environment, Protection and 9 

Marine and Ports.   10 

    B. Develop a new impact fee model that would 11 

be assessed on proposed larger commercial projects on the 12 

Island that would exceed a minimum of 50 million dollars in 13 

total cost of value.  These fees would be collected by both 14 

Ministry of Works and Engineering and the Ministry of 15 

Environment and Supports.   16 

    C. Provide general consultancy services 17 

during the development and consultation of the Grand 18 

Atlantic Hotel and affordable housing residences.  D. 19 

Provide program management services for the development 20 

agreement negotiations, land lease structure, land swap, 21 

Southlands and the master planning overview of Morgan’s 22 

Point’s envisioned five-star hotel development at the 23 

P.G.A. golf course.   24 

    Provide general consultancy services to the 25 
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Ministry of Works and Engineering in respect to the 1 

demolition and environmental remediation work on Morgan’s 2 

Point. Oversee the request for bid process with 3 

international and Bermudian bidders.  Review all 4 

qualifications and team structures, value engineers, the 5 

overall budget costs for the scope of services and oversee 6 

the remediation work through completion.    7 

   Provide program management services with 8 

Bazarian Group during the development, closing and 9 

construction phases for the former Club Med site which will 10 

be the new Park Hyatt five-star resort hotel and golf 11 

course in St. George’s Parish.   12 

   G.  Assist the Ministry of Tourism and 13 

Transport for the final development agreement and closing 14 

process for the construction of St. Regis Hotel and 15 

Condominiums on Par-la-Ville Road, which we know that never 16 

occurred.   17 

   Then provide consultancy services on other 18 

special assignments by Government Cabinet committees or 19 

special hotel developments including Tucker’s Point and 20 

S.D.O.s for Monroe Beach and Lantana condominium projects. 21 

   I.  Ambling shall work the hours required to 22 

perform the primary duties subject to reasonable needs of 23 

the Ministry of Tourism.  Ambling’s obligations are, shall 24 

completely assign them in a sound, economic and efficient 25 
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manner in accordance with the provisions of the agreement. 1 

   The Witness Statement of Cherie-Lynn Whitter 2 

who was the Director of Tourism -- Forgive me, P.S. of 3 

Tourism, at paragraph 32 says, as far as I’m aware Ambling 4 

provided hotel development consultation for the Cabinet 5 

Office and by extension, the Department that had 6 

responsibility for various aspects of hotel development in 7 

accordance with the relevant legislation. 8 

   As noted above, whilst I was the Permanent 9 

Secretary of Ministry of Tourism and Transport at the time, 10 

the responsibility for hotel development remained the 11 

responsibility of the Cabinet Office.  I have not been able 12 

to determine if any reports were produced and, therefore, I 13 

am unable to provide copies.   14 

   You should note that certainly as far as the 15 

fees are concerned, they were not just $400,000.00 a year.  16 

We can note from just looking at page 17, you will see an 17 

email to the Accountant General, as per the discussion 18 

thread, Ambling has a number of consultancy projects with 19 

the Government of Bermuda in a number of Departments.  To 20 

date, the Government has paid the company 3.2 million 21 

dollars.   22 

   We have just received a copy of Ambling 23 

contract 1.38 million with Ambling International 24 

Consultants, L.L.C.  This is a different name than Ambling 25 
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Development Company Holdings, L.L.C. stated in the 1 

discussions but is likely related.  She says, I want you to 2 

observe $920,000.00 in eight payments of $115,000.00 3 

monthly amount of contract quoted to professional services 4 

to Department 35 Tourism and (50 ?) Environment, and so on.   5 

   So it’s very substantial sums that chose 6 

hands under this consultancy contract. 7 

   CHAIRMAN:   Over what period was the fee of 8 

3.2 million? 9 

   MR. HARGUN:  Well, the -- If one looks at 10 

the contract, the contract’s commencement date was -- It 11 

didn’t start until May of 2010.  Certainly, this email is 12 

dated June 23rd, 2010.  By that date they are talking about 13 

to date the Government has been paid -- To date the 14 

Government has paid the company 3.2 million dollars.   15 

   CHAIRMAN:   So there were earlier contracts?  16 

   MR. HARGUN:   I’m not certain there were, 17 

but I don’t want to (indiscernible 12:29:33).  My 18 

impression was this was the first contract.   19 

   MS. LUCK:  I mean, lower down on 8.17, that 20 

email to the head of the Auditor General says the contract 21 

was effective from March 10th, 2008 to March 12, 2010. 22 

   MR. HARGUN:   Yes.   23 

   CHAIRMAN:   And that might tally up the 24 

remark about members of the Cabinet knowing. 25 
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   MR. HARGUN:   Being familiar; yes.  The 1 

contract.  So that does suggest that there was an earlier 2 

contract; yes.  So obviously we will take it further with 3 

the witnesses.   4 

   That is all I’ve got. 5 

   MS. LUCK:   Have you done No. 6, Central  6 

               Labs? 7 

   MR. HARGUN:  I’m told we have skipped it.   8 

   CHAIRMAN:   That was Central Lab was one of 9 

        the four you mentioned yesterday? 10 

   MR. HARGUN:   Yes, I did indeed.  This was a 11 

contract to build a laboratory in Southside, and there 12 

appears to be no Cabinet approval.  The decision to award 13 

the contract was taken by the Minister.  Furthermore, the 14 

Minister also took on operational rule -- role, rather, in 15 

that he was very much involved in the awarding of the 16 

contract and, indeed, the specification for the contract. 17 

   If you look at -- this was a sadly odd 18 

situation where a tender was put out to build this 19 

laboratory at a particular place in Warwick -- In Pa 20 

get, and that was going to be built in the property owned 21 

by -- not by Government but by a third party.  22 

Subsequently, the Minister took the position that it should 23 

not be there, but it should be in Southside in a property 24 

owned by Government Quango.  But the same specifications 25 
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were used.  There is a suggestion that in relation to one 1 

of the bids, the Minister indicated that certain 2 

specification need not be complied with.   3 

   Can I just show you the material, and then 4 

we can take it up further with the witnesses?  If you look 5 

at the original bid which is at page 6, you’ll see the 6 

scope of work in paragraph 1, and in paragraph 3 you’ll see 7 

the responses.  They were from DeCosta, Greymane, Bird 8 

Construction, Concorde, and (Cordoron ?).   9 

   In the details of responses you will see, it 10 

says Concorde Construction submitted their tender on the 11 

superseded form but did not indicate the previous addenda 12 

were included, and indicated a completion date of 7th of 13 

May 2010.  Then if you go on page 8, the first full 14 

paragraph, the Ministry of Works and Engineer original 15 

estimate for the scope of work to relocate to Lolly’s Well 16 

was one million three hundred and seventy-four thousand.   17 

   It should be noted that the pre-fit out work 18 

would be required at Southside, such as roof repairs, 19 

asbestos abatement, mold clean up, and abatement and 20 

stripping out the existing building services and finishes 21 

to the whole building which is approximately 13,000 square 22 

feet in size in order to accommodate the 5,000 square feet 23 

fit out.  The cost for this brief fit out can be in excess 24 

of ($700,000.00 ?).   25 
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   Then the tender evaluation, Concorde 1 

Construction’s tender is almost 30 percent below that of 2 

the next bid, which raises concerns regarding their 3 

understanding of the project.  The highest bidder is almost 4 

20 percent higher than the second highest bidder.  The 5 

remaining three bidders are within five percent of each 6 

other.  However, it is not clear if Bird Construction had 7 

included for all works.  The closeness of the bids is a 8 

good indicator that the bidders understand the same type, 9 

same scope of work.   10 

   The Minister called for a site visit on 11 

Monday, March 22nd, 2010 with a P.S., architects from the 12 

Department of Architectural Design and Construction, and 13 

Vernon Burgess of Concorde Construction in order to seek 14 

assurance from Mr. Burgess that the bid included all the 15 

work that was required.   16 

   On Friday, March 26th, 2010 the Department 17 

received the following information from Concorde 18 

Construction.  The bid increase from $886,000.00 to 19 

$974,000.00, the bid does not include allowances for 20 

$159,000.00 for air conditioning work as was required in 21 

the documents.  The Minister intimated at the site visit 22 

that this would not be required based on the arrangement 23 

with B.L.D.C.   24 

   So the suggestion there is that the 25 



COMMISSION OF INQUIRY, SEPTEMBER 29, 2016                                                                                            FINAL UNEDITED TRANSCRIPT 

 90 

(specs/steps ?) required for air conditioning work, the 1 

Minister indicated to this particular bidder that that 2 

would not be required.  The bid does not include a new 3 

ceiling, as was required in the documents as the Minister 4 

noted at the site visit that B.L.D.C. would provide a new 5 

ceiling.  It was on that basis the sum of $974,000.00 was 6 

bid, and that bid was accepted. 7 

   In that regard I should show you -- I’ll 8 

just read it.  Paragraph 61 of the Witness Statement of 9 

Permanent Secretary Horton.  He says, with respect to the 10 

Commission’s current understanding as set out in the 11 

opening paragraph, I confirm that the tender process 12 

changed from a tender to fit out a building in Lolly’s 13 

Well, Smith’s, to a tender to fit out a building at 14 

Southside, St. George’s -- St. David’s.  I confirm that the 15 

Minister of Works and Engineering expressed concern about 16 

the tendering process at an early stage, specifically 17 

regarding the wisdom of spending public funds to improve a 18 

privately owned building.   19 

   He went on to express support for the award 20 

of contract to Concorde Construction.  I confirm that 21 

during a site meeting with Concorde and technical staff of 22 

the Ministry of Works and Engineering at Southside, the 23 

Minister of Works and Engineering agreed to reduce the 24 

tender requirements for Concorde.  I also confirm that the 25 
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contract award recommendation originally prepared by the 1 

Ministry of Works and Engineering technical specialists was 2 

amended to remove some details. 3 

   That is the background to that particular 4 

project, and we will pursue it in evidence.   5 

   That is all I was proposing to say by way of 6 

introducing the material so that we can have a common 7 

understanding when we pursue it with witnesses. 8 

   CHAIRMAN:   Thank you very much indeed.  9 

               We will now go onto the first witness who 10 

will be Dr. Binns. 11 

   MR. HARGUN:   Dr. Binns.   12 

   CHAIRMAN:   That will be at 2:00? 13 

   MR. HARGUN:  2:00. 14 

(Recess taken.) 15 

(Recess ended.) 16 

   NARINDER HARGUN:   Mr. Chairman, the first 17 

witness who is going to give evidence in relation to his 18 

Witness Statement is Dr. Derrick Binns.   19 

   DR. DERRICK BINNS: (sworn in)   I swear by 20 

Almighty God that the evidence that I shall give shall be 21 

the truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the truth. 22 

   MR. HARGUN:  Good afternoon, Dr. Binns. 23 

   DR. BINNS:   Certainly. 24 

   Mr. HARGUN:  Dr. Binns, you have given a 25 
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Witness Statement to this Inquiry, and that Witness 1 

Statement is dated the 16th of September, 2016.  Do you 2 

have a copy of that Witness Statement?  Can you confirm 3 

today that the contents of that Witness Statement are 4 

correct? 5 

   DR. BINNS:  They are correct.   6 

   MR. HARGUN:   This Witness Statement will be 7 

posted on the website so I’m not going to go through each 8 

and every item.  I just want to touch upon some of the main 9 

points.   10 

   In this Witness Statement, you have given 11 

evidence in relation to your views on processing of 12 

payments. 13 

   DR. BINNS:   Yes.   14 

   MR. HARGUN:  Issues arising out of Heritage 15 

Wharf. 16 

   DR. BINNS:   Yes. 17 

   MR. HARGUN:   And issues relating to the 18 

Dame Lois Browne Evans Building. 19 

   DR. BINNS:   Correct. 20 

   MR. HARGUN:   Yes.  Can I ask you some 21 

general questions in relation to Heritage Wharf, and the 22 

issue of delegation?  I don’t want to ask you any questions 23 

in relation to the legalities.  You know, there is a debate 24 

as to whether authority for the purposes of Financial 25 
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Instructions and project management can be transferred as a 1 

matter of law from one Ministry to another.   2 

   Forget about the legal aspects of it.  3 

That’s not what I’m going to talk to you about; okay?  I 4 

want to talk to you about the whole commercial sense of 5 

doing that, whether it makes good sense, whether it makes 6 

good business sense, to delegate authority for the purposes 7 

of projects from one Ministry to another. 8 

   Now say, for example, take Heritage Wharf.  9 

Heritage Wharf would be considered one of the large civil 10 

engineering projects on behalf of the Government of 11 

Bermuda; would you agree with that? 12 

   DR. BINNS:   I agree. 13 

   MR. HARGUN:   Am I right in assuming that 14 

Works and Engineering is the only Department within 15 

Government which has the expertise to deal with civil 16 

engineering projects of this magnitude? 17 

   DR. BINNS:  The only in Government with its 18 

own forces to do that work, but that’s not prohibit other 19 

Ministries from getting other external sources to do the 20 

same work. 21 

   MR. HARGUN:  It is right that within 22 

Government the only Ministry which has that expertise is 23 

Works and Engineering? 24 

   DR. BINNS:   Has its own forces in house; 25 
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yes. 1 

   MR. HARGUN:   And that -- just concentrating 2 

on Works and Engineering, and you were Permanent Secretary 3 

of Works and Engineering -- 4 

   DR. BINNS:   For a period. 5 

   MR. HARGUN:   -- for a period of time.  Most 6 

of the projects which are civil engineering construction 7 

projects, what percentage would you say in the ordinary 8 

case are handled by the Works and Engineering on behalf of 9 

Government? 10 

   DR. BINNS:   That’s a difficult one for me 11 

to answer; I don’t know that. 12 

   MR. HARGUN:  Okay.  But would it be right to 13 

say that the majority of the -- 14 

   DR. BINNS:   It depends on the scope of the 15 

project. 16 

   MR. HARGUN:   Yes. 17 

   DR. BINNS:   And depends on how the capital 18 

budget is allocated for that period of time.  It depends on 19 

a number of staff that are available, and the capacity of 20 

that staff, and the professions of that staff.  So it may 21 

be necessary depending on all those factors for a number of 22 

projects to be outsourced.  Works and Engineering doesn’t 23 

necessarily do all the work, but they may take management 24 

responsibility for some of them, and may even externalize 25 
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some of that management responsibility as well.  It really 1 

depends on a number of factors. 2 

   MR. HARGUN:   Within the -- just 3 

concentrating on Works and Engineering, what sort of staff 4 

does it have in order to manage projects on behalf of 5 

Government? 6 

   DR. BINNS:   I can’t speak for what’s being 7 

used today.  I haven’t been in that mission for quite some 8 

time, and the structural organization has changed over 9 

time.  But traditionally you would have professional 10 

engineers assigned to the Ministry, you’d have professional 11 

architects assigned to the Ministry, quantity surveyors, 12 

you may have some professional project managers, accounting 13 

staff.  But it does vary over time. 14 

   MR. HARGUN:   Yes.  It’s right that in 15 

relation to large projects within Works and Engineering 16 

they make seek resources from outside? 17 

   DR. BINNS:   Yes, and for small budgets as 18 

well depending on the variables of the manageability.   19 

   MR. HARGUN:   Right.  It is right that other 20 

Ministries say, for example, Home Affairs and Public 21 

Safety, they would not have any of that resources? 22 

   DR. BINNS:   They wouldn’t need to.  They 23 

are not the Ministry that is heavily involved in capital 24 

Government projects so it would not necessarily be managing 25 
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or attending to that. 1 

   MR. HARGUN:   Likewise, in relation to the 2 

Ministry of Tourism, they are not involved in that and they 3 

would not have the expertise to do that. 4 

   DR. BINNS:   Well, they have been involved 5 

in capital Government projects. 6 

   MR. HARGUN:   They have been recently, but 7 

say, ten years ago, they did not have any resources for the 8 

purposes of large capital Government projects. 9 

   DR. BINNS:   I can’t speak for the 10 

Ministry’s staffing ten years ago.  I wasn’t in that 11 

Ministry, so I can’t speak to that. 12 

   MR. HARGUN:   In relation to -- in relation 13 

specifically to Heritage Wharf, you were asked to actually 14 

sign the contract as I understand it. 15 

   DR. BINNS:   That is correct.    16 

   MR. HARGUN:   Have a look at your Witness 17 

Statement.  Picking it up at paragraph 16 if you look at it 18 

right -- you say, “I should add, for the sake of 19 

completeness, that the first time I became directly 20 

involved in this project was when the then Cabinet 21 

Secretary and Permanent Secretary for the Ministry of 22 

Tourism and Transport, Mr. Telemaque, telephoned me on a 23 

Friday evening asking whether I could sign a contract 24 

engaging the Bermuda Government with Correia Construction 25 
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Company, Limited.”  Yes? 1 

   DR. BINNS:   Correct. 2 

   MR. HARGUN:   Then you say, “He informed me 3 

that he had been advised by the Attorney General’s Chambers 4 

that I, as Permanent Secretary for the then Ministry of 5 

Works and Engineering should sign it.”  Given that you were 6 

not -- your Ministry was not managing it and you were not 7 

negotiating this contract, why were you signing it? 8 

   DR. BINNS:   I cannot answer that.  That was 9 

an opinion of Chambers.  I did not get the opinion.  I 10 

accepted the recommendation, and I sought to apply the 11 

assistance of the Ministry of Works and Engineering to the 12 

project. 13 

   MR. HARGUN:   But there’s no reason -- Can 14 

you think of any reason why if the project has been managed 15 

by the Ministry of Tourism why they couldn’t sign it? 16 

   DR. BINNS:   I cannot answer that.  Perhaps 17 

-- again, I do not know what the rationale was at the time, 18 

but we did understand that the Ministry of Public Works had 19 

reviewed a number of construction contracts and engineering 20 

contracts, and perhaps they wanted us to ensure that we 21 

were satisfied with the contract. 22 

   MR. HARGUN:   Then you say in paragraph 17, 23 

you say, “My role at this stage was simply that of a 24 

service provider to a sister Ministry to provide expertise 25 
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in finalizing a highly technical contract.”  So this was, 1 

in your view, a highly technical contract? 2 

   DR. BINNS:   Yes. 3 

   MR. HARGUN:   Presumably your Ministry had 4 

the expertise; that’s why it’s been sent to you? 5 

   DR. BINNS:   Yes, presumably. 6 

   MR. HARGUN:   Presumably, the Ministry of 7 

Tourism doesn’t have that expertise. 8 

   DR. BINNS:   I can’t comment on that.  I can 9 

only comment on the fact that it was -- that a request was 10 

put to us to review the contract and sign it.  I cannot 11 

comment on what happened in another Ministry. 12 

   MR. HARGUN:   Then you say, “I did not see 13 

any need to go behind information provided to me by the 14 

then Cabinet Secretary given that this was a Ministry of 15 

Tourism and Transport project.  I agree that Works and 16 

Engineering would review the contract and subsequently 17 

execute it.”  What did you do in terms of reviewing the 18 

contract which was given to you? 19 

   DR. BINNS:   I called upon the Chief 20 

Engineer, and she called upon her engineers, and they took 21 

the document, and they reviewed it.  They made some 22 

amendments and brought it back. 23 

   MR. HARGUN:   Right.  It is right that the 24 

Chief Engineer, the other engineers which you had in your 25 
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Ministry, did not exist in the Ministry of Tourism? 1 

   DR. BINNS:   Not to my knowledge.   2 

   MR. HARGUN:   You then say, “Several changes 3 

to the contract were made by the technical officers” and by 4 

the technical officers I’m assuming that, in paragraph 18, 5 

that Dr. Binns, you’re talking about technical officers at 6 

Works and Engineering? 7 

   DR. BINNS:   Correct. 8 

   MR. HARGUN:   Yes.   Subsequently, it was 9 

vetted by the Attorney General’s Chambers.  We’ll have a 10 

look at some of the changes which you made.   “Once the 11 

contract was finalized, I signed it.  Once the work 12 

started, the technical officers within the Ministry of 13 

Works and Engineering attempted to do what they would 14 

ordinarily do in keeping with their responsibilities under 15 

Financial Instructions; that is obtain data in order to 16 

ensure expenditure was in accordance with the contract, 17 

thereby maintaining accounting responsibility for this 18 

capital project.”   Can you just elaborate on that as to 19 

you say your technical officers, once you signed it, they 20 

started doing -- taking steps in order to comply with 21 

Financial Instructions.  Like what? 22 

   DR. BINNS:   We would want -- when we sign a 23 

-- when at that time when we sign contracts, we would often 24 

then -- routinely then monitor those contracts and measure 25 
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performance against the contract, to ensure that other 1 

conditions of the contract were being complied with.   2 

   MR. HARGUN:   How do you do that? 3 

   DR. BINNS:  Actually, I don’t do that.  I 4 

rely on the professionals in the Ministry to do that.  They 5 

would go out to the site, they would get documentation, 6 

they would request payment to ensure that what was 7 

indicated on the invoice has been done, and they’ll sign 8 

off. 9 

   MR. HARGUN:   Yes, and all that work would 10 

be done by the technical officers in the Ministry of Works 11 

and Engineering? 12 

   DR. BINNS:   Those assigned to that 13 

particular project.   14 

   MR. HARGUN:   It is right, isn’t it, that 15 

the technical officers which we are talking about who would 16 

do that in order to comply with the Financial Instructions, 17 

those technical officers with those technical 18 

qualifications did not exist in the Ministry of Tourism? 19 

   DR. BINNS:   I cannot speak to that. 20 

   MR. HARGUN:  They did not have engineers did 21 

they? 22 

   DR. BINNS:   Again, I cannot speak to what 23 

the staffing was of the Ministry of Tourism at that time.  24 

I was not in the Ministry and I cannot account for who they 25 
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had or didn’t have, nor could I account for, as I mentioned 1 

earlier, sometimes it was possible to retain services 2 

externally to provide support.  So I cannot speak to what 3 

support they had provision for themselves. 4 

   MR. HARGUN:   My mistake.  The question I 5 

was asking was, looking at the structure of the Ministry of 6 

Tourism and its ordinary work force in terms of ordinary 7 

civil servants within the Department, you would not expect 8 

within the Ministry of Tourism to employ engineers. 9 

   DR. BINNS:   Again, you’re asking me to 10 

speculate on something that I do not know enough about. 11 

   MR. HARGUN:   Right. 12 

   DR. BINNS:   You’re putting out something to 13 

suggest what might have been. I can’t address that.  They 14 

might have employed engineers; I don’t know.  They might 15 

have engaged external resources; I do not know that.  So I 16 

don’t wish to comment on something that I cannot speak to. 17 

   MR. HARGUN:   I was -- my question was 18 

really whether they were in house resources, i.e., people 19 

employed internally as civil servants within the Ministry 20 

of Tourism. 21 

   DR. BINNS:   I’m not in a position to say 22 

yes or no to that.  I do not know what their staffing was 23 

at that time.   24 

   MR. HARGUN:   Okay.  Your position today is 25 
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Cabinet Secretary? 1 

   DR. BINNS:   Yes. 2 

   MR. HARGUN:   With that position you are 3 

obviously familiar with the organization of the Civil 4 

Service today? 5 

   DR. BINNS:   In general. 6 

   MR. HARGUN:   In general.  Could I ask you 7 

your understanding today as to whether within the Ministry 8 

of Tourism there are engineers employed? 9 

   DR. BINNS:   Not to my knowledge, but there 10 

may be some engineers employed in certain departments of 11 

that Ministry, but again, with 5,000 staff -- I don’t 12 

profess to know every single staff member and every single 13 

post within, nor the organizational structure of every 14 

single unit there.  I would not profess to know that.  If 15 

you’re asking would it be generally expected that there 16 

would be an engineer there, depending on the nature of the 17 

work to be done there very well might be.  But they would 18 

not be the nexus of all the engineers would not necessarily 19 

be there. 20 

   MR. HARGUN:   You would not expect, for 21 

example, surveying and quantity surveyors in the Ministry 22 

of Tourism; would you? 23 

   DR. BINNS:   It would depend on the nature 24 

of the work that they were attempting to do, and whether or 25 
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not they needed to secure those services. 1 

   MR. HARGUN:   Okay.  Then at -- again look 2 

at paragraph 19 of your Witness Statement.  You say, “As an 3 

example, the technical officers attempted to obtain data in 4 

order to measure performance against the contract.”  Just 5 

explain that to us; what are you saying there? 6 

   DR. BINNS:   For example, as indicated a 7 

little earlier, if an invoice had been received for payment 8 

we would want to ensure that the work that was claimed on 9 

the invoice had actually been done.   10 

   MR. HARGUN:   Right. 11 

   DR. BINNS:   And that the value of that work 12 

was actually valid.  So they would go out to the site and 13 

verify the invoice, for example.  14 

   MR. HARGUN:   Then you say, “But soon 15 

learned that Entech had been appointed as project managers 16 

and had the responsibility to perform the functions that 17 

the Ministry of Works and Engineering would normally 18 

provide.”  So is that your understanding that in relation 19 

to the Heritage Wharf project, Entech had been engaged by 20 

the Ministry of Tourism to provide the sort of functions 21 

which ordinarily would be provided by Works and 22 

Engineering? 23 

   DR. BINNS:  That’s correct; yes. 24 

   MR. HARGUN:   And then you say, “Had the 25 
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technical officers continued to manage the project -- 1 

progress of the project -- confusion, particularly in among 2 

contractors, would have resulted.”   There you’re saying is 3 

that the work which would have been done by Works and 4 

Engineering was being done by Entech, and you didn’t want 5 

confusion for the Works and Engineering to be a problem? 6 

   DR. BINNS:   Absolutely.   7 

   MR. HARGUN:   I understand.  “Therefore, we 8 

withdrew, leaving the full responsibility for the project 9 

and management with Entech as per their agreement with the 10 

Ministry of Tourism.”   11 

   DR. BINNS:   Correct; yes. 12 

   MR. HARGUN:   When you say their agreement 13 

with the Ministry of Tourism, that’s in reference to what? 14 

   DR. BINNS:   There was a contract -- I do 15 

not know the details of that contract between the Ministry 16 

and Entech for project management. 17 

   MR. HARGUN:   Right.  Can we just have a 18 

look at the services which Entech were performing here?  If 19 

you go to Public Binder, tab 12, if you look at page 1.  In 20 

fact, page 1 was the request as to whether they could 21 

provide those services; do you see that?  It’s a letter 22 

from the Permanent Secretary of the Ministry of Tourism.  23 

Do you see that?   24 

   DR. BINNS:   Yes. 25 
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   MR. HARGUN:   Then they come back and say 1 

yes, they can.   If you look at page 3, this is the 2 

response from Entech.  You’ll see that they’re undertaking 3 

to do certification of imposed schematic design.  Isn’t 4 

that something which ordinarily you would do at Works and 5 

Engineering?       6 

   DR. BINNS:   That’s a level of detail that 7 

we would not be at the level of Permanent Secretary, so I’m 8 

not able to answer that. 9 

   MR. HARGUN:   Presumably you -- the only 10 

question I’m asking is those are the resources which you 11 

have at Works and Engineering to do that. 12 

   DR. BINNS:   In most instances, yes. 13 

   MR. HARGUN:   Likewise, in relation to point 14 

number 2, the development of construction tender.  That 15 

would ordinarily be done by the technical officers at Works 16 

and Engineering for reasonable projects? 17 

   DR. BINNS:   It can be, yes. 18 

   MR. HARGUN:   Yes.  Likewise, in relation to 19 

pre-qualifying suitable contractors? 20 

   DR. BINNS:   It is often done by -- 21 

   MR. HARGUN:   It’s common for Works and 22 

Engineering technical staff to look at who are possible 23 

contractors for a project -- 24 

   DR. BINNS:   Yes. 25 



COMMISSION OF INQUIRY, SEPTEMBER 29, 2016                                                                                            FINAL UNEDITED TRANSCRIPT 

 106 

   MR. HARGUN:   -- and pre-qualify them? 1 

   DR. BINNS:   Yes. 2 

   MR. HARGUN:   Site inspections, I think you 3 

already confirmed that that as part and parcel of the 4 

function of technical officers at Works and Engineering. 5 

   DR. BINNS:   Uh-huh. 6 

   MR. HARGUN:   The provision of sign off 7 

services for various construction works, and that’s quite 8 

an important function for technical officers on behalf of 9 

Government; is it not? 10 

   DR. BINNS:   It is. 11 

   MR. HARGUN:   Because it is that sign off 12 

which triggers eventually the payment of monies? 13 

   DR. BINNS:   Correct. 14 

   MR. HARGUN:   Is it then your understanding 15 

that in this case the sign off which would trigger the 16 

payment of monies under a contract would be done by Entech? 17 

   DR. BINNS:   Yes.   18 

   MR. HARGUN:   So broadly speaking, the 19 

services which Entech was performing here certainly could 20 

have been performed by Works and Engineering? 21 

   DR. BINNS:  Could have been performed, but 22 

the decision with regard to whose responsibility then that 23 

would come into play.  The fact that it could have been 24 

performed by them doesn’t mean that it is exclusively 25 
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performed by them.    1 

   CHAIRMAN:   I’m sorry, I missed the last 2 

part of your answer. 3 

   DR. BINNS:   The fact that it could be 4 

performed by Works and Engineering doesn’t mean that it 5 

must be exclusively be performed by Works and Engineering. 6 

   MR. HARGUN:   So in relation to this 7 

particular contract, whether a payment was to be made, the 8 

final sign off was with Entech? 9 

   DR. BINNS:   I would -- again, I was not 10 

involved in that contract, but I would imagine that would 11 

be the case given what you’re showing me in this statement. 12 

   MR. HARGUN:   So what would be your 13 

understanding in relation to what control in terms of 14 

fiscal control in relation to the project would be 15 

maintained by the Minister of Tourism? 16 

   DR. BINNS:   I cannot speak to that.  I do 17 

not know the nature of their contract, and I do not know 18 

the work that they did.  I’m not able to speak to that. 19 

   MR. HARGUN:   Right.  Again, if you can’t 20 

answer it, obviously say so.  I’m not asking you questions 21 

in relation to legalities as to whether it was legally 22 

correct or whether you can legally do it.  This was a major 23 

project on behalf of the Government -- a civil engineering 24 

project. 25 
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   DR. BINNS:   Uh-huh. 1 

   MR. HARGUN:   Primarily the Ministry which 2 

has the expertise is Works and Engineering. 3 

   DR. BINNS:   Uh-huh. 4 

   MR. HARGUN:   So why does it make good 5 

practical sense, if it makes any practical sense, why does 6 

it make good practical sense to transfer this civil 7 

engineering project from Works and Engineering to Tourism? 8 

   DR. BINNS:   Some projects are on very tight 9 

deadlines.   This project in particular, everyone – most, 10 

many people in the Government understood the critical 11 

timelines involved on this one.  We all understood that I 12 

believe it was in April 2009 the ship was going to arrive, 13 

and there was a need to get the job done very quickly.  In 14 

circumstances such as those, it would not be unusual for 15 

external resources to be engaged in order to expedite the 16 

completion of the project. 17 

   MR. HARGUN:   Fully understood.  But those 18 

external resources could have been engaged by Works and 19 

Engineering. 20 

   DR. BINNS:   It all depends on the level of 21 

resources available at Works and Engineering at that time.  22 

It’s possible, again, I cannot recall back at that time -- 23 

it was probably nine or ten years ago -- what their 24 

resources were at the time.  But if there was an indication 25 
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that the level of workload within Works and Engineering at  1 

that time the level of resources available to Works and 2 

Engineering at that time, were not sufficient to expedite 3 

the project, and it could be expedited more effectively 4 

using external resources, that would be a reasonable 5 

consideration. 6 

   MR. HARGUN:   Fully understood, Dr. Binns, 7 

that if the project needs urgency it may require engagement 8 

of external resources.  But the Ministry which has the 9 

expertise and was familiar with the external resources in 10 

relation to civil engineering projects would primarily be 11 

the Ministry of Public Works. 12 

   DR. BINNS:   Primarily.   13 

   MR. HARGUN:   In fact, it would be easier 14 

for Works and Engineering to obtain external resources in 15 

relation to civil engineering projects because they are 16 

familiar with the industry. 17 

   DR. BINNS:   That’s a reasonable conclusion. 18 

   MR. HARGUN:   If the project was really, 19 

really urgent, the Ministry which would achieve the 20 

deadlines because of its familiarity with the industry, 21 

because of its familiarity with the available resources 22 

would have been the Ministry of Works and Engineering. 23 

   DR. BINNS:   Not necessarily because it 24 

still takes time and effort to do the necessary work to 25 
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engage the external resources as well, and depending on the 1 

resources available to Works and Engineering at that time  2 

it may not have been more efficient for them to play that 3 

role. 4 

   MR. HARGUN:  But, within the Government, the 5 

only Ministry which is familiar with the contractors, the 6 

professional people within the industry, the contracts, and 7 

the issues which arise out of contracts and the like is the 8 

Ministry of Works and Engineering. 9 

   DR. BINNS:   The greatest concentration of 10 

those professions do exist within the Ministry of Works and 11 

Engineering. 12 

   MR. HARGUN:   I did not see any 13 

correspondence which I have looked at in relation to this 14 

that the Ministry ever indicated that it was because of the 15 

lack of capacity that the contract was transferred to -- 16 

the project was transferred to the Ministry of Tourism.  17 

   DR. BINNS:   I cannot speak to why the 18 

project was allocated to that Ministry. 19 

   MR. HARGUN:   Yes.  But you were around at 20 

the time when the contract was signed because you signed 21 

it.  22 

   DR. BINNS:   The contract signing could come 23 

significantly after project commencement. 24 

   MR. HARGUN:   Right.  Can I ask you to have 25 
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a look at the 12 11 in the -- page 11 .  You see that here 1 

Entech is -- you know that this was not put out to tender 2 

as such -- public tender, in the traditional sense asking 3 

for bids? 4 

   DR. BINNS:   I do not know the nature of the 5 

bidding process for this project.   6 

   MR. HARGUN:   Well, I’ll show you a letter 7 

which you signed where you talk about this -- but, it’s not 8 

a memory test.  This was done by way of interviews with 9 

three contractors asking for basic information about their 10 

ability to do the project.  This wasn’t a project where a 11 

Form of Bid/Formal Bid for the price was sought.  Is that 12 

the sort of activity which Public Works and Engineers does 13 

in relation to projects? 14 

   DR. BINNS:   It depends on the value of the 15 

contract. 16 

   MR. HARGUN:   Yes.  But it is something 17 

which there is expertise within Public Works to do that? 18 

   DR. BINNS:   Yes. 19 

   MR. HARGUN:   If you look at your letter at 20 

page 27, do you recall this letter, Dr. Binns? 21 

   DR. BINNS:   Yes, I do. 22 

   MR. HARGUN:   Let’s -- I’ll take you through 23 

it.  It’s an April 20, 2007.  You say, it’s my pleasure to 24 

-- it’s written to Mr. Telemaque.  My pleasure to provide 25 
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you with a copy of the contract with the Ministry of Works 1 

and Engineering as prepared for the construction of the new 2 

pier at the Dockyard.  When you say the Ministry of Works 3 

and Engineering as prepared -- you actually drafted the 4 

contract; didn’t you? 5 

   DR. BINNS:   We received the contract and we 6 

made some amendments to the contract.  It’s a final product 7 

that was completed by the Ministry of Works and 8 

Engineering. 9 

   MR. HARGUN:   Okay.  That’s because you had 10 

the expertise to do it? 11 

   DR. BINNS:   We were asked to sign the 12 

contract, and before we signed it we decided to review it, 13 

understand it, and make the necessary amendments. 14 

   MR. HARGUN:   Yes.  You say, “The Ministry 15 

of Transport and Tourism has proposed that the Government 16 

enter into a contract with Correia Construction Company, 17 

Limited to complete the construction of that project.  The 18 

project estimated values at Bermuda dollar is 38.9 million, 19 

and the scope of work of the project is defined from the 20 

Mello and (indiscernible 02:30:15) and Partners, Inc. 21 

drawings of the final draft documents of July 2006 supplied 22 

by the Minister of Tourism and Transport to the Ministry of 23 

Works and Engineering.  The Ministry of Tourism and 24 

Transport in this case determined that it was in the best 25 
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interest of procurement that acquired services from a 1 

single source rather than through the open tender process 2 

normally used by the Ministry of Works and Engineering.” 3 

   So, you see that.  “I should note that this 4 

Ministry’s procedure provides the Permanent Secretary to 5 

opt for a single source method of procurement under special 6 

circumstances.”  So you are saying that if it was done by 7 

Works and Engineering a single source would only be done in 8 

special circumstances; is that right? 9 

   DR. BINNS:   With the permission of the 10 

Permanent Secretary. 11 

   MR. HARGUN:   Yes.   That’s under the 12 

Financial Instructions. 13 

   DR. BINNS:   Yes. 14 

   MR. HARGUN:  Yes.  Presumably, Financial 15 

Instructions also apply to the Ministry of Tourism, do they 16 

not? 17 

   DR. BINNS:   Yes. 18 

   MR. HARGUN:   Yes.  Then you say, “In light 19 

of the importance of having the pier in service by 2009, 20 

the Minister of Tourism and Transport has proposed that the 21 

project be fast-tracked and prices rigorously negotiated 22 

between Correia Construction and Entech, Limited, and in a 23 

contract with the Ministry of Works and Engineering;” yes? 24 

   DR. BINNS:   In theory, yes. 25 
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   MR. HARGUN:   So who actually negotiated the 1 

prices; do you know? 2 

   DR. BINNS:   I believe that it was with 3 

Tourism and Transport who negotiated the (pricing ?). 4 

   MR. HARGUN:   Can I ask you, do you think 5 

that given the expertise which resided with Works and 6 

Engineering in relation to major civil engineering projects 7 

that perhaps those prices should have been negotiated by 8 

your technical staff? 9 

   DR. BINNS:   That decision had been made 10 

prior to our Ministry’s involvement in the project. 11 

   MR. HARGUN:   I’m sorry? 12 

   DR. BINNS:   That decision had been made 13 

prior to our Ministry’s involvement in the project.  I do 14 

not know. 15 

   MR. HARGUN:   Inside the question of who 16 

made the decision and when it was made, I’m just asking a 17 

general open question.  Forget about this particular 18 

contract.  When it comes to negotiating prices in major 19 

civil engineering projects with a contractor as you say 20 

here, “rigorously negotiate it with Correia Construction,” 21 

am I not right that if one is looking to get best value in 22 

terms of negotiation, that the expertise within the 23 

Government of Bermuda in relation to that negotiation 24 

primarily resides with the technical officers of Works and 25 
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Engineering? 1 

   DR. BINNS:   Primarily; yes.  Within the 2 

Government Services.   3 

   MR. HARGUN:   Yes, within the Government 4 

Services.  And then you go on to say to your Permanent 5 

Secretary, “Fast-tracking a project of this magnitude does 6 

not come without risks, and it is important that these 7 

risks be stated.  Firstly, fast-tracking has not permitted 8 

sufficient time to conduct site investigation to mitigate 9 

as far as reasonable the risk of unforeseeable conditions 10 

from the design process.  Such conditions could be 11 

geotechnical, environmental, or other kinds.  The most 12 

likely cost implication would be a large increase in cost 13 

due to the ground conditions being different from those 14 

anticipated.  Further environmental considerations are the 15 

works could have a significant impact on the project 16 

schedule causing additional costs both as to construction 17 

of the project and to the form of lost revenue due to late 18 

(indiscernible 02:34:19).”  Which all makes good sense.  19 

But why are you writing this?  Why are you saying this? 20 

   DR. BINNS:   Because we believed that based 21 

on the work we had done in preparing the contract, we 22 

needed to bring to the attention of the Minister 23 

responsible any concerns that we believed we might have 24 

noted, and any qualifications that we needed to attach to 25 
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the contract. 1 

   MR. HARGUN:   Okay.  When you say 2 

qualifications, is this a qualification to the contract? 3 

   DR. BINNS:   Meaning that there are – There 4 

is date that we had not assessed -- did not -- could not 5 

assess, such as conditions, geotechnical environment or 6 

other types.  And that is because those are unknown, and 7 

the truth is often you don’t what’s there until you dig a 8 

hole in the ground. 9 

   MR. HARGUN:   Sure. 10 

   DR. BINNS:  We were simply indicating that 11 

if you had not dug a hole in the ground at the site, and so 12 

there may be issues, geotechnical issues in particular, 13 

that may arise that would have an impact on the contract 14 

completion time and contract cost.   15 

   MR. HARGUN:   Presumably, if this contract 16 

was managed by Works and Engineering, would you consider it 17 

prudent to actually do those tests before you entered into 18 

a final contract? 19 

   DR. BINNS:  A lot of decisions on what can 20 

be accomplished is determined by other resources and time 21 

that was available.  As indicated earlier, the critical 22 

date for this project was April 2009 when the ship would 23 

arrive.  And so in order to meet that dateline, 24 

construction had to begin by a particular date.  And so 25 



COMMISSION OF INQUIRY, SEPTEMBER 29, 2016                                                                                            FINAL UNEDITED TRANSCRIPT 

 117 

under those circumstances it may not have been possible to 1 

undertake those sorts of surveys to get the data that would 2 

provide conclusive information regarding the ground 3 

studies. 4 

   MR. HARGUN:   But if time allowed, you would 5 

do that before you entered into the contract? 6 

   DR. BINNS:   If time allowed that would be 7 

something that you would want to do; yes. 8 

   MR. HARGUN:   And then you say “The Ministry 9 

of Works and Engineering has prepared a contract based on 10 

fixed prices negotiated with Correia Construction and 11 

Entech, Limited for the defined works.  The remaining works 12 

that has yet insufficient detail for pricing have been 13 

included in the contract with provisional prices proposed 14 

by Entech and Correia.  The intention of this, 15 

notwithstanding the risks detailed above, has been to limit 16 

as far as possible at this stage the possibility of price 17 

fluctuation for these elements not yet defined.  At the 18 

instruction of the Minister of Tourism and Transport, the 19 

Ministry of Works and Engineering has included in the 20 

contract the facility for advance payments.  These payments 21 

represent a mobilization fee to enable the contractor to 22 

purchase piling and related specialist materials and 23 

equipment for the project, and would become due before 24 

contract award and signing of the formal agreement as 25 
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stated in the Letter of Intent from the Cabinet Secretary.  1 

The value of the advance payment is U.S. 8.9 million.  The 2 

Ministry of Works and Engineering notes that this is 3 

counter to our normal procedures and that the exception has 4 

been made in this case on the authority of the Cabinet 5 

Secretary.”  Why do you say that that’s not the normal 6 

practice?  Normally you would not --  7 

   DR. BINNS:   Because the normal practice 8 

would be for the Government to reduce its exposure and its 9 

risk.  So the preferred option --  10 

   CHAIRMAN:   I’m sorry, keep your voice up. 11 

    DR. BINNS:   -- the preferred option would 12 

be for the contractor to be able to capitalize their own -- 13 

capitalize the works themselves.  Mobilization fees are not 14 

uncommon, but in order to reduce the exposure and risk to 15 

the Government, the preferred method is to have the 16 

contractor be able to capitalize his own mobilization. 17 

   MR. HARGUN:   Right.  And if you were a 18 

technical officer and were negotiating this contract, that 19 

is something that you would have tried to negotiate with 20 

the contractor? 21 

   DR. BINNS:   With the understanding that 22 

sometimes it is not possible. 23 

   MR. HARGUN:   I understand that.  You also 24 

make further negotiating points in the next paragraph.  You 25 
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say, “The Ministry of Works and Engineering has identified 1 

two issues which were not fully considered in the original 2 

estimate for works.  These are the insurance premiums for 3 

piling works, and the cost associated with the purchase of 4 

a performance bond.  The insurance costs have been quoted 5 

at Bermuda dollar nine million seventy-nine thousand with a 6 

deductible of $500,000.00, and Bermuda dollar $750,000.00 7 

depending upon the circumstance of the claim.  The Ministry 8 

of Works and Engineering had included the additional cost 9 

of the premium in the works contract and it would be paid 10 

as part of the advance payment.  The deductible will be 11 

dealt with a provisional sum item to be paid only if 12 

 fixed.”  You say that the contract was completely (solid 13 

?) in relation to that issue.  Was it - the insurance 14 

premiums? 15 

   DR. BINNS:   Yes, in the original estimate 16 

of works that had not been included but we did include it 17 

in the contract.   18 

   MR. HARGUN:   Okay.  “The cost of the 19 

purchase of the performance bond of 50 percent of the 20 

contract value is estimated to be in the region of three 21 

million.  This has not been required in the contract, and 22 

will not be purchased by Correia, Limited.”   So what are 23 

you saying here, ordinarily the Government requires a bond? 24 

   DR. BINNS:   It varies from project to 25 
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project.  Some projects have had a performance bond.  Some 1 

projects have not had performance bonds.   2 

   MR. HARGUN:   In this case there was no 3 

performance bond? 4 

   DR. BINNS:   It was not included in the 5 

contract.    6 

   MR. HARGUN:   Yes.   7 

   CHAIRMAN:   It wasn’t in the contract? 8 

   DR. BINNS:   I’m sorry? 9 

   CHAIRMAN:  You were asked was there a 10 

performance bond.  You said it was not included in the 11 

contract, but wasn’t there a performance bond? 12 

   DR. BINNS:   I do not know what transpired 13 

once the negotiations began with the -- between the 14 

Ministry and the contractor and if they had included one or 15 

not I can’t speak to that, but my recollection is that it 16 

was not required in the contract, but he did get an 17 

estimate should he wish to encourage one to be obtained,he  18 

gave them an estimate of what that might cost because that 19 

might have an impact on the contract.   20 

   CHAIRMAN:  Was the contract concluded by 21 

this date?   22 

   DR. BINNS:   Yes, I think it -- yes, I think 23 

this letter was giving the contract to the Ministry, and in 24 

so doing raising issues that we saw as we could not fully 25 
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address in the contract.   1 

   MR. HARGUN:   Do you know whether the issue 2 

of the requirement for a bond had been raised on behalf of 3 

the Government with Correia Construction? 4 

   DR. BINNS:   I do not know; no. 5 

   MR. HARGUN:   Do I understand that after you 6 

signed the contract that was the end of your involvement? 7 

   DR. BINNS:   Yes. 8 

   MR. HARGUN:   I think, in fact, you 9 

confirmed that on the next page (the fact that your last 10 

report was made ?).  You said, “Normally under the 11 

contracts that are signed by the Ministry we retain 12 

responsibility for interior managing the contract, meeting 13 

with the contractor, and vetting all appropriate payments 14 

under the contract.”  I think we discussed that. 15 

   DR. BINNS:   Yes. 16 

   MR. HARGUN:  So in this case if you had 17 

retained responsibility -- Works and Engineering -- Works 18 

and Engineering and its technical officers would have been 19 

responsible for managing the contract, assessing the value 20 

of the contract as it went along, but more importantly they 21 

would certify when payments were to be made? 22 

   DR. BINNS:   Correct. 23 

   MR. HARGUN:   Then you go on to say, “We 24 

understand that on this project our role was simply to 25 
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draft and agree contracts with respective parties, and sign 1 

them on behalf of Government.” 2 

   DR. BINNS:   Correct. 3 

   MR. HARGUN:  We have now discharged this 4 

task in keeping with the original intent that this project 5 

would be managed by the Minister of Tourism and Transport.  6 

We are pleased as agreed between us to assign all 7 

responsibility for further management of the contract, 8 

including all of its conditions, and vetting, and approvals 9 

of payment to the Ministry of Tourism and Transport.” 10 

   DR. BINNS:   Correct. 11 

   MR. HARGUN:   So from then on the entire 12 

responsibility was with the Minister of Tourism? 13 

   DR. BINNS:   Correct. 14 

   MR. HARGUN:   I appreciate that you said the 15 

decision was -- you’re not quite sure who made the decision 16 

to assign it to the Ministry of Tourism, and you might have 17 

said that it was done before you.  Did you ever ask why 18 

Works and Engineering was not running this project? 19 

   DR. BINNS:   Did not. 20 

   MR. HARGUN:  Okay.   21 

   CHAIRMAN:  What was your question? 22 

   MR. HARGUN:   I asked the question whether 23 

he ever asked why Works and Engineering was not running 24 

this project, and he says he did not. 25 
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   CHAIRMAN:   Dr Binns and Mr. Hargun, I have 1 

some and my colleagues may have some questions about that 2 

project.  Would it be easier for us to do it now and 3 

interrupt your cross examination or would you like me to 4 

cross-examine him later? 5 

   MR. HARGUN:   No, think it’s probably 6 

convenient to do it topic by topic.  So certainly this 7 

would be a time to ask.   8 

   CHAIRMAN:  I imagined you would prefer that, 9 

Dr Binns because you’ve got it in mind.  What I wanted to 10 

ask you was this.  In your Statement, paragraph 16, you say 11 

the first time I became directly involved was when you were 12 

asked to sign the contract.   13 

   DR. BINNS:   Yes. 14 

   CHAIRMAN:   Directly involved -- how much 15 

did you know about it before? 16 

   DR. BINNS:   A very general understanding 17 

that it was a national priority, that the ship was coming 18 

in April 2009, and all these orders had to applied to 19 

enable Bermuda to receive that ship.   20 

          CHAIRMAN:  And, if ever there was a civil 21 

engineering project it would be building a new berth for a 22 

cruise liner?  Had you expressed surprise – I’m not saying 23 

you would have been able to - but having heard that this 24 

was going on and that it was a major civil engineering 25 
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project, had you expressed any surprise that your 1 

Department -- your Ministry -- hadn’t been involved? 2 

   DR. BINNS:   No, did not express surprise.  3 

This was a decision that been made more than likely prior 4 

to my arrival at that Ministry.  There was no profit to the 5 

Ministry or to me to attempt to look behind that.  Our job 6 

was to ensure that whatever resources that were required of 7 

us that we applied those resources.   8 

   CHAIRMAN:  Then you say in the next 9 

paragraph that your task was -- your Ministry’s task was to 10 

be a service provider. 11 

   DR. BINNS:   Yes.   12 

   CHAIRMAN:   I think I know what you mean, 13 

but what do you mean?  What was the service you were 14 

providing? 15 

   DR. BINNS:   Contract vetting and 16 

completion. 17 

   CHAIRMAN:   You say later on your technical 18 

officers reviewed the draft contract.  So it’s very much a 19 

case was it where the contract had, the deal is being set 20 

up, the contract had been drawn up, and you were asked 21 

simply to make sure the contract gave effect, to that deal? 22 

   DR. BINNS:   That is correct. 23 

   CHAIRMAN:   And you said you had no 24 

involvement in the price or anything of that sort?  25 
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   DR. BINNS:   That is correct. 1 

   CHAIRMAN:   When you wrote your letter which 2 

we saw page 27 13
th
 April – I may be being unkind but you 3 

must tell me if I am -  were you there making sure that the 4 

Cabinet, if this was going to Cabinet, knew that your 5 

Ministry had not been involved and did have reservations? 6 

   DR. BINNS:   My assumption was that our 7 

involvement and the scope of our involvement, extent of our 8 

involvement, was clear to everybody.  So there did not need 9 

to be an attempt to do that but we certainly did want to 10 

bring attention of those involved any concerns or 11 

qualifications or issues that we identified through the 12 

process of vetting and (chronolising) the contract, that we 13 

share that information with those who are going to be 14 

managing that contract. 15 

   CHAIRMAN:   Well, I think perhaps I was 16 

putting it a little unkindly but you wanted to make sure it 17 

was on the record that your Ministry had not been involved 18 

in certain things. 19 

   DR. BINNS:  We wanted to make sure that the 20 

issues that we had identified were made clear to those who 21 

were receiving it.   22 

   CHAIRMAN:   Yes.  I still haven’t got quite 23 

an idea when the contract was signed because the earlier 24 

letters were November, the previous year.  At that time you 25 
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said the deal had been done and you had vetted the 1 

contract. 2 

   DR. BINNS:  We provided the contract 13 3 

April 2007.  That’s when we provided the contract that we 4 

had been asked to work on.  5 

   CHAIRMAN:   Oh, I see, your work took until 6 

the 13
th
 of April? 7 

   DR. BINNS:   It did, yes.  I don’t remember 8 

exactly when we began the work but, yes, it concluded in 9 

April.  It was certainly not in November – I would not 10 

imagine. 11 

   CHAIRMAN:   Where were we… The date of your 12 

letter, page… 13 

   DR. BINNS:   The 13th of April, 2007. 14 

   CHAIRMAN:   So, where were we at that stage?  15 

Was the contract coming up for final approval or what? 16 

   DR. BINNS:   At that stage, we were 17 

finalizing the actual contract between the parties. 18 

   CHAIRMAN:   But that’s what you’d been asked 19 

to do in the previous November. 20 

   DR. BINNS:   Again, I don’t recall the date 21 

that we were actually asked to do the contract but from the 22 

letter it’s clear that we handed the contract over in 23 

April. 24 

   CHAIRMAN:   Yes.  Your letter, if I may say 25 
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so, reads on the basis, not we think there should be 1 

amendments to the contract but as we were just saying -- 2 

pointing out that there were items that were possibly of 3 

concern to you? 4 

   DR. BINNS:   Yeah, items that we could not 5 

conclude and finalize, that we didn’t have sufficient time 6 

and resources to actually -- for example, undertake 7 

geotechnical studies of the ground at the sea bed. 8 

   CHAIRMAN:  Yes, and in relation to the 9 

performance bond I think you say in terms it’s too late to 10 

ask for it from the contractor. 11 

   DR. BINNS:   I’m not sure if I said that, 12 

but I think I did make mention of a performance bond, and 13 

should one be acquired this would be the cost of getting 14 

one, and this would then be an impact on the contract cost. 15 

   CHAIRMAN:   But didn’t you use rather 16 

positive language saying, will not be purchased by the 17 

contractor? 18 

   DR. BINNS:  This has nothing required in the 19 

contract, and as a result of nothing required in the 20 

contract will not be purchased by the contractor.  That was 21 

the understanding that we had.   22 

   CHAIRMAN:  That’s why I say you write this 23 

letter rather… You’re not saying there should be an 24 

amendment to the contract in order to get the contractor to 25 
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pay for it.  You’re pointing out that the deal is done, 1 

he’s not going to pay for it.  2 

   DR. BINNS:  That part had already been 3 

determined, yes.   4 

   CHAIRMAN:  Yes.  In the result, you remember 5 

on this project, would there have been any call on a 6 

performance bond? 7 

   DR. BINNS:  I have no idea, sir. 8 

   CHAIRMAN:   You then go on to say paragraph 9 

19 -- 10 

   DR. BINNS:   Of the Witness Statement? 11 

   CHAIRMAN:   Of your Witness Statement.  This 12 

is where Entech came on the scene as far as you were 13 

concerned.  I’m paraphrasing it, but tell me if I’m wrong, 14 

you were expecting that your Ministry would do what I’ll 15 

call the quantity surveying function. 16 

   DR. BINNS:   Essentially.  Basically we just 17 

carried on as normal.  The contract is signed, moving to 18 

project management, and then it became clear to us that 19 

that was not the service that we were required to provide.   20 

   CHAIRMAN:  That’s what I wanted to just 21 

follow up with you.  You say you soon learned that Entech 22 

had already been contracted – which I’d just like you to 23 

confirm this - you had not been told before that that 24 

Entech was contracted? 25 
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   DR. BINNS:  I can’t speak to that directly.  1 

What would have happened is after contract signing the 2 

engineers would have been aware that the contract had 3 

(been) signed, and they just would have carried on as 4 

normal.  They may not have been as aware of all of the 5 

other relationships because they would not have been 6 

involved in those relationships.  So they just would have 7 

gone ahead.  But once they had begun to do that, it was 8 

very obvious to them that the contract project management 9 

responsibilities were assigned to Entech and not to the 10 

Ministry of Public Works, the Ministry of Works & 11 

Engineering. 12 

   CHAIRMAN:   And I think you said 13 

indiscernible 04 50:32.6. and I’d like you to confirm it -  14 

That was not what you would regard as the normal procedure? 15 

   DR. BINNS:  Well, in as much as this project 16 

was the responsibility of another Ministry, it was fully 17 

with the responsibility to manage that project by using 18 

external resources if they so desired.   19 

   CHAIRMAN:  Then you say those were services 20 

which your Ministry would normally provide. 21 

   DR. BINNS:   Exactly.  When we -- Again, the 22 

engineers who are managing projects, once they understand 23 

that the contract has been signed, they just move 24 

automatically into project management, and they may not 25 
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have been aware that for this project there had been 1 

another arrangement made.  So once they began to do what 2 

they normally would have done, that became clear, and then 3 

they retreated and realized that the work was being done by 4 

somebody else. 5 

   CHAIRMAN:   Had you as the Permanent 6 

Secretary know that Entech had been engaged? 7 

   DR. BINNS:  I’m not clear at what point I 8 

became aware of Entech’s involvement in this.  I’m not 9 

certain at what point I became aware of that. 10 

   CHAIRMAN:   Well, your statement reads 11 

rather as if it came as a surprise to you… We soon learned…   12 

   DR. BINNS:   Speaking on behalf of the 13 

Ministry, and speaking on behalf of the engineers who would 14 

have automatically moved into project management mode, they 15 

would not have been -- not necessarily aware -- that Entech 16 

had been engaged.   17 

   CHAIRMAN:  And then finally you say, 18 

therefore we withdrew.  What does that mean in practical 19 

terms? 20 

   DR. BINNS:   In practical terms it means 21 

that the engineers who would have moved into project 22 

management mode realized that that was not the service they 23 

needed to provide, and they would have withdrawn from 24 

attempting to provide those services because they were 25 
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provided by someone else. 1 

   CHAIRMAN:  That’s the word you used but how 2 

did they withdraw? 3 

   DR. BINNS:  Simply do not attempt to go out 4 

and validate invoices, do not attempt to verify the work 5 

that had been done on site, no longer try to serve as 6 

project managers. 7 

   MS. LUCK:   Can I just ask a question on 8 

date?  I’m just a little confused. 9 

   CHAIRMAN:  Certainly. 10 

   MS. LUCK:  In your Witness Statement you 11 

talk about, your role as Permanent Secretary on the 8
th
 12 

March 2006, page 2.  Then if I look at the Auditor 13 

General’s report which was conducted on Heritage Wharf, and 14 

it has twelve one hundred and three, it says, in October 15 

2006 Cabinet focused its discussions on Dockyard to discuss 16 

the funding options for constructions (re) the new cruise 17 

pier.  Then in February 2007 and it makes the point, the 18 

timing, the challenge of the timing, Cabinet was invited to 19 

approve the selection of the preferred contractor.  So you 20 

were Permanent Secretary in March 2006… 21 

   DR BINNS: I was Ministry of Works & 22 

Engineering. 23 

   M LUCK:  … and it was being discussed in 24 

Cabinet in October 2006, so when you were Permanent 25 
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Secretary, so is it that actually that decision was made 1 

before you became Permanent Secretary or is it that you 2 

were just kept out of it?    3 

   DR. BINNS:  I can’t speak to that.  I’m 4 

making an assumption here that this Cabinet conclusion -- 5 

discussions would have referred to papers put forward by 6 

the Minister of Tourism and Transport.  So I cannot, again, 7 

speak to the timing of when that went through. 8 

   MS. LUCK:   But clearly the decision wasn’t 9 

made in October of 2006 by which time you’d been in the 10 

role for six months. 11 

   DR. BINNS:   At the Ministry of Works and 12 

Engineering; yes. 13 

   MR BARRITT:  You’ll forgive me Dr. Binns, 14 

but I am curious here.  Picking up on a point which was 15 

made.  You become Permanent Secretary of Works and 16 

Engineering March 8th 2006.  17 

   DR. BINNS:  Correct. 18 

   MR BARRIT:   You say at the time you have a 19 

general awareness that this is a significant Government 20 

project and that it was being managed by the Ministry of 21 

Tourism and Transport.  How do you gather that awareness? 22 

   DR. BINNS:   The Government generally was 23 

aware of the desire to attract larger cruise ships and the 24 

need to create a new pier to house those cruise ships, and 25 
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that it was a Government priority.  (When I say ‘generally’ 1 

that’s what I referred to.) 2 

   MR BARRITT:  Okay.  So When you said it was 3 

being managed by the Ministry you actually explicitly say 4 

it’s being managed by the Ministry of Tourism and 5 

Transport.  You’ve acquired this knowledge somehow? 6 

   DR. BINNS:   Yes.   7 

   MR BARRITT:  Because you then go on to tell 8 

us you were never briefed on this project --   9 

   DR. BINNS:   I was never -- 10 

   MR BARRITT:  -- by your staff when you took 11 

on the job? 12 

   DR. BINNS:  Exactly. 13 

   MR BARRITT:   Yet, Works and Engineering is 14 

largely accepted as the Ministry responsible, all things 15 

being equal, for overseeing large capital projects of the 16 

Bermuda Government.   17 

           So, given your awareness of this, I’m 18 

curious to know -- we do have the benefit of hindsight, but 19 

we know that a contract for construction wasn’t entered 20 

until 2007, April.  The person who is going to oversee the 21 

project isn’t hired until April 2007.  And Works and 22 

Engineering apparently is out of the loop as to what’s 23 

going on given it’s its overall responsibility for capital 24 

projects in the Bermuda Government.   25 



COMMISSION OF INQUIRY, SEPTEMBER 29, 2016                                                                                            FINAL UNEDITED TRANSCRIPT 

 134 

        I would have thought that might have been a 1 

item of some concern to yourself, as Permanent Secretary, 2 

and your technical staff (is/in) not being involved in the 3 

process leading up to the hiring of external resources and 4 

a contract being entered. It’s almost, the way it reads, is 5 

the contract is slapped on your desk at the last minute. 6 

   DR. BINNS:   It would not necessarily be a 7 

concern to us that we were under the -- that we were 8 

working on the knowledge that the responsibility for that 9 

project had been already been assigned to another Ministry. 10 

   MR BARRITT:   So, it didn’t strike you as 11 

odd then that they now come to you and ask you to sign off 12 

on a contract for this project? 13 

   DR. BINNS:   Even if it might have seemed 14 

odd, our job was to assist in facilitating the Government’s 15 

agenda.  The project was to get the pier completed by April 16 

2009.  Our job was to assist in getting the contracts in as 17 

solid shape as possible so that the Government’s interests 18 

are protected.  That’s what we chose -- that’s what we set 19 

out to do.   20 

   MR BARRITT:   Okay.  Now, when that contract 21 

is signed and Works and Engineering signs off on it, who is 22 

then responsible if that contract in some form or fashion 23 

turns out to be wrong, incorrect or improper?  Who, in 24 

fact, should be disciplined or called into account for that 25 
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particular contract -  You or the Minister of Tourism and 1 

Transport? 2 

   DR. BINNS:   It depends on what the issue 3 

is.  The creation of the contract would be the 4 

responsibility of the Minister of Works and Engineering.  5 

If something was incorrect with regard to the creation of 6 

that contract, the responsibility would fall to the 7 

Ministry of Works and Engineering.  When it was moved to 8 

the management of that contract, if something should go 9 

wrong there, it would be the responsibility of the Ministry 10 

responsible for managing. 11 

   MR BARRITT:  Did it at any time throughout 12 

this process you or your technical officers or staff 13 

express any concerns or reservations about this being 14 

delegated to the Ministry of Tourism and Transport? 15 

   DR. BINNS:  There would be no profit to us 16 

in doing that.  That decision had been made.  Even if there 17 

had been some concern, it would move us nowhere -- with the 18 

project nowhere -- and we focused on doing the job that was 19 

assigned to us.  20 

        MR BARRITT:  You used the expression twice,  21 

‘no profit to us’.  I’m just wondering what you mean by 22 

that.  I mean, isn’t there a process in Government -- I’m 23 

asking so I can be educated – that where you disagree with 24 

a decision or you feel something is wrong or you have 25 
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reservations, you document that in some form or fashion? 1 

   DR. BINNS:   Particularly in the development 2 

before a decision is made.  Once a decision is made, you 3 

get on with it.  If we have concerns the time to raise 4 

those concerns is before the decision is made, provide the 5 

necessary advice so that the best decision can be made.  6 

Once the decision is made, our responsibility is to 7 

implement the decision of the Government. 8 

   MR BRADSHAW:   So you’re saying that once 9 

the decision is made you no longer have any recourse? 10 

   DR. BINNS:   Once the decision is made there 11 

is no need for any recourse because our job is to implement 12 

the decision. 13 

               MR BRADSHAW:  But if you have questions 14 

about the decision, are you saying that you no longer have 15 

any recourse?  Is that what you’re saying? 16 

   DR. BINNS:   Our rule is to address all 17 

those issues before a decision is made.  So all of our 18 

concerns, but those who are involved in making the 19 

decision, they put those concerns up front, they address 20 

those concerns up front.  21 

   CHAIRMAN:     Thank you. 22 

   MR. HARGUN:   Ms. Memari is asking whether 23 

she can ask a question on the same topic.  I don’t 24 

particularly have any objection to that. 25 



COMMISSION OF INQUIRY, SEPTEMBER 29, 2016                                                                                            FINAL UNEDITED TRANSCRIPT 

 137 

   CHAIRMAN:   I think.  I must ask you to 1 

spell out on what basis you wanted to ask questions.  By 2 

and large they should relate to some evidence the person 3 

you represent would like to give or might give. 4 

   MS. MEMARI:   Mr. Chair, I think that by 5 

being of assistance to the Commission it might be helpful 6 

for the Commission to hear exactly what a Permanent 7 

Secretary is briefed on when he is first assigned to that 8 

post.   My second follow up question would be whether, in 9 

fact, this was part of his briefing.  Because what we have 10 

heard is that --  11 

   CHAIRMAN:   Mr Hargun, you wouldn’t have any 12 

objection to that? 13 

   MR. HARGUN:   I don’t have any objection.  14 

In fact, it’s covered in the Witness Statement, but I have 15 

no objection. 16 

   CHAIRMAN:   Have you got the Witness 17 

Statement? 18 

   MS. MEMARI:  Yes. 19 

   CHAIRMAN:   And if there’s a point you say 20 

which isn’t covered there by all means ask him. 21 

   MS. MEMARI:   I just want for the sake of 22 

clarity if could again elucidate on exactly what a 23 

Permanent Secretary’s briefing is when he is first assigned 24 

to a post. 25 
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   DR. BINNS:   It’s also important to 1 

understand that the transfer of Permanent Secretary from 2 

one into the other happens in a very short span of time.  3 

You can usually be in Ministry A today and at Ministry B 4 

tomorrow.  The way that we try to affect a smooth 5 

transition is by having prepared, what we call, a brief; 6 

and the truth is that same brief is often used for an 7 

incoming Minister as well.  That brief sets out the major 8 

projects that are being undertaken by that Ministry.  It 9 

outlines the organizational structure of the Ministry.  It 10 

outlines the budget of that Ministry.  It also outlines 11 

major issues that need attention.  The idea is to ensure 12 

that the Permanent Secretary gets up to speed as quickly as 13 

possible.  There will also be a verbal support with that 14 

brief, so in addition you’re getting a written Binder of 15 

information.  The relevant Department heads or manager will 16 

also come in and speak to each of those issues.  The 17 

Permanent Secretary would ask questions about it to enhance 18 

their understanding.  And issues that are not necessarily 19 

germane to the Ministry’s operation will not necessarily be 20 

included.  So in this instance, I have no recollection of 21 

this project being a part of that brief because it was not 22 

something that the Ministry was directly involved in. 23 

   CHAIRMAN:  I just want to follow that up.  24 

You ceased to be the Permanent Secretary in December 2007.  25 
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So you, presumably, prepared a hand-over brief to your 1 

successor, whoever it was.   2 

   DR. BINNS:  Yes, I would.  Actually I would 3 

not have actually prepared it.  The staff remaining would 4 

have prepared it.   5 

   CHAIRMAN:  Oh, I see.  Have you any – I 6 

don’t know if we’ve got the documents.  Presumably, from 7 

your evidence that document said, by the way, the largest 8 

civil engineering project at the moment is the cruise ship 9 

wharf, and we have withdrawn.  We have nothing at all to do 10 

with that? 11 

   DR. BINNS:   I honestly cannot speak to what 12 

was contained in the brief that was prepared. 13 

   CHAIRMAN:   If that’s what it said, would it 14 

have been accurate as at the time when you left? 15 

   DR. BINNS:   Again, I can’t speak to what 16 

might have been in that brief.   17 

   CHAIRMAN:   It would have been -- that would 18 

have been the fact, wouldn’t it? 19 

   DR. BINNS:   It would have been a fact that 20 

the Ministry was not involved in that project, apart from, 21 

having prepared the contract.   22 

   MR BARRITT:   Can you see how to us from the 23 

outside looking in – and maybe I’m just speaking of myself 24 

-- it seems odd that leading up to the signing of the 25 
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contract by a Ministry that’s been delegated the 1 

responsibility to overseeing this contract, Works and 2 

Engineering which has this ‘in house’ expertise appears 3 

never to have been consulted.  Never forms part of the 4 

brief when you become the Permanent Secretary even.  That 5 

just seems odd, is probably putting it lightly.  6 

   DR. BINNS:  In fact, I understand that. 7 

   MR BARRITT:   Well, I mean, that’s why I say 8 

I’ll put it to you.  I was curious to know why you weren’t 9 

curious as the Permanent Secretary, particularly when the 10 

(point ?) of the contracts (were) put on your desk, and 11 

this responsibility is now thrust from Works and 12 

Engineering.  No one goes back and says, Well, have we been 13 

involved to this point?  What do we know?  No one says 14 

we’ve been involved to this point?  I guess that’s the 15 

case.  That’s what --  16 

   DR. BINNS:  Well, the questions that were 17 

put to me were more about why the Ministry wasn’t involved, 18 

and I could not speak to why the Ministry wasn’t involved.   19 

   MR BARRITT:   Wasn’t involved? 20 

   DR. BINNS:   Correct. 21 

   CHAIRMAN:   Well, good, thank you. Let’s 22 

move on to the other matters. 23 

   MR. HARGUN:  Thank you.  Can we turn our 24 

attention to the Dame Lois Browne Building?  In relation to 25 
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that, perhaps we can pick it up by looking at the 1 

recommendation which was made, and that is the Tender 2 

Evaluation on the 27th of October, 2007 which you will find 3 

in tab 10, page 27. 4 

   Now Dr. Binns, do you recall this document?  5 

This is the Tender Evaluation for the construction 6 

management constructor for the new Magistrate’s Courts 7 

Building. 8 

   DR. BINNS:   Yes.    9 

    MR. HARGUN:   I’ll take you through it very 10 

quickly.  You’ll see that the bidders were D&J 11 

Construction, V.C.M., Apex, Landmark Construction and 12 

Bermuda Building Services.   13 

   DR. BINNS:   Yes. 14 

   MR. HARGUN:   You’ll see the evaluation 15 

under (c) says Landmark Lisgar Construction, the joint 16 

venture was incorporated as a company in Bermuda in 2007, 17 

sets out the names of the principals, then it says, “The 18 

project will be the first project in Bermuda for this new 19 

company.  However, Landmark Construction have carried out 20 

work for Government in the past.  Recent projects included 21 

the new Hamilton Bus Terminal and the Sessions House 22 

parking area.  Landmark Construction is in good standing 23 

with the Department of Social Insurance and the Tax 24 

Department.” 25 
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   Then if you look at page 29, second 1 

paragraph, the assessment says -- this is dealing with 2 

Landmark Lisgar -- it says, “However, the detailed cost 3 

breakdown lack elements of the original bid form which was 4 

a required submission, was not completed.  This was 5 

submitted with the word “included” in each line, and the 6 

words “see form of tender” in the total line.  The 7 

allowance noted above which were part of the breakdown form 8 

were on a separate document labeled “Bid Form Appendix B1, 9 

Schedule of Allowances.”  If you look at the third 10 

paragraph from the bottom, the analysis of the bid is that 11 

the bid as received was considered incomplete and 12 

conditional because of the additional qualifying 13 

statements, assumptions or comments.  The bid can, 14 

therefore, deemed to be non-responsive.”   15 

   That was the view of the technical officers 16 

of your Department. 17 

   DR. BINNS:   Correct. 18 

   MR. HARGUN:  Then you say, next paragraph, 19 

the analysis says, “On the 12th of October, 2007, after the 20 

formal closing date, Mr. Bryan McLeod, Managing Director of 21 

Landmark Lisgar Construction wrote to the Permanent 22 

Secretary to submit further information and make certain 23 

corrections to their bid.”  So it goes on.  But for present 24 

purposes, one looks at the recommendation, this is at 25 



COMMISSION OF INQUIRY, SEPTEMBER 29, 2016                                                                                            FINAL UNEDITED TRANSCRIPT 

 143 

paragraph 6 at the document at page 31.   1 

   DR. BINNS:  Yes. 2 

   MR. HARGUN:  There it says, “Based on the 3 

bid information received on the 14th of September, analysis 4 

for cost and evaluated for correctness, completeness, 5 

conditional qualifying statements, and further discussions 6 

with our consultants, it is recommended that the 7 

construction contract for the project for the new 8 

Magistrate’s Courts/Hamilton Police Station be awarded to 9 

Apex Construction Management;” yes? 10 

   DR. BINNS:   Yes. 11 

   MR. HARGUN:   Then further, “Cabinet is 12 

invited to authorize the Ministry of Works and Engineering 13 

to award the contract for construction management to Apex;” 14 

yes? 15 

   DR. BINNS:   Yes. 16 

   MR. HARGUN:   So that was the analysis by 17 

your technical officers. 18 

   DR. BINNS:   Yes. 19 

   MR. HARGUN:   Just tell me then, who are 20 

usually technical officers -- who actually makes this 21 

analysis in the Works and Engineering? 22 

   DR. BINNS:  It would be a team made up of 23 

more than likely the Chief Engineer would be involved 24 

depending on the nature of the project.  He might also 25 



COMMISSION OF INQUIRY, SEPTEMBER 29, 2016                                                                                            FINAL UNEDITED TRANSCRIPT 

 144 

bring in other -- 1 

   MR. HARGUN:   Chief Architect? 2 

   DR. BINNS:   Chief Architect, engineers, 3 

architects, quantity surveyors, and together they would 4 

analyze -- they would be a team they would analyze the 5 

(amount ?) of bids and do the analysis. 6 

   MR. HARGUN:  In a case like this, I mean, 7 

how many people would be involved in evaluating these bids? 8 

   DR. BINNS:  I can’t state categorically what 9 

the number would be, but six, seven, eight people would not 10 

surprise me. 11 

   MR. HARGUN:  This is done over a period of 12 

time? 13 

   DR. BINNS:   Yes. 14 

   MR. HARGUN:   How long does it take? 15 

   DR. BINNS:   Depending on the nature of the 16 

work and depending on the amount of back and forth between 17 

the bidders and the analysis, it could take several weeks. 18 

   MR. HARGUN:   This was a seventy million 19 

dollar contract. 20 

   DR. BINNS:   It could take several weeks. 21 

   MR. HARGUN:   Several weeks? 22 

   DR. BINNS:   Yes. 23 

   MR. HARGUN:   That was the recommendations.  24 

And they -- if I can pick up in your Witness Statement, if 25 
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you look at paragraph 23, you say at paragraph 23 of your 1 

Witness Statement, you say, “I recall that the day before 2 

the meeting of the Cabinet on 23 of October” that 3 

presumably this recommendation was going to be considered 4 

by the Cabinet on the 23rd of October; wasn’t it?  5 

   DR. BINNS:  Yes. 6 

   MR. HARGUN:   The Minister, and the Minister 7 

at this stage was who? 8 

   DR. BINNS:   The Minister at that stage 9 

would have been Dennis Lister.   10 

   MR. HARGUN:   Okay.  “The Minister and I 11 

discussed his wish for L.L.C. to be awarded the contract.”  12 

When you say “his wish,” that is what he wanted? 13 

   DR. BINNS:   That was the preference that he 14 

had indicated to me. 15 

   MR. HARGUN: “He indicated that the 16 

recommendation for Apex as it was written could not 17 

proceed.”  Why? 18 

   DR. BINNS:   I do not know. 19 

   MR. HARGUN:  When you said he did not want 20 

Apex to proceed, but his wish was L.L.C., as Permanent 21 

Secretary, presumably you asked why. 22 

   DR. BINNS:   I cautioned the Minister as to 23 

the consequences of making a choice that was at variance 24 

with the technical recommendation.   25 
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   MR. HARGUN:   Yes.  I assumed that.  You say 1 

that the considered view assessment of the technical 2 

officers is, it should be Apex.  Did you try to ascertain 3 

the reasons why he was saying that recommendation should 4 

not be accepted? 5 

   DR. BINNS:   My chosen course of action was 6 

to indicate to the Minister the consequences of taking the 7 

course that he chose.  I did not seek explicitly to find 8 

out why he was thinking what he was thinking, but I did try 9 

to make sure that he was making his decision based on solid 10 

information provided to him, and that he was able to answer 11 

any questions that might arise.  As to whether I asked him 12 

the questions, I did indicate to him that he needed to be 13 

able to respond to any questions that would arise about his 14 

choice. 15 

   MR. HARGUN:    You may not have asked him 16 

the express question as to why was he not accepting the 17 

recommendation, did you gather by inference or otherwise 18 

why it was that he preferred L.L.C. as opposed to the 19 

recommendation of the technical officers?    20 

   DR. BINNS:   I was not able to ascertain his 21 

rationale.   22 

   MR. HARGUN:   Okay.  You said that “I 23 

advised the Minister that this might not reflect well on 24 

him with his colleagues as they would expect him to make a 25 
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recommendation to them.”  This was in the context the 1 

Minister said, well, rather than making a recommendation, 2 

why don’t we just prepare a Cabinet Memorandum. 3 

   DR. BINNS:   Yes. 4 

   MR. HARGUN:   And let the Cabinet decide. 5 

   DR. BINNS:   Yes. 6 

   MR. HARGUN:   Yes.  You say that you 7 

actually called the Cabinet Secretary as to the wisdom of 8 

this particular course. 9 

   DR. BINNS:   Yes. 10 

   MR. HARGUN:   And the Cabinet Secretary’s 11 

view was that that was not to be advised. 12 

   DR. BINNS:   The Cabinet Secretary shared 13 

the view that I had that the Minister would be better 14 

served by making a recommendation to his colleagues and not 15 

leaving it to his colleagues to make the decision.   16 

   MR. HARGUN:   Yes. 17 

   DR. BINNS:   Without his recommendation. 18 

   MR. HARGUN:   Did the Minister accept that 19 

advice? 20 

   DR. BINNS:   My recollection is that he 21 

still wished to proceed with an opportunity for his 22 

colleagues to make the decision. 23 

   MR. HARGUN:   So that would be a Memorandum 24 

which would set out the objective facts that these bids 25 
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have been received; there are potentially, say, two bidders 1 

who could be considered as acceptable, it is for the 2 

Cabinet to decide. 3 

   DR. BINNS:  Essentially.   4 

   MR. HARGUN:  Yes.  If you look at -- in the 5 

same document at page 33, this is – So, you don’t have it.  6 

Can you get him one? 7 

   CHAIRMAN:  I go from 31, 33 -- 8 

   MR. HARGUN:   It’s the Cabinet Memorandum. 9 

   DR. BINNS:   Which page would I be looking 10 

at? 11 

   MR. HARGUN:  You will be looking at page 12 

(1052 ?).   13 

   DR. BINNS:   Okay. 14 

   MR. HARGUN:   Yes.  Did you assist in 15 

drafting this document? 16 

   DR. BINNS:   I probably did.   17 

   MR. HARGUN:   Yes.  If you look at paragraph 18 

10, it’s leading up to a conclusion and invitation to the 19 

Cabinet, “Both bidders have submitted bids that are 20 

comparable to the Ministry estimate, differing from each 21 

other by only 1.4 percent approximately.  While Apex 22 

Construction Management, Limited has undertaken major 23 

projects in Bermuda, Landmark Lisgar Construction has the 24 

experience of their Canadian partner, Lisgar Construction, 25 
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based on the total both companies are evenly balanced.” 1 

   That is, of course, not consistent with the 2 

recommendation of the evaluation by the technical officers.   3 

   DR. BINNS:   Uh-huh. 4 

   MR. HARGUN:   But you were doing that on the 5 

instructions of the Minister? 6 

   DR. BINNS:   Correct. 7 

   MR. HARGUN:   And then you -- the Memorandum 8 

says, “Accordingly, Cabinet is invited to approve either 9 

Apex Construction or Landmark Lisgar, who is also the 10 

constructor for the new -- Sorry, as the constructor for 11 

the new Magistrate/Hamilton Police Station project.”   It 12 

is right that the Cabinet did not accept either of those 13 

recommendations, and told the Minister that he should come 14 

back with a positive recommendation? 15 

   DR. BINNS:   That’s correct. 16 

   MR. HARGUN:   Yes.  Then did it go back to 17 

the Cabinet? 18 

   DR. BINNS:   I believe it did. 19 

   MR. HARGUN:   If you look at -- did you -- 20 

let me ask you.  Did you actually prepare -- I say you, 21 

your Department under the direction of the Minister -- did 22 

you prepare another Cabinet Paper to go back with a 23 

recommendation, or was it simply another meeting where the 24 

Minister gave his views? 25 
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   DR. BINNS:   I believe it might have been 1 

another Cabinet Memorandum. 2 

   MR. HARGUN:   Okay.  We haven’t seen that.  3 

But let me show you the Minutes of the meeting of the 4 

Cabinet where the decision was taken.  Can I ask you to 5 

have a look at 1037?   6 

   DR. BINNS:   Yes.   7 

   MR. HARGUN:   You see that’s an extract from 8 

the Minutes of the meeting on the 30th of October, 2007.   9 

   DR. BINNS:   Yes.  10 

     MR HARGUN:   You see that for Decision, 11 

“Introducing this revised Memorandum which had been carried 12 

over from the last meeting to enable the submission to be 13 

amended to reflect a clearer rationale for the recommended 14 

company, and a clear recommendation from the Minister, the 15 

Minister of Works and Engineering again informed the 16 

colleagues its purpose was to seek Cabinet Approval for the 17 

award for the Magistrate Building.”  And then the prices 18 

are given.  Then underneath it says, “The Minister stated 19 

that both bidders have submitted bids that were comparable 20 

to the Ministry’s estimate” and makes a reference to the 21 

1.4 percent difference.  He noted that based on the total 22 

bid, both companies were overly -- evenly balance.   23 

   Then he makes this statement, “He stated 24 

that he was satisfied that the Landmark Lisgar offered the 25 
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best option for the Government, and recommended them as a 1 

successful bidder.” 2 

   DR. BINNS:   Did he share with you his 3 

rationale as to why he took the view that Landmark Lisgar 4 

offered the best option for the Government? 5 

   DR. BINNS:   He did not. 6 

   MR. HARGUN:   The Minute of this Cabinet 7 

meeting does not record that the Minister ever advised the 8 

Cabinet that there, in fact, had been a tender evaluation 9 

by the technical officers of the Works and Engineering 10 

Department, and they had, in fact, recommended in clear 11 

terms that the contract should be awarded to Apex.  Is one 12 

to deduce from this Minute that no such information was 13 

disclosed to the Cabinet? 14 

   DR. BINNS:   I would believe that to be the 15 

case. 16 

   CHAIRMAN:   I’m sorry -- 17 

   DR. BINNS:   I would believe that to be the 18 

case.  19 

   MR. HARGUN:   It is right, I believe, Dr. 20 

Binns, that the tender evaluation which appears at page 21 

1027, consisting of five pages --  22 

   DR. BINNS:   Yes. 23 

   MR. HARGUN:   The tender evaluation dated 27 24 

October 2007 consisting of five pages recommended Apex as 25 
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the preferred contractor was never disclosed to the 1 

Cabinet? 2 

   DR. BINNS:   I cannot confirm that.  I would 3 

not have been in the room, so I do not -- I cannot confirm 4 

if it was disclosed or not. 5 

   MR. HARGUN:   The Minister always said that 6 

this is not the recommendation he wants to take to the 7 

Cabinet. 8 

   DR. BINNS:   Correct.   9 

   MR. HARGUN:   It would be unusual for him to 10 

disclose this document if that was the case? 11 

   DR. BINNS:   Again, I cannot comment on what 12 

happened in the room. 13 

   MR BARRITT:  Who prepares Cabinet 14 

Memorandum? 15 

   DR. BINNS:   The technical officers, 16 

depending on the purpose, and depending on the resources.  17 

It varies, depending on the officers. 18 

   MR BARRITT:   It did not all go or come from 19 

the Permanent Secretary? 20 

   DR. BINNS:   The Permanent Secretary would 21 

be the last one to review them, and most Permanent 22 

Secretaries would ensure that all is in order before that 23 

paper reaches the Ministry. 24 

   MR BARRITT:  So, one would presume that you 25 
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reviewed the papers that went to Cabinet? 1 

   DR. BINNS:  Oh Yes.   2 

       MR BARRITT:  So, wouldn’t it have struck you 3 

as unusual if the recommendation of the technical officers 4 

would never form any Cabinet memorandum?   5 

      DR BINNS:  In this instance, the Minister 6 

made it clear that he did not wish to proceed with the 7 

Cabinet award recommendation but he wished to proceed 8 

within the first instance inviting his colleagues to make a 9 

choice, and in the second instance his colleagues asked him 10 

to come back with a recommendation. 11 

   MR BARRITT:  So it’s not common practice 12 

that the evaluation, either long or short, in the Cabinet 13 

Memorandum the technical officers were not to form part of 14 

the Cabinet memorandum.  15 

   DR. BINNS:   It is normally attached as an 16 

annex. 17 

   MR BARRITT:  It is normally attached.  18 

That’s why I asked you the question would it not have 19 

struck you an unusual that this was not going to the 20 

Cabinet. 21 

   DR. BINNS:   It did not strike me as unusual 22 

because the Minister made a choice.  It is the Minister’s 23 

memorandum.  He decides what he wants the content to be in 24 

the Memorandum.  He decides what he wants to include in the 25 
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Memorandum.  1 

     MR BARRITT:   So he had overridden you? 2 

   DR. BINNS:   He had made a clear from the 3 

beginning, yeah. 4 

   MR. HARGUN:  Dr. Binns, could I possibly ask 5 

you to have a look at page 43, tab 4?   6 

   DR. BINNS:   In the big Binder? 7 

   MR. HARGUN:   In the big one.  This is a 8 

Memorandum dated 17th of November, 2008.  It is a 9 

Memorandum to File from Christina Kokosky. Do you see that? 10 

   DR. BINNS:   I do see it. 11 

   MR. HARGUN:   Who was Christina Kokosky? 12 

   DR. BINNS:  She was an architect within the 13 

Ministry.   14 

   MR. HARGUN:   Yes.  I want you to have a 15 

look at what you said at page 1044.  You see, she is -- let 16 

me pick it up at the first full sentence.  “After the tour, 17 

the brochure was reviewed with consulting architecture Sam 18 

Spagnuna of C. S. & D. Architects, Inc. who recognized the 19 

quality, facility and commented that Lisgar Construction 20 

were not the contractor for the building, they may have 21 

played a minor role on a sub-contract as consulting 22 

architect.  Investigation did not go into depths of 23 

detail.”  They were the partners with Landmark. 24 

   DR. BINNS:   Yes. 25 
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   MR. HARGUN:  “The most recent facility 1 

Lisgar Construction completed was a sewage treatment plant 2 

in Kazakhstan which is not indicative of a similar building 3 

type.  Concerns that the team of Landmark Lisgar 4 

Construction, Limited were not experienced in this building 5 

type were conveyed by the project management to the 6 

Permanent Secretary.”  You were the Permanent Secretary at 7 

the time? 8 

   DR. BINNS:   Yes. 9 

   MR. HARGUN:   She is saying that the 10 

concerns that they were not experienced in this type of 11 

building were conveyed to you. 12 

   DR. BINNS:   Uh-huh. 13 

   MR. HARGUN:   Did you convey those concerns 14 

to the Minister? 15 

   DR. BINNS:   Yes.  The concerns that arose 16 

through the tender award recommendation and all of the 17 

concerns that had been brought to our attention were shared 18 

with the Minister. 19 

   MR. HARGUN:   Thank you.   20 

   CHAIRMAN:   I see that that memo was written 21 

to file a few days after the Cabinet meeting.  Can you 22 

explain why somebody of that sort would write a memo to 23 

file? 24 

   DR. BINNS:  I can’t explain what she was 25 



COMMISSION OF INQUIRY, SEPTEMBER 29, 2016                                                                                            FINAL UNEDITED TRANSCRIPT 

 156 

thinking when she did it.  I can’t answer that.   1 

   CHAIRMAN:   On the face of it, it means the 2 

person writing it wants something put on record so it can 3 

be preserved indicating possibly a certain disquiet.    4 

   DR. BINNS:   Yes.  I can understand that 5 

conclusion. 6 

   MR. HARGUN:   Could I ask you to please have 7 

a look at page 1039?   8 

   DR. BINNS:   Yes. 9 

   MR. HARGUN:   You see there is an exchange 10 

of email between you and Lawrence Brady, who was the Chief 11 

Architect at the time. 12 

   DR. BINNS:   Yes. 13 

   MR. HARGUN:   Taking it from the bottom, 14 

which is from Lawrence Brady, email to you and under 15 

Contractual Discussions with Landmark Lisgar he says, “For 16 

clarification and the record, I would like to reaffirm that 17 

the analysis carried out on three submissions received on 18 

September 14, 2007 by the technical officers in this 19 

Department came to a different conclusion to that the 20 

decision to enter into the contractual discussions with 21 

Landmark Lisgar.” 22 

   DR. BINNS:   Yes. 23 

   MR. HARGUN:   That was an email to you, and 24 

you replied back to him on November 19th saying -- you 25 
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said, “Lawrence, thank you for the information.  I’m keenly 1 

aware of the outcome of the analysis by technical officers.  2 

However, I am also aware that the Minister completed his 3 

own analysis and came to a different position which he then 4 

recommended to his colleagues and obtained their approval 5 

for the same.”  Now you refer to the Minister completed his 6 

own analysis and came to a different conclusion.  Do you 7 

know what analysis he carried out? 8 

   DR. BINNS:   I do not have the details of 9 

his own analysis. 10 

   MR. HARGUN:   I’m going to move to another 11 

topic unless you have further questions on this.   12 

   CHAIRMAN:   No.  I don’t think we have any 13 

more.  Dr. Binns, I’m noticing the time.  You’ve had a very 14 

long stint.  We’ll take a break some time but would you 15 

like to finish your evidence now or would you like a break?  16 

   DR. BINNS:   I’m happy to continue. 17 

   CHAIRMAN:   You’re happy to go.  And, 18 

counsel, you’re happy to go? 19 

   MR. HARGUN:   I’m happy to go.   20 

   Ms. MEMARI:   Mr. Chairman, it seems to me 21 

that one crucial issue that has not been addressed this 22 

afternoon is the respective roles of the Permanent 23 

Secretary and a Government Minister.  Dr. Binns should be 24 

given the opportunity to address the Commission on whether 25 
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he thinks that is wrong for the Minister to go against the 1 

recommendation of technical officers. 2 

   MR. HARGUN:   The topic I was going to move 3 

onto next. 4 

   CHAIRMAN:  I will ask a question on those 5 

lines.  I don’t think it’s fair to ask the witness whether 6 

it’s wrong but there are questions like that which could 7 

well be answered.   8 

   MR. HARGUN:   Dr. Binns, this was the 9 

Magistrate’s Court Building.  It was perhaps an extreme 10 

example of a case where the Minister takes a completely 11 

different view from the recommendation of the technical 12 

officers.  In your experience, perhaps you can’t answer it 13 

and if you can’t please tell us.   14 

           Just concentrating in relation to Works and 15 

Engineering, which is the Department which is primarily 16 

engaged in capital projects, how often does it happen that 17 

the Minister takes a different view from the technical 18 

officers? 19 

   DR. BINNS:   There are many decisions that 20 

are made in the Ministry -- 21 

   CHAIRMAN:  Speak up, please. 22 

   DR. BINNS:   There are many decisions that 23 

are made within a Ministry based on advice.  But for a 24 

project as complex and large as this it would not be very 25 
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common for a Minister to not accept the advice. 1 

   MR. HARGUN:   What is your understanding in 2 

terms of the relationship between a technical officer, say 3 

a relationship between a Permanent Secretary and a 4 

Minister, and in relation to technical matters in respect 5 

to which a recommendation has been made by technical 6 

officers?  Is it your understanding that the Minister can 7 

disagree for whatever reason he wants to, or is there a 8 

convention or understanding that he can only disagree in 9 

certain defined circumstances? 10 

   DR. BINNS:   It’s the Minister’s 11 

responsibility to make decisions.  The technical officers’ 12 

responsibility is to do a full analysis, provide sound 13 

information to the Minister, to enable the Minister to make 14 

an informed decision.  Once the Minister has that 15 

information, it’s his responsibility to set apart himself 16 

on a decision that he wishes to take to his colleagues as a 17 

recommendation.  It’s the responsibility of the technical 18 

officers to satisfy themselves that they have given the 19 

Minister all the information required.  In the example that 20 

you’re using, should the Minister wish to deviate from the 21 

recommendation that the Minister is aware of the possible 22 

consequences of doing that.   23 

    In this example it would be that the 24 

Minister was given an opportunity to understand that his 25 
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colleagues would perhaps want him to come back with a 1 

recommendation as opposed to giving it to them, but if he 2 

is choosing to move with a decision that was contrary to 3 

the recommendation provided by the technical officers, that 4 

he will be able to explain to his colleagues his rationale 5 

for doing so.   6 

   MR. HARGUN:   But that – So, your answer 7 

would be that the Minister is perfectly free to disagree 8 

with the recommendation from the technical officers as long 9 

as he can explain why he is disagreeing from a clear 10 

recommendation from the technical officers? 11 

   DR. BINNS:  That is correct. 12 

   MR. HARGUN:  But that assumes that the 13 

Minister must disclose to -- say, for example, here -- the 14 

Cabinet, that the technical officers had made 15 

recommendation X, but I am recommending to you that it 16 

should be Y, and these are the reasons. 17 

   DR. BINNS:   That would be the expectation 18 

and if the advice is given on the basis that, he would be 19 

able to stand behind his decision and explain to his 20 

colleagues why he has deviated or not accepted the 21 

recommendation of the technical officers. 22 

   MR. HARGUN:  So your position would be, the 23 

Minister is free to do so as long as he can explain in 24 

logical, rational terms why it differs from the 25 
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recommendation of the technical officers? 1 

   DR. BINNS:  That’s correct. 2 

   MR BARRITT:   But how could they know?  They 3 

don’t know what the technical officers had recommended?  I 4 

think you pointed out in the case we discussed earlier.  5 

You were overridden and told not to include in the Cabinet 6 

Memorandum what the technical officers were recommending.   7 

   MR. HARGUN:  Right.  Just on that, you can 8 

answer if you like, but perhaps you can answer the two 9 

questions together.  Your answer assumes that it is -- 10 

there is an obligation on the part of the Minister when 11 

making a declaration -- when making a recommendation to the 12 

Cabinet to disclose if there has been a contrary 13 

recommendation by the technical officers. 14 

   DR. BINNS:   There’s certainly an 15 

expectation. 16 

   MR BARRITT:   Not an obligation? 17 

   DR. BINNS:   The -- 18 

   MR BARRITT:   Thinking now of Codes of 19 

Conduct. 20 

   DR. BINNS:   Yes. 21 

   MR BARRITT:   The Ministerial Code of 22 

Conduct. 23 

   DR. BINNS:   The Minister -- the Cabinet 24 

works under collective responsibility.  On that basis, the 25 
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Minister who is making recommendations should be giving 1 

Cabinet full information so they can make an informed 2 

decision, in the same manner as a Permanent Secretary 3 

should be giving full information to the Minister.  So, in 4 

order to make that informed decision, one would expect that 5 

there would be sufficient information provided. 6 

   MR BARRITT:  To be clear, it is not your 7 

responsibility as Permanent Secretary to make sure that 8 

happens? 9 

   DR. BINNS:   Our responsibility is to make 10 

sure the Minister makes an informed choice.  What happens 11 

in the room we’re not there. 12 

   CHAIRMAN:   It occurs to me and one could 13 

say that it should be duty on the Minister to tell Cabinet 14 

that there has been a technical recommendation different 15 

from what he recommends. But you could reach the result, 16 

same result, quite simply by saying the Minister must 17 

always place the recommendation before the Cabinet.  If he 18 

wants them to do something different, he can then explain 19 

why. 20 

   MR BINNS:   That was a long convoluted 21 

piece.  Would you mind repeating what you said? 22 

   CHAIRMAN:   One reaches the same result, 23 

same position, if you have a simple requirement that the 24 

Minister always places the technical recommendation before 25 
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Cabinet?  1 

    DR. BINNS:   If there was a requirement. 2 

   CHAIRMAN:  Well, that’s what I say.  That’s 3 

what the requirement should be?  There always is a 4 

recommendation presumably. 5 

   DR. BINNS:  It varies.  Some come as 6 

contract award recommendations, some come as Cabinet 7 

memoranda leading to a recommendation.  Some have a 8 

contract of work recommendation attached as an annex.  The 9 

analysis that is done by the technical officers would be 10 

presented in a form of a contract award recommendation. 11 

   CHAIRMAN:  What would your comment be on a 12 

suggestion were we to make that there should be a rule to 13 

the effect that the Ministry’s recommendation, the 14 

technical recommendation should always be placed before 15 

Cabinet and if the Minister wishes to say, another choice 16 

should be made, he can then explain it to Cabinet.   17 

   DR. BINNS:   I don’t see any harm in the 18 

recommendation.  Ministers have the ability to make their -19 

- and responsibility to make their decision.  It is because 20 

of collective responsibility it is important that they 21 

receive full information so they can make a fully informed 22 

decision.  So if the intent of the recommendation is to 23 

ensure that there is full information provided, I see no 24 

harm in it. 25 
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   MR BRADSHAW:   I have a further question.   1 

My understanding from the various things indicated to us is 2 

that you see (ripping ?) itself separation between the 3 

roles of civil servant and the politic… I’ll call them 4 

politicians as opposed to Ministers – because the civil 5 

servants as I understand it are folks who are government 6 

employees who are sufficiently technically proficient to 7 

understand the scope of these challenges of the project, 8 

etc., and politicians… Well, sometimes they sit in the 9 

chair and sometimes they don’t sit in the chair.  Is that 10 

fair? 11 

   DR. BINNS:   Correct.    12 

   MR BRADSHAW:   What I feel like I’ve heard 13 

from you is that the civil servant can only go so far as 14 

far as giving their recommendations, and then the 15 

politicians -- whatever the politician says sort of weighs 16 

at the end.  Is that what you -- in terms, is that what 17 

you’re trying to communicate to us? 18 

   DR. BINNS:   Yes.  To put is at shorthand -- 19 

just a general shorthand rule of thumb, we advise, they 20 

decide.   21 

    MR BRADSHAW:   Okay.  So my question then 22 

is, let’s say one is dealing with a very large project that 23 

is critically important to our country; right?  And one 24 

recognizes that the decisions that are being made may or 25 
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may not have been as well considered as they may have 1 

otherwise have been. Right? And one’s a civil servant. 2 

   What do you recommend -- I’m asking you for 3 

your recommendation -- my understanding from what you 4 

shared with us is that maybe you personally may have 5 

thought that your hands may have been tyed. I don’t know; 6 

is that fair to say? 7 

   DR. BINNS:   I think you need to, again, get 8 

a good sense of the role and the responsibilities.  My 9 

responsibility as a Permanent Secretary is to ensure that 10 

the Minister has full information, to ensure that if he is 11 

proceeding down a path that I believe may be problematic, 12 

that I point out to the Minister what the problems might be 13 

if he followed that path.  If the Minister continues to say 14 

that he understands but he will, I need to satisfy myself 15 

that I’ve done all that I can to bring to the Minister’s 16 

attention all the ramifications of the decision that he is 17 

about to make.  But once that process has concluded and the 18 

Minister makes a decision, my obligation is to implement 19 

the Minister’s decision. 20 

   MR BRADSHAW:  Okay.  So are you then 21 

suggesting that you feel that our system of checks and 22 

balances as in place today is sufficient? 23 

   DR. BINNS:  Yes, because Ministers represent 24 

the elected Government.  They represent persons who have 25 
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set themselves forth to the population of the country on a 1 

platform to achieve certain ends.  They then come in and 2 

they are charged with the responsibility to make decisions 3 

to achieve those ends.  All of our job is to assist them to 4 

achieve those ends by pointing out to them issues that 5 

might arise should particular circumstances arise.  But it 6 

remains their responsibility to make those decisions. 7 

   MS. MEMARI:   If I may, Dr. Binns, you’re 8 

familiar with the provision…  9 

   CHAIRMAN:   Have you finished Mr. Hargun? 10 

   MR. HARGUN:  I haven’t; no.   11 

   MS. MEMARI:   This is in line with the 12 

questions that he’s being asked. 13 

   CHAIRMAN:  Do you want to ask a question on 14 

this context?  Very well.  15 

   MS. MEMARI:   Yes, because I do think that 16 

the obligations of the civil servants as 17 

(clarified/codified ?) by the conditions of employment and 18 

Code of Conduct is very important and significant.  So, 19 

perhaps for the sake of brevity it would be simply easier 20 

for me to ask Dr. Binns to read out the provision that 21 

relates to what is required of a civil servant if the 22 

Minister does not accept their advice.  If I could just ask 23 

you to -- 24 

   DR. BINNS:   You mean read 709? 25 
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   MS. MEMARI:   Yes, please. 1 

   DR. BINNS:   This is taken from the 2 

Conditions of Employment and Code of Conduct.  It’s item 3 

709.  “Officers should never seek, frustrate or influence 4 

the policies, decisions or actions of Ministers by the 5 

unauthorized, improper or premature disclosure of any 6 

information to which they have had access. Nor should 7 

officers seek to frustrate the policies, decisions or 8 

actions of the Government by declining to take or 9 

abstaining from action which flows from decisions by 10 

Ministers.  Where an officer feels unhappy to carry out the 11 

action required, and the resolution to the matter cannot be 12 

achieved, the officer should either carry out the 13 

instruction or resign from the Civil Service and observe 14 

his or her duty and obligation to maintain 15 

confidentiality.” 16 

   The essence of this as I tried to describe 17 

earlier that our responsibility is to ensure that the 18 

Minister fully understands the consequences and 19 

implications of any choice, but the choice remains that of 20 

the Minister.  Once a Minister has made that choice our 21 

obligation is to implement that choice.  We also have to 22 

satisfy ourselves that we’ve done our best to enable the 23 

Minister to make an informed decision.  24 

  MS MEMARI & MR. HARGUN:  Thank you.   25 
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      MR HARGUN:  Can we just move onto a slightly 1 

different topic, and that’s the – Obviously, the issues in 2 

relation to procurement and construction contracts have 3 

been looked upon by the Government and by outside agencies.  4 

I want to talk to you about that. 5 

  CHAIRMAN:  Mr. Hargun, (a) I can’t hear very 6 

well and (b) looking at the time I think we ought to make  7 

a decision that we’re going to have a break and related to 8 

that, whether we’re going to be able to start any other 9 

witness this afternoon? 10 

  MR. HARGUN:   I will be probably -- It is a 11 

topic which we need to cover with this witness. 12 

  CHAIRMAN:   Is Mr. Telemaque here? 13 

  MS. MEMARI:   Yes. 14 

  MR. HARGUN:   He’s here. Maybe we should 15 

stop. 16 

  CHAIRMAN:   So I’ll ask you, counsel, 17 

wouldn’t it be better to say now we’re not going to be able  18 

to start his evidence this afternoon?  Are you in a 19 

position to say when you might be able to? 20 

  MR. HARGUN:   Possibly tomorrow. 21 

  CHAIRMAN:   And, of course, make sure it is 22 

convenient to him as well.  23 

  MS. MEMARI:   If I may just assist, we were 24 

trying to find out from Mr. Anthony Manders by being of 25 
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assistance to the Commission whether he can start at 10:00.  1 

I can find that out now so that a decision can be made 2 

(indiscernible 03:44:20). 3 

  CHAIRMAN:  Why don’t we take a ten-minute 4 

break now?  Dr. Binns, that will give you a break.  It will 5 

give us a break and also enable tomorrow’s schedule to be 6 

sorted out. You appreciate you should not talk about these 7 

matters during the interval.   8 

      MR BINNS:  Understood. 9 

  CHAIRMAN:  Thank you very much.  10 

(Recess taken.) 11 

(Recess ended.) 12 

  MR. HARGUN:   Dr. Binns, could I ask you to 13 

have a quick look at the K.P.M.G. Report, which you will 14 

find in a Binder marked B, tab 1.  Are you familiar with 15 

the K.P.M.G. Report? 16 

   DR. BINNS:   I am not.  17 

   MR. HARGUN:   Okay.  By way of background, 18 

in around 2010 the Government, I think through Ministry of 19 

Finance, asked K.P.M.G. Advisory to prepare a report in 20 

relation to how the development and implementation of 21 

capital projects is done in Bermuda compared to leading 22 

international practices.  Do you recall that? 23 

   DR. BINNS:   Very unlikely.  I do not have a 24 

good recollection of those at all.   25 
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   MR. HARGUN:   That’s fine.  Have a look.  I 1 

just want to show you what the recommendations were, and 2 

then I’ll ask you some questions.  If you go to page 3, the 3 

pages are at the bottom of the page.   4 

   DR. BINNS:   Okay. 5 

   MR. HARGUN:   Do you see that?  It’s 6 

Executive Summary at the top.   7 

   DR. BINNS:   Okay; yes.   8 

   MR. HARGUN:   You’ll see, just to give you 9 

the background, K.P.M.G. Advisory, Limited was retained by 10 

the Ministry of Finance to conduct a diagnostic review of 11 

how the development and implementation of a small sample of 12 

capital projects compares with the leading international 13 

practices.  I won’t read it out, but you’ll see the six 14 

projects which they looked at.  Then you’ll see under 15 

Compliance with Policy and Procedures, they say -- K.P.M.G. 16 

findings indicate that half of the projects reviewed did 17 

not comply with Government policies and procedures for 18 

capital project development.  You see that? 19 

   DR. BINNS:   I see that. 20 

   MR. HARGUN:   Then, just for present 21 

purposes, just note one of their recommendations.  If you 22 

go to the next page, just above Compliance with the Leading 23 

International Practices, you’ll see the sentence, K.P.M.G. 24 

recommends that the Ministry develop an independent 25 
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oversight authority to help manage capital projects and 1 

ensure compliance with Government policies and procedures.  2 

Were you aware of that recommendation? 3 

   DR. BINNS:   I can’t say that I was. 4 

   MR. HARGUN:   That’s all right.  In that 5 

case, can I ask you to have a look at another internal 6 

report, which is at the next tab, that is by the Management 7 

Consulting Section of the Government of Bermuda.  Can you 8 

just tell us where the Management Consulting Section fits 9 

in in the organization of the Government of Bermuda? 10 

   DR. BINNS:   It is a section within the 11 

Cabinet Office. 12 

   MR. HARGUN:   So you’re familiar with that, 13 

given your capacity -- 14 

   DR. BINNS:   I am familiar with the 15 

Management Consulting Services. 16 

   MR. HARGUN:   Right.  Are you familiar with 17 

this particular project?  This was the Office of Project 18 

Management and Procurement. 19 

   DR. BINNS:   Generally. 20 

   MR. HARGUN:   I want you to have a look at 21 

page -- If you look at the page numbers on the side you’ll 22 

see it says 757.  I want you to look at page 758.  Problem 23 

of Definition. 24 

   DR. BINNS:   Yes. 25 
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   MR. HARGUN:   Right?  Before you look at 1 

that, I just want to make sure that I gave you the context.  2 

This was a presentation for the Premier and the Cabinet 3 

Secretary, and it was given in February 2011.  That’s at 4 

the front. 5 

   DR. BINNS:   Yes. 6 

   MR. HARGUN:   I think it was prepared by 7 

Kevin Johnston and Ianthia Fox.  Are they officers within 8 

the Management Section? 9 

   DR. BINNS:   Ianthia Fox is still there.  10 

Kevin Johnston is not. 11 

   MR. HARGUN:   Okay.  But he was there? 12 

   DR. BINNS:  He was there. 13 

   MR. HARGUN:  Okay.  So. if you go back to 14 

that particular page that I wanted to you to have a look 15 

at, 758, you’ll see this is a slide which says Problem of 16 

Definition.  The workshop participants identified and 17 

agreed upon the following problems/issues during the half 18 

day workshop sessions.  These provide the basis for 19 

subsequent recommendations.     20 

   1. Ministers have become involved in 21 

operational decision making for procurement and contracting 22 

in Bermuda Public Service.  In extreme cases, 23 

recommendation for contract awards made by technical 24 

officers following tendering were changed.  Post-tender 25 
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modification then resulted in contracts awarded to 1 

companies not included in the original bid process.  This 2 

is circumvention of procedures. 3 

   Now, this is the Management Section and they 4 

have identified it as a problem, and they put it in those 5 

terms.  Do you agree that this is a problem, and do you 6 

agree the way it is put? 7 

   DR. BINNS:   I note here that it says that 8 

contract awards were changed.  I’m not familiar with 9 

contract awards being changed.  I am familiar with 10 

Ministerial decisions being different than those 11 

recommended by contract awards.  It’s a difference, I 12 

believe, to say that the award was changed. 13 

   MR. HARGUN:   Yes.   14 

   DR. BINNS:   That the recommendation was 15 

changed. 16 

   MR. HARGUN:   I see.  But subject to that, 17 

that other point is being made.  The crux of that paragraph 18 

as I understand it, it is being asserted that there is too 19 

much Ministerial intervention.  Have I properly 20 

characterized that issue?  21 

   DR. BINNS:   I can’t comment on that.  I was 22 

not a part of this group that had the discussion.  That is 23 

their representation. 24 

   MR. HARGUN:   Yes.  This was in -- in all 25 
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fairness -- this report was in 2011, so it’s five years 1 

old. 2 

   DR. BINNS:  Correct.   3 

   MR. HARGUN:   Do you have any understanding 4 

whether that was an issue as paragraph 1 asserts at the 5 

time? 6 

   DR. BINNS:   It depends on how persons who 7 

are functioning at whatever level they’re functioning 8 

perceive the role of Ministers.  It must be understood that 9 

Ministers have a responsibility to make decisions.  Making 10 

a decision is not interference. 11 

   MR. HARGUN:   No. 12 

   DR. BINNS:   Making a decision that is 13 

contrary to what the technical officers might have analyzed 14 

is not interference.  The Minister is exercising the 15 

responsibility to decide.   16 

   MR. HARGUN:   Right.  But one of the points 17 

they make is that they are involved at a level which really 18 

is a level for technical officers.  For example, the first 19 

line, Ministers have become involved in operational 20 

decision making.  Do you understand what is being said in 21 

that sentence? 22 

   DR. BINNS:   I do understand what is being 23 

said.   24 

   MR. HARGUN:   What is being said there? 25 
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   DR. BINNS:   That the Ministers are getting 1 

involved in operational matters that are normally the 2 

responsibility of technical officers. 3 

   MR. HARGUN:   Yes. 4 

   DR. BINNS:   We probably discussed it 5 

earlier today.  A Minister’s responsibility is for policy, 6 

and once they make a policy decision it is the civil 7 

servant’s responsibility to implement those decisions. 8 

   MR. HARGUN:  Well, let’s give an example.  9 

For example, you wouldn’t expect the Minister of Public 10 

Works and Engineering to pick up drawings and take it to an 11 

architect to see if he could get a lower price. 12 

   DR. BINNS:   I’m not able to comment on 13 

that.  There’s probably another context involved in 14 

something like that.  So without any context it’s difficult 15 

to comment. 16 

   MR. HARGUN:  Fair enough.  I mean, that sort 17 

of activity would generally be considered the work of 18 

technical officers? 19 

   DR. BINNS:  Technical officers are the ones 20 

who are normally involved in liaising with contractors.   21 

   MR. HARGUN:   Yes; of course.  So after that 22 

you see in paragraph 2, Permanent Secretaries have not 23 

fulfilled their duty to provide guidance as to the 24 

Minister’s role and involvement in operations and decision 25 
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making for procurement and contracting within the Bermuda 1 

Public Service.  This is what was being said within the 2 

Government, and this is a report in 2011.  Do you recall 3 

that that was an issue at the time?   4 

   DR. BINNS:   There had been discussions and 5 

commentary made about the level of Ministerial involvement, 6 

but it is easy to make commentary, but it’s more difficult 7 

to actually substantiate that commentary with evidence and 8 

with fact.  So I see what’s written, but like I said, it’s 9 

easy just to make a comment. 10 

   MR. HARGUN:   It is right, isn’t it, that 11 

following the K.P.M.G. Report and this internal management 12 

report within Government, there was legislation introduced 13 

dealing with the issue of procurement.   14 

   DR. BINNS:  I believe, if I’m not mistaken, 15 

around 2010 there were a few pieces of legislative change 16 

all around the idea of Good Governance --   17 

   MR. HARGUN:   Yes. 18 

   DR. BINNS:  -- including management and 19 

procurement.   20 

   MR. HARGUN:  That’s exactly what I wanted 21 

you to have a look at.  If you pick up Binder A; right?  22 

Look at tab 2, and there you should find the Good 23 

Governance Act 2011.   24 

   DR. BINNS:  Tab 2. 25 
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   MR. HARGUN:  Tab 2.  Specifically, I want 1 

you to have a look at the -- on page 2, Establishment of 2 

the Office of Project Management and Procurement. 3 

   DR. BINNS:   Yes. 4 

   MR. HARGUN:   You’ll see that under that 5 

section they’ve established the Office of Project 6 

Management and Procurement for the purposes of providing 7 

professional qualified procurement expertise, and then to 8 

ensure that there’s no bias in awarding Government 9 

contracts, to identify and apply performance measures, to 10 

ensure the best practices, to advise, guide and support the 11 

development of and adherence to the procurement 12 

regulations.  Can you tell us whether that office has been 13 

established? 14 

   DR. BINNS:   It has been established. 15 

   MR. HARGUN:   And it is within which 16 

Ministry? 17 

   DR. BINNS:   At the moment it is in the 18 

Cabinet Office.  I take that back. I think we’ve had some 19 

changes and… It’s in the Cabinet Office, I believe. 20 

   MR. HARGUN:   Did it start with the Ministry 21 

of Finance? 22 

   DR. BINNS:   It started with the Ministry of 23 

Finance. 24 

   MR. HARGUN:   Yes.  It says under Section 2, 25 
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the office shall consist of a public officer known as 1 

Director of Project Management and Procurement.  Do we have 2 

a Director of Project Management and Procurement? 3 

   DR. BINNS:  There’s someone in the post as a 4 

designate at the moment. 5 

   MR. HARGUN:   So this person will become a 6 

substantive post holder? 7 

   DR. BINNS:   Yes.  There is a department 8 

plan in place, and once the conditions have been achieved, 9 

the person then will be considered for appointment. 10 

   MR. HARGUN:   Considered? 11 

   DR. BINNS:   Considered for appointment. 12 

   MR. HARGUN:   When will that happen in 13 

terms? 14 

   DR. BINNS:   I do not know the details of 15 

the development plan so I cannot specify when it will 16 

occur.  But there is person in the post and doing their 17 

job.   18 

   MR. HARGUN:   Okay.  Just to get an idea so 19 

the Commissioners can have an idea.  Within this office, 20 

how many people are there?   21 

   DR. BINNS:   I’m not familiar with the 22 

staffing.  I’d hate to hazard a guess.  It’s not a very 23 

large Department, but… I would hate to hazard a guess.  I 24 

don’t have the numbers at hand.   25 
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   MR. HARGUN:   I mean, fair enough.  Do you 1 

know -- I mean, obviously there is one person who will 2 

eventually be the Director of Project Management and 3 

Procurement.  Do you know what the structure of that 4 

Department is? 5 

   DR. BINNS:   Generally, it’s a main 6 

Department, probably the Director, probably a couple of 7 

project managers, and a couple of other officers to assist. 8 

   MR. HARGUN:   I mean, if you look at the 9 

statutory jurisdictional base and their functions, it gives 10 

the impression that it is a substantial body of people. 11 

   DR. BINNS:   It’s not a substantial body of 12 

people. 13 

   MR. HARGUN:   Okay.  Then it says that the -14 

- Well, let’s look at the functions:  Oversight of all 15 

Government procurement, including contracts and all pre-16 

contract negotiations.  That’s one of their functions.  Is 17 

that being carried out at this stage? 18 

   DR. BINNS:   They are generally involved in 19 

contract award recommendation in an oversight capacity.  20 

For example, a Cabinet Memorandum comes to award a contract 21 

to a company or an individual.  The normal procedure is for 22 

the tendering process to be reviewed by the Office of 23 

Project Management and Procurement and they would give an 24 

opinion to the responsible Department about it, and if 25 
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there were issues to be addressed they would be encouraged 1 

to address those issues.   2 

    Ultimately, when the Cabinet Paper which is 3 

my desk as Cabinet Secretary in order to get on to the 4 

agenda, I would look for the indications that that office 5 

has been consulted on the process, and I would look to see 6 

if I had received confirmation from the Director as to his 7 

opinion on that process.  If I don’t have it, I would write 8 

to the Director directly and obtain that.  But in almost in 9 

every instance I would get a copy of his advice on each the 10 

procurement processes that he has reviewed. 11 

   MR. HARGUN:   So do I understand it 12 

correctly that what has now happened is that there is an 13 

additional layer of review.  Let’s assume that it’s 14 

assigned to Works and Engineering.  The technical officers 15 

of the Works and Engineering carry out an assessment, 16 

evaluation of the bid process.  They say it should be 17 

awarded to X.  At that stage, rather than taking it to the 18 

Cabinet for its decision, then it’s passed on to the 19 

Director of Project Management and Procurement for his 20 

opinion? 21 

   DR. BINNS:   Yes.   22 

   MR. HARGUN:   His input. 23 

   DR. BINNS:   Yes. 24 

   MR. HARGUN:   You say either that is 25 
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included in the analysis or his separate opinion is 1 

provided to the Cabinet? 2 

   DR. BINNS:   To me as Cabinet Secretary and 3 

I can affirm when I submit the Cabinet Paper for 4 

consideration for the agenda that the line that says, Kevin 5 

-- that O.P.M.P. has been consulted, that they actually 6 

have been consulted.  That piece has been done.  7 

   MR. HARGUN:   Okay.  Now so the bid process 8 

has changed to that extent that there is an additional 9 

layer. 10 

   DR. BINNS:   Yes. 11 

   MR. HARGUN:   You have been Permanent 12 

Secretary and now you’re Cabinet Secretary.  How else has 13 

this establishment of this office changed how projects are 14 

procured and managed in technical terms? 15 

   DR. BINNS:   It has added a layer of 16 

oversight, and it has ensured that the necessary rigour is 17 

applied to the procurement process, and it provides 18 

confidence to the Cabinet when they are making a decision 19 

that all of the necessary procedures have been followed in 20 

the making of the recommendation. 21 

   MR. HARGUN:   Right.  But I mean, in 22 

practical terms, say take procurement.   What is their role 23 

in procurement? 24 

   DR. BINNS:   Well it’s --  25 
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   MR. HARGUN:   Let’s say in relation to a bid 1 

process we just discussed what happens, but in relation to 2 

ongoing management of a project, what do they do?  Do they 3 

do anything? 4 

   DR. BINNS:  The concept is that they would 5 

also have a role in project management, but as I indicated, 6 

the staffing is somewhat lean at the moment and they’re not 7 

able to project manage every project that the Government is 8 

undertaking.  You might also be aware that we’re under a 9 

hiring freeze at the moment so there’s no likelihood at the 10 

moment that we’re going to be increasing the staffing of 11 

that unit.  So they have to be selective in the projects in 12 

which they get involved in terms of project management.   13 

   MR. HARGUN:   Do you have an understanding 14 

of when the idea of this Office of Project Management and 15 

Procurement was conceived as it is enshrined in this 16 

statute?  Do you have an idea what complement of number of 17 

people would be in this Department? 18 

   DR. BINNS:   I was not involved in the 19 

development of the office, so I cannot comment on what the 20 

intent was. 21 

   MR. HARGUN:  Okay.  The statute also 22 

requires that the Director shall -- mandatory requirement -23 

- issue a Code of Practice for Project Management.  Does 24 

that exist? 25 
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   DR. BINNS:   It is drafted.  It is under 1 

consultation, and it is -- We are hoping that the 2 

consultation will end soon.  It is going through the 3 

process of being finalized. 4 

   MR. HARGUN:   And what does that Code of 5 

Practice for Project Management seek to achieve?  It’s 6 

directed to whom? 7 

   DR. BINNS:   It will be guidance for the 8 

Public Service with regard to procurement and project 9 

management.  10 

   MR. HARGUN:   I have no further questions at 11 

this stage. 12 

   MR BARRITT:   Dr. Binns, I want to share a 13 

statement with you and from your years of experience in the 14 

Civil Service and now as Cabinet Secretary to see whether 15 

you agree or disagree on what you think generally.  16 

Financial Instructions are a policy document.  They are 17 

neither law nor regulations.  Therefore, instances of non-18 

compliance for the process or procedural guidance contained 19 

in the Financial Instructions in and of themselves are not 20 

legal infractions.  It is important to understand the 21 

difference between policy laws so that instances of non-22 

compliance with the Financial Instructions are viewed in 23 

the appropriate context.  Do you agree or disagree with 24 

that? 25 
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   DR. BINNS:   I believe that is a fair 1 

statement. 2 

   MR BARRITT:   So how is one to regard 3 

breaches of Financial Instructions? 4 

   DR. BINNS:   Breaches of the Financial 5 

Instructions are reported to the Accountant General who 6 

then also reports to the Financial Secretary, and a 7 

decision is then taken whether or not disciplinary charges 8 

need to be imposed based on their analysis of the breach. 9 

   MR BARRITT:   Okay.  And they will back it 10 

up.  How should civil servants regard Financial 11 

Instructions?  Should they treat them as something to be 12 

taken seriously, or just simply guidelines to be followed 13 

or not? 14 

   DR. BINNS:   Taken seriously.   15 

   MR BARRITT:   And to follow them? 16 

   DR. BINNS:   And to follow them. 17 

   MR BARRITT:   So breaches are serious? 18 

   DR. BINNS:   Yes.  19 

   MR BARRITT:   And then they’re dealt with 20 

how?  Can you explain the process?  What happens to someone 21 

who actually breached Financial Instructions? 22 

   DR. BINNS:   The Accountant General in 23 

consultation with the Financial Secretary would determine 24 

what the consequence, if any, should be to the breach that 25 
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has been reported.   1 

   MR BARRITT:   Are you aware in all your time 2 

whether there have ever been any reported breaches that 3 

have resulted in any action? 4 

   DR. BINNS:   I’m not aware, and I’m probably 5 

not aware because this is not something that would 6 

generally be reported outside of the disciplinary process.  7 

In my time as Cabinet Secretary I have been aware of 8 

breaches that have been reported, and am aware of one or 9 

two consequences, but I cannot specific what they are.  I 10 

do not know.  11 

   MR BARRITT:   If I may, there is another 12 

point I’d like to take up.  It deals with this 13 

responsibility of civil servants and how far they can go in 14 

the process.  One of the things that caught my attention 15 

was in the, believe it or not, the Ministerial Code of 16 

Conduct dated April 2002, which I believe was the Code of 17 

Conduct in force up until 2013 a new one was introduced 18 

under the current government.  19 

           MR BINNS:   Probably 2014/15 Acts.   20 

    MR BARRITT:  I’d like to share this with you 21 

if I may.  Actually, you can find it in that, Binder A, tab 22 

Ten, and it is page 15.  I would like to read so we all get 23 

a sense of what it says to see whether you agree or 24 

disagree.   25 
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       It says in 12.2, “Heads of Departments serve 1 

as accounting officers for their Departments.  The essence 2 

of that role is a personal responsibility for the propriety 3 

and regularity of the public finances for which he is 4 

responsible, for maintaining proper accounts, for the 5 

avoidance of waste and extravagance, and for the efficient 6 

and effective use of resources.  Accounting officers answer 7 

personally to the Public Accounts Committee, the Standing 8 

Committee of the Legislature within the framework of the 9 

Ministerial accountability to Parliament for the policies, 10 

actions and conduct of their Departments.”  Is that the way 11 

it is? 12 

   DR. BINNS:   Yes. 13 

   MR BARRITT:   Okay.  12.3 is the one I would 14 

now like to read.  “Accounting officers have a particular 15 

responsibility to see that appropriate advice is given to 16 

Ministers on all matters of financial propriety and 17 

regularity.  If a Minister in charge of a Department is 18 

contemplating a course of action which involves a 19 

transaction which the accounting officer considers would 20 

breach the requirements of propriety and regularity, he 21 

will record in writing his objection to the proposal and 22 

the reasons for that objection.  If the advice is 23 

overruled, the matter should be brought to the attention of 24 

the Auditor General.  If the Ministry decides nonetheless 25 
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to proceed, the accounting officer will request a written 1 

instruction to take the action in question, and will send 2 

the relevant documentation to the Auditor General.  A 3 

similar procedure will apply with respect to the Public 4 

Accounts Committee if the accounting officer wants to 5 

ensure that the Committee will not hold him personally 6 

accountable for the actions being taken.”  Up until the new 7 

Ministerial Code of Conduct, did you understand that to be 8 

the position? 9 

   DR. BINNS:   I think it’s important to note 10 

that this is the Ministerial Code of Conduct and the Public 11 

Service tends to refer to the Conditions of Employment & 12 

Code of Conduct, its Code of Conduct and Financial 13 

Instructions.  It would not be common for a public officer 14 

to refer to and be guided heavily by the Ministerial Code 15 

of Conduct as they are by the other two documents that I 16 

refer to. 17 

   MR BARRITT:  Yes. I noticed that too because 18 

I tried to scan the Code of Conduct and Conditions of 19 

Employment, and I didn’t see anything to that effect there.  20 

Would you agree with that, that there’s a real gap? 21 

   DR. BINNS:   I would agree that 12.3 has a 22 

Ministerial Code of Conduct in 2002.  It is not reflected 23 

in the, to my knowledge, in the Code of Conduct --  24 

   MR BARRITT:   Only Ministers knew what 25 
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public servants were supposed to do.  Public servants 1 

didn’t know what they were supposed to do. 2 

   DR. BINNS:   With regard to this Act. 3 

   MR BARRITT:   Yeah, it’s an important item, 4 

I would venture to suggest and I know I’ve only reviewed 5 

these things once or twice and you were involved in the, I 6 

think would have been involved –- You can tell me whether 7 

that’s the case after -- with the drafting of the new 8 

Ministerial Code of Conduct.  9 

   DR. BINNS:   Correct. 10 

   MR BARRITT:  And I notice that those two 11 

provisions were dropped.  Were you aware of that? 12 

   DR. BINNS:   No, sir.  13 

   MR BARRITT:   Who had a hand in redrafting 14 

the new Ministerial Code? 15 

   DR. BINNS:   Well, the Ministerial Code of 16 

Conduct that is the responsibility of Cabinet.  We would 17 

have been asked to give some feedback and advice, and we 18 

would have done that.  But my attention was not drawn to 19 

the fact that 12.3 as it existed in 2002 was no longer in 20 

the version of 2014 and ’15. 21 

   MR BARRITT:   So you have no idea why it was 22 

dropped? 23 

   DR. BINNS:   That is correct. 24 

   MR BARRITT:   A Minister wrote the new 25 
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Ministerial Code of Conduct? 1 

   DR. BINNS:   Obviously a Minister wrote it, 2 

but the Cabinet would have given guidance as to what they 3 

were -- 4 

   MR BARRITT:  Do you know who wrote it? 5 

If we wanted to ask that person a question?  6 

   DR. BINNS:  I believe it probably wasn’t 7 

written.  I believe the 2002 document would have been 8 

reviewed, would have been redlined, and amendments would 9 

have been recommended and suggested.  There would have been 10 

itteration, and a final product would have been produced. 11 

   MR BARRITT:   But who, at the end of all 12 

that, would be responsible for the document? 13 

   DR. BINNS:   Ultimately the responsibility 14 

for the Ministerial Code of Conduct rests with Cabinet. 15 

   MR BARRITT:   But they are 13 people.  16 

Surely somebody takes responsibility. 17 

   DR. BINNS:   Cabinet has collective 18 

responsibility, and it’s important to recognize that 19 

collective responsibility means that you cannot separate 20 

one Minister out from others and say this one had the 21 

responsibility.  It’s a collective responsibility. 22 

   MR BARRITT:  So we’d have to ask the 23 

Cabinet, all 13 of them, to come in and say why were these 24 

two provisions dropped? 25 
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   DR. BINNS:  If that is your desire, I would 1 

suggest you would have to direct your questions to them. 2 

   MR BARRITT:  Okay.  I don’t want to get 3 

argumentative, I just want to clarify that so I can 4 

understand.  Would you say that those two provisions, 12.2 5 

and 12.3 are important provisions, and ones that ought to 6 

be promulgated today, and all civil servants aware of, so 7 

that they know what options are open to them? 8 

   DR. BINNS:   I would have a challenge at 9 

12.3 because, as I indicated earlier, it the Minister’s 10 

responsibility to make a decision.  It is our 11 

responsibility to give the best advice and guidance on what 12 

the Minister intends to do.  But once a Minister makes a 13 

decision, it’s not for us to say, well, I think you’re 14 

wrong and I’m going to tell the Auditor General.  It’s for 15 

us to implement the decision having given the best advice 16 

possible. 17 

   MR BARRITT:   I hear you.  Let me just say, 18 

and please, I don’t want anyone to take this the wrong way, 19 

but supposing there was something that you suspected that 20 

on its face defied logic, defied common sense, and indeed 21 

given all that the Auditor General had been saying, or the 22 

Auditor General says from time to time, the need to follow 23 

closely the procedures and policies because it creates the 24 

opportunity for fraud.  Shouldn’t there be something in 25 
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there for civil servants so that they can take action and 1 

know --  2 

   DR. BINNS:  Yes.  3 

   MR BARRITT:  -- know that there’s no 4 

penalty, no punishment going to come as a result of that? 5 

   DR. BINNS:   Yes. 6 

   MR BARRITT:  So that it’s part of the 7 

culture? 8 

   DR. BINNS:   Yes.  The, I think, the most 9 

direct, the most effective way for that to occur, and this 10 

is what happens is for the officer who is concerned to 11 

bring the issue to the attention of… Make out a report and, 12 

ultimately, that issue will get to the Cabinet Secretary 13 

who will discuss the matter either directly with the 14 

Minister involved or discuss it with the Premier either 15 

together or separately.  But I believe that the way to 16 

resolve such issues is to the Office of the Cabinet 17 

Secretary.   18 

   MR BARRITT:   Is there anything written to 19 

that effect that you can point to that tells --   20 

   DR. BINNS:   It probably isn’t written. 21 

   MR BARRITT:   Shouldn’t it be written do you 22 

think? 23 

   DR. BINNS:   I don’t see any harm in 24 

something like that being codified. 25 
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   MS. LUCK:( approx.. 04:27:37  Note:  For 1 

some reason this didn’t record very well – perhaps the mic 2 

had been covered.  Also, there was a lot of external noise 3 

– opening and closing the binder rings.)    4 

            I would just like to ask some questions 5 

around the self-reporting of breaches of Financial 6 

Instructions.  So obviously the processes (indiscernible 7 

04:27:45) section 2.14 is if you become aware or 8 

(indiscernible 04:27:48) in terms of how you report it.   9 

          I come from a commercial background and in 10 

that commercial background when you have policies, rules 11 

and regulations there’s a process where that will be 12 

checked and (indiscernible 04:28:05) internal audit process 13 

and then the external audit process.  14 

           In the commercial world both of those 15 

people, the external auditor and the internal auditor 16 

report to somebody who’s not part of management, not part 17 

of running the business.  They report to non-executive 18 

directors, usually they are the chairman of the audit 19 

committee. How does it work within the private sector in 20 

terms of people checking the self-reporting process because 21 

change behaviors and (Indiscernible 04:28:38) people take 22 

them seriously and leads to consequences where there have 23 

been breaches and while I understand there are functions.  24 

part of it is knowing that somebody is going to check 25 



COMMISSION OF INQUIRY, SEPTEMBER 29, 2016                                                                                            FINAL UNEDITED TRANSCRIPT 

 193 

whether you follow through or not.  Can you just give us 1 

some background a little bit more? 2 

   DR. BINNS:   Certainly.  A couple of things.  3 

We, too, have an external auditor, the Auditor General.  4 

We, too, have an internal auditor.  The internal auditor, 5 

although internal on the part of the Governmental 6 

structure, really functions very much independently and 7 

reports through an Internal Audit Committee.  That Internal 8 

Audit Committee is comprised of the Cabinet Secretary, the 9 

Assistant Cabinet Secretary - which is now changed, 10 

Permanent Secretaries, and two members from the Audit 11 

Profession Externally.   12 

    The internal auditor is given free rein to 13 

develop the audit plan on their own, with input from the 14 

Internal Audit Committee, and they set about doing their 15 

work.  The structure is such that when the Internal Auditor 16 

writes to a Department and says, I’m coming in to have a 17 

look, full cooperation is expected and given.  The Internal 18 

Auditor then produces a report, makes recommendations. 19 

There is an interaction between the Department head and the 20 

Internal Auditor, ultimately the report is finalized, the 21 

report is given to the Director, and the expectation is 22 

that the Director will implement the changes recommended in 23 

the report. 24 

   The report is also given to the Internal 25 
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Audit Committee, and that Committee then, through the 1 

Cabinet Office, reviews progress on the reports, and the 2 

Cabinet Office ensures that the work is done.  The culture 3 

in many ways has changed significantly such that much more 4 

attention is given to the importance of the work of the 5 

Internal Auditor.  Much more attention is now given to the 6 

importance of reporting breaches of Financial Instructions, 7 

and the regime of reporting and the regime of the 8 

Accountant General sharing those reports to the Financial 9 

Secretary, and we have now added in sharing also with the 10 

Cabinet Secretary.  It’s much more firmly instituted.  11 

   The Civil Service executive, the group of 12 

Permanent Secretaries that meet weekly chaired by the 13 

Cabinet Secretary have and (indiscernible 04:30:57) 14 

position have added on as a standing item of our agenda for 15 

Financial Instructions.  We have made a determination that 16 

we want to ensure that persons who have responsibility for 17 

Financial Instructions understand what they are, so we’re 18 

implementing as a requirement that every Department must 19 

provide training to their staff regarding Financial 20 

Instructions.  That training is to be monitored by the 21 

Department of Human Resources to ensure that the work is 22 

actually carried out.  It will ongoing work.  So the 23 

attitude, the culture, and the means to monitor and deliver 24 

compliance with Financial Instructions has changed 25 
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significantly. 1 

   MS. LUCK:  So this new training program, how 2 

recent is that? 3 

   DR. BINNS:   It’s still under development.  4 

We’re now working with the controllers to resolve some 5 

questions that they had about how it will become adopted, 6 

who is responsible, who is liable.  Those issues we are 7 

still working out, but the decision to do so has been taken 8 

by the Civil Service executive and that’s the direction in 9 

which we are moving.  10 

   MS. LUCK:   So even though there were lots 11 

and lots of issues concerning the Financial Instructions in 12 

the past, with the External Auditor and the Auditor 13 

General, this the first time you’ve really had these focus 14 

training modules put together? 15 

   DR. BINNS:   Well, I cannot say that it’s 16 

the first time, but I can say that we understand the issues 17 

and we have made a concerted effort to change the culture 18 

and the regime.   19 

   MS. LUCK:   Could I just ask one -- the 20 

Office of Procurement and Management -- who does that 21 

report to? 22 

   DR. BINNS:   The Permanent Secretary for the 23 

Cabinet Office.  24 

   MS. LUCK:  I see. 25 
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   VOICE:     Which is you? 1 

   DR. BINNS:  No, actually.  The Deputy Head 2 

of the Civil Service, (indiscernible) the Permanent 3 

Secretary of the Cabinet office. 4 

   CHAIRMAN:   I just need to ask you a 5 

question about the Office Procurement Management and so on.   6 

You told us - or went to great length - what happened in 7 

the Dame Lois Brown Building contract.  Recommendation from 8 

the technical officers and the Minister takes a different 9 

view.  Suppose the office, of Director, had existed at that 10 

time, would that help? 11 

   DR. BINNS:   Ultimately, the Minister still 12 

has the responsibility to make his decision, and so even if 13 

the office had existed and had opined and indicated that 14 

the contract recommendation was solid, that work really 15 

carries through to the creation of the contract award 16 

recommendation.  At that point it becomes a recommendation 17 

and a matter for the Minister to decide.  So the Office & 18 

Management & Procurement is not opining on the Minister’s 19 

decision or his rationale for his decision.  They are 20 

looking to see that the process used before the Minister is 21 

given a recommendation follows all necessary procedures.  22 

So it would not have made a difference with regard to the 23 

Minister being able to make his decision. 24 

   CHAIRMAN:   In other words it wouldn’t have 25 
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had any effect in that case? 1 

   DR. BINNS:   At that stage, in this 2 

instance.  Again, the work of the Office is to ensure that 3 

the procedures leading up to the recommendations to the 4 

Minister are sound.   5 

   CHAIRMAN:  Because you had said in your 6 

earlier answers that the way the Director works is that the 7 

Director would receive the recommendation, and then 8 

consider it and give an opinion. 9 

   DR. BINNS:  Correct.  10 

   CHAIRMAN:   That’s why I wondered re the 11 

Dame Lois Browne Building, they would have got the same 12 

recommendation. 13 

   DR. BINNS:   There would have received the 14 

recommendation that said Apex was the preferred contractor. 15 

They would have received that, they would have reviewed the 16 

process we used to come to that conclusion, and they would 17 

have given their view on that process.  That then would be 18 

given to the Minister.  The difference would have been that 19 

the Minister would have received a note that indicated that 20 

O.P.M.P had reviewed the tender process and was satisfied 21 

that all correct procedures were followed.  So the Minister 22 

would have taken that into consideration when he looked at 23 

the recommendation from the technical officers.  24 

   CHAIRMAN:  It’s in what you told us about 25 



COMMISSION OF INQUIRY, SEPTEMBER 29, 2016                                                                                            FINAL UNEDITED TRANSCRIPT 

 198 

the Dame Lois Browne Building, correct the procedures were 1 

followed? 2 

   DR. BINNS:  In terms of the analysis of the 3 

bid they were followed.  The only difference was that the 4 

Minister made a choice to make a recommendation to his 5 

colleagues that was not the same as that recommended by the 6 

technical officers but the procedure leading up to that 7 

there was no issue with that at all. 8 

   CHAIRMAN:  If the Minister is deciding not 9 

to accept the recommendation, he makes a different 10 

recommendation? 11 

   DR. BINNS:   Correct.   12 

   CHAIRMAN:   And that’s the recommendation 13 

that goes to the Director of Procurement? 14 

   DR. BINNS:   No.  The Minister’s 15 

recommendation is what goes to Cabinet.  It’s the 16 

recommendation of the technical officers that is reviewed 17 

by the Office of Project Management and Procurement.  They 18 

then indicate in writing whether or not they believe that 19 

the correct procedures have been followed.   20 

    The Minister -- If that office had existed 21 

at that time, what would have happened is, the contract 22 

award recommendation prepared by the technical officers 23 

would have been given to the Minister, along with a sign- 24 

off by the office of O.P.M.P. that the procedure that he 25 
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had been viewing had followed all the correct procedures.  1 

Once that is done, what goes to Cabinet would be what the 2 

Minister chooses to take to Cabinet. 3 

   CHAIRMAN:   So unless there was a 4 

requirement to disclose to the Cabinet what happened, the 5 

existence of the Office wouldn’t make any difference at 6 

all? 7 

   DR. BINNS:   In this instance; correct.  8 

Their work is really reviewing the work of the public 9 

officers, not reviewing the decision of the Minister.  10 

   CHAIRMAN:  Assuming that it was undesirable 11 

that the Minister should be able to override…    12 

   DR. BINNS:   I’m sorry, I missed the first 13 

part of that. 14 

   CHAIRMAN:   Assuming that it was undesirable 15 

that the Minister should simply overrule the recommendation 16 

for reasons never explained to you and best known to 17 

himself, how ought the present, the new Office, the 18 

Director, how ought that to be introduced into the system 19 

to prevent that happening again? 20 

   DR. BINNS:   That’s a matter for you.  If 21 

you believe that that should be introduced, you would make 22 

that recommendation.  23 

   MR BRADSHAW:   We look at suggestions as 24 

well?  I think it’s quite clear that there have been some 25 
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challenges arisen.  Since you’re in this position 1 

(indiscernible 04:37:32) we’d appreciate positive input 2 

that you can give us around improving (indiscernible 3 

04:37:42) 4 

   DR. BINNS:   I think it’s very important to 5 

enable a Minister to make a Ministerial decision.  I do not 6 

think it will be wise to encourage the Office of Project 7 

Management and Procurement to be able to override or give 8 

do anything to the Ministerial decision.  It is the 9 

Ministers who are elected by the population in a democratic 10 

election to make decisions on behalf of the population.  11 

The civil servants are not elected to do that.  Our role is 12 

to assist the Ministers in making their determinations.  So 13 

it’s the role of the O.P.M.P. for example, to ensure that 14 

the processes are correctly followed, that the Government’s 15 

best interests are covered, and that valuable money has 16 

been obtained.  Once that recommendation has been presented 17 

to the Minister, they have an obligation and a 18 

responsibility to make the decision.  But they also have an 19 

obligation and responsibility to be able to explain their 20 

decision.  That happens on the floor of the House of 21 

Assembly when they are challenged. 22 

   MR BARRITT:   Can I just jump in here?  Back 23 

in the day, I always understood for instance, that when a 24 

Paper went to Cabinet that involved expenditure of money, 25 
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particularly in a capital project, it had always been to 1 

the Ministry of Finance first so that there would be a line 2 

on that Paper that said the Ministry of Finance has been 3 

consulted and approves this recommendation.  Might that be 4 

the way to proceed with respect to the Office of the… ? 5 

   DR. BINNS:  Absolutely not.  Because of 6 

collective responsibility, no one Minister has veto power.  7 

We have a collective form of Government -- a collective 8 

responsibility for Cabinet Government.  If you give one 9 

Minister approval you might as well have one Minister of 10 

Cabinet.  It’s collective, and so I would not support that 11 

at all.  And I don’t think our Government/Governance really 12 

reflects that.  The line that is on the Cabinet Paper is 13 

that the Minister of Finance has been consulted and has no 14 

objections to the proposal. 15 

   MR BARRITT:   That’s an elegant way to put 16 

it. What happens if the Minister of Finance has an 17 

objection? 18 

   DR. BINNS:  He has a fight at the table!   19 

   MR BARRITT:   What gets recorded in the 20 

Cabinet Memoranda? 21 

   DR. BINNS:  The decision of the Cabinet. 22 

   COMMISSIONER:  No, no.  In the Cabinet 23 

Memorandum to Cabinet, does it say the Minister of Finance 24 

has been consulted and objects, or that the Ministry of 25 
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Finance has been consulted, full stop.  1 

   DR. BINNS:  The Minister can indicate on the 2 

Paper that he has objections. 3 

   MR BARRITT:   Okay, good.  So I would 4 

suggest -- I was going to lead on to this suggestion that 5 

perhaps if the Office of Procurement and Project Management 6 

has been instituted and you suggested that you won’t accept 7 

a Paper unless it says that Office has been -- 8 

   DR. BINNS:   In the appropriate 9 

circumstances.  10 

   MR BARRITT:   -- has been consulted.  Of 11 

course in the appropriate circumstances.  Might not they 12 

indicate in there whether or not they support the 13 

recommendation in the Cabinet Memorandum? 14 

   DR. BINNS:  It is not for them to say it 15 

should go to person A or person B.  It’s for them to 16 

indicate whether or not the correct procedure has been 17 

followed.  If they believe that there have been errors in 18 

the process, they will put that in writing. For example, 19 

I’m creating the example.  If the contract should have been 20 

tendered and it was not tendered, they would put it in 21 

writing.  We cannot support this tender recommendation 22 

because the contract according to Financial Instructions 23 

would have been tendered and it was not. And they will 24 

quote the reference of Financial Instructions.  25 
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   COMMISSIONER:  And that would be in the 1 

Memorandum? 2 

   DR. BINNS:   That would be in their note 3 

back to the Department Head, and the Cabinet Paper should 4 

not even be concluded and sent around until all issues have 5 

been resolved.  The point of the consultation on Cabinet 6 

Memoranda is to ensure that all those issues are addressed.  7 

By the time Cabinet gets to decide, they can be satisfied 8 

that they didn’t have to work out for themselves what 9 

issues exist. 10 

   MR BARRITT:   Just for the record, when you 11 

talk about no one Minister should control what Cabinet 12 

does, I think if you’d look at the Bermuda Constitution 13 

Order, the person who is charged with Ministerial 14 

responsibility for finance does have an overriding duty 15 

because (no monies can issue ?) except under the warrant of 16 

the Minister of Finance. 17 

   DR. BINNS:  And the warrant comes through 18 

the process of agreeing a budget.  We’re now talking about 19 

making decisions.  Once a project has been approved of 20 

actual expending funds, but the authority to expend has 21 

been signed on by the warrant of the Minister of Finance.  22 

That happens at the budget debate.   23 

   CHAIRMAN:  I just have one more question and 24 

it’s related to that.  I got the impression that if there 25 
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was a dissatisfied, a (disaffective ?) individual civil 1 

servant you would expect that complaint to come through to 2 

you as Head of the Cabinet Office. 3 

   DR. BINNS:   My expectation is that the 4 

public officer would raise the issue and I would expect 5 

actually that it would be resolved before it gets to me.  6 

But should there be a problem that involves a Minister and 7 

it’s not resolved say at the Permanent Secretary’s level 8 

then it would come to me.  9 

   CHAIRMAN:  And you also said, just to repeat 10 

it, that there is no single Minister with the 11 

responsibility for the Cabinet Office? 12 

   DR. BINNS:  No, I don’t recall saying that 13 

at all.   14 

   CHAIRMAN:  Maybe I did misunderstand.  I was 15 

going to suggest in the United Kingdom I think – well there 16 

is a Minister with responsibility for the Cabinet? 17 

   DR. BINNS:   In our case, it’s the Premier. 18 

   CHAIRMAN:   The Premier. 19 

   DR. BINNS:   The Premier has responsibility 20 

for the Cabinet Office as Minister. 21 

   CHAIRMAN:   In which case, if you have a 22 

situation where a civil servant is disaffected and there 23 

has been a decision which may or may not have complied with 24 

the rules, why isn’t that the individual responsibility of 25 
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the Premier in his capacity (indiscernible 04:43:41) civil 1 

servant? 2 

   DR. BINNS:   Because the Ministers do not 3 

have responsibility for the management and conduct of the 4 

Public Service.  That falls to the Public Service 5 

Commission and Permanent Secretary. 6 

   CHAIRMAN:   So nobody is responsible for the 7 

overall conduct of the Civil Services?   8 

   DR. BINNS:   Not in terms of appointment or 9 

terms of discipline, but in terms of having Ministerial 10 

responsibility for the portfolio of the Cabinet Office that 11 

responsibility, that portfolio, falls to the Premier.  In 12 

terms of accounting for the work and the business of the 13 

Cabinet portfolio in the House of Assembly, that is the 14 

Premier.  In responding to any questions of the media for 15 

problems that fall under the Cabinet Office Ministry, the 16 

Minister responsible is the Premier. 17 

   But the responsibility for the Public 18 

Service is vested in the Public Service Commission.  There 19 

is a very clear distinction between the independence of the 20 

Public Service and Ministerial and the political 21 

appointments.  22 

   CHAIRMAN: I’m just going to end.  Let me say 23 

this first.  We began to talk, asking questions about the 24 

future and the course an important part of our role is to 25 
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make recommendations for the future.  It seems to me we 1 

obviously can’t take that very much further today but we 2 

may well want to come back to you if we may, and ask your 3 

view on any proposals we make. 4 

   DR. BINNS:  I would be very happy to give my 5 

views on suggestions for the future. 6 

   CHAIRMAN:  To that extent I don’t think 7 

we’ll be concluding your evidence this afternoon.   8 

   MR BARRITT:  I just want to square the 9 

circle and to complete it.  Then to whom are you 10 

accountable and to whom do you report on a regular basis? 11 

   DR. BINNS:   I report on a regular basis to 12 

the Public Services Commission. 13 

   MR BARRITT:  How often does that happen? 14 

   DR. BINNS:   We meet at least quarterly. 15 

   MR BARRITT:   Once a quarter? 16 

   DR. BINNS:   Once a quarter; right.  If I 17 

have a need to meet with him prior I can do so.  If they 18 

ever need to meet with me prior, they do so.  But we have 19 

established that I will meet with them at least every 20 

quarter. 21 

   CHAIRMAN:  I just want to sum up a little 22 

bit of what we’ve been doing.  I’m not going to say this is 23 

necessarily what happened in the Dame Lois Browne Building 24 

case, but let’s assume there is a case where there is a    25 
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clear technical recommendation, there is a Minister who for 1 

his own reasons wants to make a different recommendation. 2 

His Permanent Secretary discharges his duty as I’m sure you 3 

did, and saying, Well, Minister, it’s your decision, you 4 

must make that recommendation.  What is there now… There 5 

was no safeguard then against that happening, what’s the 6 

safeguard now?   7 

   DR. BINNS:   The responsibility for Cabinet 8 

rests with the Premier.  I can’t speak to what the Premier 9 

might have implemented, if anything, with regard to this 10 

issue.  If you asked me what might work or what could be 11 

recommended, I think there is perhaps some merit to looking 12 

at the Ministerial Code of Conduct and perhaps enshrining 13 

in that document some means to ensure that the Cabinet is 14 

given full information by its members when asked to make 15 

decisions. 16 

   CHAIRMAN:  Could we, so to speak, shortcut 17 

that by recommending that, as I suggested earlier, that it 18 

should be the duty of the Cabinet Minister to put the 19 

technical recommendations before Cabinet and if his own 20 

recommendation is different he can then explain it to them. 21 

   DR. BINNS:  On the basis of providing full 22 

information so that persons can be fully informed before 23 

making a decision and on the basis of being able to stand 24 

behind any decision that you want to make I see no harm in 25 
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that. 1 

   CHAIRMAN:   Not only that, it might do a lot 2 

of good, mightn’t it and you don’t see any practical 3 

disadvantages? 4 

   DR. BINNS:   I do not.   5 

   CHAIRMAN:   Good.  Thank you.  Mr. Hargun, 6 

have you got any questions arising at this time? 7 

   MR. HARGUN:   Nothing further, Mr. Chairman. 8 

   CHAIRMAN:   In which case and subject to the 9 

point I made, we may well -- I’m sure we will -- come back 10 

to discuss future matters, that concludes our evidence.  11 

Thank you very much. 12 

   DR. BINNS:   Thank you very much.  13 

   CHAIRMAN:   And that concludes the day.  Are 14 

we satisfied that tomorrow won’t be overloaded?  15 

[Discussion follows re next day scheduling] 16 

End of day’s proceedings 17 

    18 

 19 

 20 

 21 

 22 

MR. HARGUN:   Certainly, Mr. Telemaque will be here.  23 

(indiscernible 04:48:41). 24 

   CHAIRMAN:   We’ll start with Mr. Manders, 25 
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then go to Mr.  I Telemaque 1 

   MR. HARGUN:  I think we’re working on the 2 

basis that we will have certainly Mr. Telemaque, who will 3 

be a reasonably substantial witness who will take most of 4 

the morning, I should think.  We have one -- Mr. Manders is 5 

a short witness to begin with, and if necessary, if we need 6 

to get back up we will have Ms. Whitter in the afternoon if 7 

required. 8 

   CHAIRMAN:   Who will that be? 9 

   MR. HARGUN:  That would be Ms. Whitter. 10 

   CHAIRMAN:   Indiscernible 06 50:25.0. 11 

   MS. MEMARI:   She is on notice.  She is on 12 

notice. 13 

   CHAIRMAN:   Indiscernible 06 50:33.4? 14 

   MS. MEMARI:   Yes. 15 

   MR. HARGUN:   Yes. 16 

   CHAIRMAN:   Indiscernible 06 50:36.6.  We’ll 17 

start with Mr. Manders.  Indiscernible 06 50:41.6.   18 

   MR. HARGUN:  No, no.   It is Mr. Manders 19 

first.   20 

   CHAIRMAN:  Start with Manders?  21 

   MR. HARGUN:   Uh-huh. 22 

   CHAIRMAN:   Indiscernible 06 50:49.3.  23 

   MS. MEMARI:   Our arrangement is that she 24 

will make herself available for 2:00 if she’s required. 25 
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   MR. HARGUN:   If required. 1 

   CHAIRMAN:     And you spoke with her? 2 

   MS. MEMARI:   Yes. 3 

 4 

 5 

   6 

 7 

 8 

 9 

 10 

 11 

 12 

 13 

 14 

 15 

 16 

 17 

 18 

 19 

 20 

 21 

 22 

 23 

 24 

 25 
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